
 

 
Cambridge City Council 

 

 

 
 

 
i 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

To:   Scrutiny Sub Committee Members: Councillors Reid (Chair), Saunders 
(Vice-Chair), Blencowe, Price, Marchant-Daisley and Tucker 
 
Alternates : Councillors Herbert and Stuart 
 
Executive Councillor for Planning and Climate Change: Councillor Ward  
 
 
 

Despatched: Friday, 15 March 2013 

  

Date: Monday, 25 March 2013 

Time: 4.30 pm 

Venue: Committee Room 1 & 2 - Guildhall 

Contact:  Toni Birkin Direct Dial:  01223 457013 
 

AGENDA 

1    APOLOGIES   
 

 To receive any apologies for absence.   

2    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 

 Members are asked to declare at this stage any interests, which they may 
have in any of the following items on the agenda. If any member is unsure 
whether or not they should declare an interest on a particular matter, they 
are requested to seek advice from the Head of Legal Services before the 
meeting. 
   

3    MINUTES  (Pages 1 - 14) 
 

 To approve the minutes of the meetings of 29th January 2013 and 19th 
February 2013. (Pages 1 - 14) 

4   PUBLIC QUESTIONS (SEE BELOW)   

Public Document Pack



 
ii 

5   CAMBRIDGE LOCAL PLAN -TOWARDS 2031 - DRAFT POLICIES AND 
CHAPTERS Planning Policy Manager (Pages 15 - 142) 



 
iii 

 
 

Information for the Public 
 

 
 

Location 
 
 
 
 

The meeting is in the Guildhall on the Market Square 
(CB2 3QJ).  
 
Between 9 a.m. and 5 p.m. the building is accessible 
via Peas Hill, Guildhall Street and the Market Square 
entrances. 
 
After 5 p.m. access is via the Peas Hill entrance. 
 
All the meeting rooms (Committee Room 1, 
Committee 2 and the Council Chamber) are on the 
first floor, and are accessible via lifts or stairs.  
 

 
 
 

Public 
Participation 

Some meetings may have parts that will be closed to 
the public, but the reasons for excluding the press 
and public will be given.  
 
Most meetings have an opportunity for members of 
the public to ask questions or make statements.  
 
To ask a question or make a statement please notify 
the Committee Manager (details listed on the front of 
the agenda) prior to the deadline.  
 

• For questions and/or statements regarding 
items on the published agenda, the deadline is 
the start of the meeting. 

 

• For questions and/or statements regarding 
items NOT on the published agenda, the 
deadline is 10 a.m. the day before the meeting.  

 
 
Speaking on Planning Applications or Licensing 
Hearings is subject to other rules. Guidance for 
speaking on these issues can be obtained from 
Democratic Services on 01223 457013 or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk.  
 
Further information about speaking at a City Council 

 



 
iv 

meeting can be found at; 
 
https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/speaking-at-
committee-meetings  
 
Cambridge City Council would value your assistance 
in improving the public speaking process of 
committee meetings. If you any have any feedback 
please contact Democratic Services on 01223 457013 
or democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk. 
 
 

Filming, 
recording 
and 
photography 

The Council is committed to being open and 
transparent in the way it conducts its decision-making.  
Recording is permitted at council meetings, which are 
open to the public. The Council understands that 
some members of the public attending its meetings 
may not wish to be recorded. The Chair of the 
meeting will facilitate by ensuring that any such 
request not to be recorded is respected by those 
doing the recording.  
 
Full details of the City Council’s protocol on 
audio/visual recording and photography at meetings 
can be accessed via: 
 
http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx
?NAME=SD1057&ID=1057&RPID=42096147&sch=d
oc&cat=13203&path=13020%2c13203  
 

 

Fire Alarm In the event of the fire alarm sounding please follow 
the instructions of Cambridge City Council staff.  
 

 

Facilities for 
disabled 
people 

Level access to the Guildhall is via Peas Hill. 
 
A loop system is available in Committee Room 1, 
Committee Room 2 and the Council Chamber.  
 
Accessible toilets are available on the ground and first 
floor. 
 
Meeting papers are available in large print and other 
formats on request prior to the meeting. 
 
For further assistance please contact Democratic 

 



 
v 

Services on 01223 457013 or 
democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk. 
 

Queries on 
reports 

If you have a question or query regarding a committee 
report please contact the officer listed at the end of 
relevant report or Democratic Services on 01223 
457013 or democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk. 
 
 

 

General 
Information 

Information regarding committees, councilors and the 
democratic process is available at 
http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/  
 
 

 

 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Development Plan Scrutiny Sub-Committee DPSSC/1
 Tuesday, 29 January 2013 

 

 
 
 

1 

DEVELOPMENT PLAN SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 29 January 2013 
 3.00  - 4.45 pm 
 
Present:  Councillors Saunders (Vice-Chair), Blencowe, Price and Tucker 
 
Executive Councillor for Planning and Climate Change: Councillor Ward  
 
Officers present: 
Head of Planning Services – Patsy Dell 
Planning Policy Manager – Andrew Lainton 
Senior Planning Policy Officer – Joanna Gilbert-Wooldridge 
Principal Planning Policy Officer - Myles Greensmith  
Planning Policy and Transport Officer – Matthew Bowles 
Senior Sustainability Officer - Emma Davies 
Senior Planning Policy Officer - Bruce Waller 
Committee Manager – Toni Birkin 
 
Also Present: Councillor Hipkin 
 
 
 

FOR THE INFORMATION OF THE COUNCIL 

 

13/1/DPSSC Apologies 
 
Apologies were received from Councillor Marchant-Daisley and Councillor 
Reid. It was noted that the alternates, Councillor Herbert and Councillor Stuart, 
were unable to attend.  Councillor Saunders took the Chair.  
 

13/2/DPSSC Declarations of Interest 
 
 

Councillor Saunders  13/5/DPSSC 
 

Member of 
Cambridge Past, 
Present and Future 

Councillor Saunders 13/5/DPSSC 
 

Member of 
Cambridge Cycling 
Campaign  

  

Agenda Item 3

Page 1



Development Plan Scrutiny Sub-CommitteeDPSSC/2 Tuesday, 29 January 2013 

 

 
 
 

2 

  
  
 

13/3/DPSSC Suggested changes to meeting dates 
 
A document outlining proposed changes to meeting dates was tabled. 
Members were asked to consider the dates and discussion any difficulties with 
Group Leaders.  
 

13/4/DPSSC Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the meeting of the 13th November 2012, 6th 
November 2013 and 13th December 2012, were approved and signed as 
correct records. 
 

13/5/DPSSC Public Questions 
 
There were no questions.  
 

13/6/DPSSC Cambridge Local Plan - Towards 2031 – Airport Safety, 
Higher and Further Education, Tourism, Open Space and Community 
Facilities, Transport and Infrastructure 
 
Matter for Decision:   
The Local Plan is a key document for Cambridge, and the review of the current 
Local Plan is currently underway. Following on from consultation on the Issues 
and Options Report, which took place between June and July 2012, officers 
are working on the analysis of the comments received to the consultation and 
developing the preferred approach to take forward into the draft Plan. It has 
previously been agreed that future reports would be brought to Development 
Plan Scrutiny Sub Committee to analyse the comments received and options 
to take forward in more detail in order to seek a steer from Members on the 
approach to take forward in the draft Plan.  
 
This report considers the approach to be taken forward in relation to the Airport 
Safety, Higher and Further Education, Tourism, Open Space and Community 

Page 2



Development Plan Scrutiny Sub-CommitteeDPSSC/3 Tuesday, 29 January 2013 

 

 
 
 

3 

Facilities, Transport and Infrastructure sections of the Issues and Options 
Report as part of developing the content of the new Plan. 
 
Decision of Executive Councillor for Planning and Climate Change 
 
The Executive Councillor resolved: 

i. To consider the key issues related to Airport Safety, Higher and Further 
Education, Tourism, Open Space and Community Facilities, Transport 
and Infrastructure as set out in Appendices A,B, C, D and E of the 
Officer’s report; and 

ii. To endorse the response and approach to take forward in the draft Plan, 
as set out in Appendices A, B, C, D and E and tables 1, 2, 3, 4 and 5 f 
the Officer’s report. 

 
Reason for the Decision:  
As set out in the Officer’s report. 
 
Any Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:  
Not applicable. 
 
Scrutiny Considerations:  
The Committee received a report from the Senior Planning Policy Officer 
regarding the Cambridge Local Plan – Towards 2013 – Airport Safety, Higher 
and Further Education, Tourism, Open Spaces and Community Facilities, 
Transport and Infrastructure.  
 
Airport Safety 
The Senior Planning Policy Officer used a map of the area to explain the 
zones around the airport and the twin issues of Public Safety Zones and Air 
Safeguarding Zones. 
 
Members raised concerns that residents around the area of the airport had not 
been able to extend their properties due to concerns about the airport. The 
Officer confirmed that the airport would be a consideration of such planning 
application but would not preclude development in the area. Option 75 would 
seek to inform the public and a balanced approach would be taken. 
 
Higher and Further Education 
The Principal Planning Policy Officer introduced this section of the report. He 
suggested that the current needs of the University of Cambridge were well 
provided for by developments at West Cambridge and NW Cambridge. The 
two central sites in the current plan also provide a useful framework. However, 

Page 3



Development Plan Scrutiny Sub-CommitteeDPSSC/4 Tuesday, 29 January 2013 

 

 
 
 

4 

there was an emerging picture of future need on part of the Colleges to provide 
hostel accommodation to meet the University’s forecasts of future growth in 
undergraduates and postgraduates. Consultation was on-going with the 
College Bursars Committee and some needs can be met within the existing 
College confines. The shortfall is for around 4,016 student rooms by 2031 but 
1,000 of these could be found within the 2,000 rooms allocated at NW 
Cambridge. The Colleges would be expected come forward in the current 
consultation with other sites suitable for allocation as student hostels for 
consideration. Anglia Ruskin University was also reported to be facing a similar 
shortfall of available space for student hostels. The University are also about to 
initiate discussions about a shortfall in faculty space on their East Road 
campus.  
 
Members questioned the number of units set aside in the North West 
development for students and key workers. Questions were asked about 
position of Post Graduates and Post Doctorate individuals working for the 
University. Were they classed as students or key workers? The Principal 
Planning Officer indicated post doctorates are not included in the 
undergraduate and postgraduate figures quoted. In addition, would other 
college workers, such as porters, be allocated any of the properties? The Head 
of Planning stated that these decisions had already been made elsewhere. 
She would supply written follow up information if required. 
 
In response to Member’s questions the Officers present confirmed the 
following: 

i. There was a capacity allocation for an additional college in the master 
plan. However, the funding for this was currently unclear. 

ii. The Department of Education favoured University Technical Colleges 
and funding was available. This could be considered at a later date. 

iii. Anglia Ruskin University playing fields on White House Lane were not an 
option for development as they were on Green Belt land. 

iv. Development on other college playing fields was not currently being 
considered and open spaces would be vigorously defended. 

 
Tourism 
The Principal Planning Policy Officer introduced this section of the report. 
Members discussed the need to manage in impact of tourism on the City. 
Councillor Hipkin questioned why a full discussion on an alternative use for the 
Guildhall had not been considered. The Head of Planning stated that the 
owners of both the Guildhall and the Shire Hall had made it clear that they 
were not currently supportive of a change of use. However, should things 

Page 4



Development Plan Scrutiny Sub-CommitteeDPSSC/5 Tuesday, 29 January 2013 

 

 
 
 

5 

change in the future, the fact that it was not included in the plan would not 
preclude a change of use.  
 
Open Space and Community Facilities 

The Senior Planning Policy Officer introduced this section of the report.  

 

Members asked for more details on the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
and the requirements this would make for on-site and off-site open space 
provision. The Head of Planning stated that the development policy would 
define the CIL requirements. There were tensions, as some sites could not 
accommodate on site provision. This problem was greater in some wards and 
future policy would provide guidance to protect the interest of those wards. 
Members expressed a preference for on-site provision where possible, and 
suggested this be considered at the design stage of future developments. 

 

Transport and Infrastructure 

The Planning Policy and Transport Officer introduced this section of the 
report. 

 

Members asked for clarification on how the plan would fit with the County 
Council’s Transport Strategy. The Head of Planning confirmed that the two 
authorities had been working closely together and that the documents would 
go forward together. The Executive Councillor for Planning and Climate 
Change added that once the transport strategy had been agreed, the land 
linked to it would be protected. 
 
In response to Member’s questions the Officers present confirmed that best 
practice in urban design would inform issues such as pedestrian safety. 
However, puddles and maintenance were beyond the control of this 
committee. 
 
Members discussed the merits of developing outside the City Centre as 
opposed to infill sites. The Head of Planning stated that the first choice was 
sites where there were existing, non-car choices. However, other locations 
would not be ruled out if infrastructure could be put in place. 

 

The Committee resolved by 2 votes to 0 to endorse the recommendations. 
 
The Executive Councillor approved the recommendation. 

Page 5



Development Plan Scrutiny Sub-CommitteeDPSSC/6 Tuesday, 29 January 2013 

 

 
 
 

6 

 
Conflicts of interest declared by the Executive Councillor (and any 
dispensations granted) 
Not applicable. 
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 4.45 pm 
 
 
 
 

CHAIR 
 

Page 6



����������	
����

���	���

��������		��
 ��

���

 ��������
��
��������
��� 












�


����������	
����
�
��	���
����
����		��
 ��
��������
��� 


 !" �

�
#"��
��



�������$
 
 �����������
 %���
 &�'���(�
 )�����*��
 ������
 +���'��	��������
 ���

���,��



���������

���������
 ��
��!����"
!�#

��$!��

%!�"�&
����������
-���




�  �����
'������&

.���
�/
�������0

�������
1
��	��
����

�������0
������
+���0��
1
2����*
3���	��


�����
�������0
������
4//����
1
5�����
6�����	�-�������0�

���������

����	�/��
4//����
1
5�
���,�

7�������
����������	
4//����
�

	��'��
+����

�����		��
+���0��
1
����
)��,��






(��
	)�
��(����	���
�(
	)�

���
��





*+,-,����

 �'���"���


*+,.,����

 ����!�!�����
� 
��������



�'���
*���
��
�������	����
�/
��	����	





*+,/,����

 �������



+���	��
�/
	'�
��������
���	��0
	�
/����*"





*+,*0,����

 ��1���
2��������
3���
����45



�!����$
��%� ���#
��
1�%!� 
� 

!$

������!����



+������
 
�'�/����
 ���������
 	'�
 �����		��
 ���
 ����
 	'�
 /����*��0

������	�$


•
 4�
 ��������
 ����������
 *'��
 ���������0
 	'��
 �����		���
 '�
 '��

��8���	��
���������	���
�/
	'�
9��	'���
����0�
7��	"


Public Document Pack

Page 7



����������	
����

���	���

��������		����

���
 ��������
��
��������
��� 












�


•
 ��������	���
 �/
 	'�
 %����
 ���
 ����	��
 0���0
 ���,
 ����
 ����
 �����

�'�*
 	'��
 ��
 ��
 �����
 �/
 ���0
 �	�����0"
 &+�
 
�'�/����
 �//����
 	�
 ����

+������
�:	���	�
/���
	'���
����	��("


•
 
����
���!�
*�
������
	�
��
0���0
���,*����
*�	'
	'��
��		��"

•
 �'�
����
��������
�������
�		��	���"

•
 2
������'������
�����*
�/
	'�
9��	'
7��	
����0��
��������0
	'�
���������


��
������"



�'�
.���
�/
�������0
���������"
�'�
����
��
8���	���
�����
	'�
�������0�
�


��	'
 �������0��'���
 ��������
 ���
 �����
 ��	'���	�
 �����������
 *���
 ���
0���0"
2�
�//
 �����
������
 ��
 	'��
����
*����
����
��
 ������
 �/
 �	
 �������
 	'�

��������
 ���
 '��
 �����
 ��	'���	�
 ������	"
 ������	�	����
 *���
 ����
 ����0

�����	�,��
 	�
 ���,
 �	
 	'�
������0
 ��	��	���
 ��
 %��������"
 
 �������0�
 ���	�

������	
 ���
 ��	���
 ���
 �	'��
 �	�,�'������
 ���
 ����
 ���,��0
 	�
 �����	�,�
 �

�	���
�/
	'�
%����
���
��������"


4//�����
 ���/�����
 	'�	
 	'�
 �����	
 ���,�
 	�
 ��	
 ��	
 ���	����
 /��
 ���
 /�	���

�������	�����
���
�'����
��
�������	���
����
/��*���
����
	'�
��*
3����
����

��
����	���
 �	
*����
��
����������
�0����	
 	'�
������"
.�*�����
 	�
��	�
����

���
��	��	���
����
�/
����
'��
����
����	�/���
*�	'��
	'�
��	�"




+������

�'�/����
���������
���
����
	'�
/����*��0
����	�$


•
 �'��
��		��
�����
	�
��
��������
8���,��"

•
 �'�
 ���/���	��0
 �����
 �/
 '����*�����
 ��*���
 ���
 ���	
 �*����
 *���


�����	��0
��
�����	��"


•
 2�
�//
�����
������
*��
������
��0��	��"








*+,**,����

 
!$1��#"�
���!�
��!�
�
	�4!�#�
60+*
��!�7���
� 


�$$����
!�#
�'�����



�!����
 ��
��������&






�'�
3����
����
��
�
,��
�������	
/��
�������0��
���
	'�
�����*
�/
	'�
������	

3����
����
��
������	��
�����*��"
�����*��0
��
/���
������	�	���
��
	'�
;�����

���
4�	����
%����	�
*'��'
 	��,
�����
��	*���
 5���
���
 5���
 �����
 �//�����

���
*��,��0
��
	'�
��������
�/
	'�
������	�
��������
	�
	'�
������	�	���
���

���������0
 	'�
���/�����
�������'
 	�
 	�,�
 /��*���
 ��	�
 	'�
���/	
����"
 ;	
 '��

����������
����
�0����
 	'�	
 /�	���
 �����	�
*����
��
����0'	
 	�
����������	

����

���	���

��
�����		��
	�
�������
	'�
������	�
��������
���
��	����

	�
 	�,�
 /��*���
 ��
����
��	���
 ��
�����
 	�
���,
�
�	���
 /���
+������
��
 	'�

�������'
	�
	�,�
/��*���
��
	'�
���/	
����"





Page 8



����������	
����

���	���

��������		����

�� 
 ��������
��
��������
��� 












 


�'�
 �����	
 ����������
 	'�
 �������'
 	�
 ��
 	�,��
 /��*���
 ��
 ����	���
 	�
 	'�

�����	����
.�����0
���
7��������	
���	����
�/
	'�
;�����
���
4�	����
%����	

��
���	
�/
���������0
	'�
���	��	
�/
	'�
��*
����"




��������
� 
���������

���������
 ��
��!����"
!�#

��$!��

%!�"�&




�'�
7:���	���
����������
��������$


�"
 ��
 ��������
 	'�
 ,��
 ������
 ����	��
 	�
 �����	����
 .�����0
 ���


7��������	
��
��	
��	
��
2���������
2�
)
���
�
�/
	'�
4//����<�
�����	=

���



��"
 ��
�������
	'�
��������
���
�������'
	�
	�,�
/��*���
��
	'�
���/	
�����

��
��	
��	
��
2���������
2�
)
���
�
���
	�����
��
�
���
 
�/
	'�
4//����<�

�����	
 ���
 ���>��	
 	�
 ��������	�
 ��8�����
 	�
 ��/���	
 	'�
 	���
 �/
 	'�

����	�"





��!���
 ��
�%�
��������&


2�
��	
��	
��
	'�
4//����<�
�����	"



��7
������!����
�'�����

����#���#
!�#
��8����#&


9�	
����������"



�������7

����#��!�����&


�'�
�����		��
��������
�
�����	
/���
	'�
�������0
������
+���0��
��0�����0

	'�
 �������0�
 3����
 ����
 1
 ��*����
 �� �
 ;�����
 ���
 4�	����"
 +������

*���
��������
	'�	
	'��
��
	'�
/����
�����	
����	��0
	�
	'�
���	���
������	�	���"




����������
�'�
���������

����	�/��
4//����
��	�������
	'��
���	���
�/
	'�
�����	"




4�	����$
?!
1
??$


�������
 *��
 �:�������
 ����	
 	'�
 �//��	�������
 �/
 	'�
 �������'
 ���
 	'�

�:	��	
	�
*'��'
	'��
*����
��
�����������
��
����0��0
��	�����
��������"
�'�

4//����
���/�����
	'�	
	'�
������
��������	��
��
	'�
3����
����
*����
����
	�

��
 �����	�
 ��	
*����
����
����
 	�
��
����
 	�
���������	�
���
�����8���	

��	�����
������"



	��
����
�'�

�����
�������0
������
4//����
��	�������
	'��
���	���
�/
	'�
�����	"




4�	����$
�@
1
�?$
������
��:



Page 9



����������	
����

���	���

��������		����

��!
 ��������
��
��������
��� 












!


+������
 ����	��
 	'�
 ����	�
 �/
 �
 �����/���
 	�����
 ��:�
 *'��'
 �����
 ��	��

�0����	
 �
����
 /��:����
 �������'�
*'��'
 �����
 �������
 	�
 ����0��0
 �����"

�'�
/����*��0
����	�
*���
������$


�"
 �'�
 .�����0
 9����
 %�0��	��
 *��
 0��*��0
 ���
 �
 /��:����
 �������'

�����
����	�
	'�
�����	���	
	�
�������
	'��
�����"


��"
 %����������
*��
������
 	'�	
 	'�
 ���0�
�/
 ��0���	���
 	����
*����
��

����
��	'��
	'��
�
��������
��
���,�	
/�����"


���"
 �'�
�����	
�/
*��/���
��/����
*��
��	
	�
��
����"


��"
 �'�
��/���	���
�/
2//�������
.�����0
*��
����	��	��
�'��0��0"


�"
 �'�
 ����	����0
 ������
 �������'
 ������
 ���������	���
 ��
 +������

������
��������
����	
	'�
�������
���
��:����
����	����0
������"





�'�
 4//�����
 ������	
 ���������
 	�
 +������<
 ��������"
 2
 �������
 *��

������
 ���
 	'�
 ����0��0
 �������	
 *����
 ����
 	�
 ��
 /����
 ��	
 /��:����"

������
	����
���
������/���	����
�����
�'��0�
8���,��"
�'�
������	��0
	�:	
/��

	'�
������
*����
���
�����	�
	�
	'�
����	���
����0
�0����"






�'�
2//�������
.�����0

��������	���
�������0
�������	
*����
 ������
�

��	�����
 ���������	���
 /��
 �������0
 ���������
 ��	��
 ��
 ��	����	���
 �������	

*��
��
�����"

+������
8���	�����
	'�
	���/����
/��
	'�
������	���
�/
�
��*


��������	���
 �������0
�������	
 ��
 �//�������
 '�����0"
 ;�	����
 0�������

*���
 ��
 ������'��
 ����0����
 	'�
 ���/	
 ����������
 ����
 ���
 �
 ��*


��������	���
�������0
�������	
/��
������	�	���
����0����
	'�
����������

����"





�'�
���/	
������
*����
��
������	��
	�
	'��
�����		��
��
2����"





4�	���
��$
7��������	
%���	��
.�����0


+������
�:�������
�
���/������
/��
�
�����
�������'
	�
���������	
����	��

'�����0
	�
 �������
���
 	����
�/
���������	"
��������
*���
������
��0�����0

	'�
 ��/���	���
 �/
 �
 ,��
 *��,��"
 .����
 *���
 �:�������
 	'�	
 ,��
 *��,��

��/���	���
 ��0'	
 �������
 ��*
 ����
 *��,���
 �������
 ��
 	'�
 .�����0
 9����

%�0��	��"






�'�
.���
�/
�������0
��00��	��
	'�	
�
���0��	��
�������'
*����
��
	�,��"

�'�
�������
�/
,��
*��,��
���	�
�����0
 /��*���
*��
 ��,���
 	�
��
������
��	

*����
��,�
 �
 ���	����	���
 	�
 	'�
 �������
 ���	���"
 2
 ���	����
 �����
 �������'

*��
������
���
�������
*����
 '���
 /��	'��
 �����	���	���
 	�
 �����*
 	'���


Page 10



����������	
����

���	���

��������		����

��A
 ��������
��
��������
��� 












A


���	����"
�'�
 	���
�/
 	'�
����	�
*����
��
 ��/���	��
 ��
 	'�
���/	
 �������
*'��'

*����
��
������	��
	�
�����		��
��	��
	'��
����"





+������
 *���
 ���������
 	'�	
 	'�
 B�������	�
 �/
 �������0�<�
 ,��
 *��,��

'�����0
 '��
 ����
 ������	��
 	�
 �������0
 ��������
 ���������
 ��	'��
 	'��

��*��
 ����
 ��������	�
 �������
 *��,���"
 �'�
 
�����
 �������0
 ������
 4//����

�	�	��
	'�	
	'��
*��
��	
	'�
����
���
�0����
	�
�������	�
�
�����	
�	����
*'��'

*����
��������
	'��"






4�	���
���
1
���$
.�����0
+�:


������
�������
'��
���0������
/�������
	'�
����
/��:����
�������'"
+������

�:�������
��������
	'�	
���/�	
���
����������
*����
�����
*'�	
*����
�������

	'�
 '�0'��	
 ��	����
 ��	'��
 	'��
*'�	
*��
 ������"
 ;	
*��
 ��00��	��
 	'�	
 	'�

��*
 2//�������
 .�����0
 
��������	���
 �������0
 �������	
 *����
 �����	
 �

��		��
 �������"
 �'�
 
�����
 �������0
 ������
 4//����
 �	�	��
 	'�	
 	'�
 ������	

2//�������
 .�����0
 
��������	���
 �������0
 �������	�
 2���:
 ��
 ��	�
 ��	

0��������
 /�0����
 /��
 '�����0
��:"
 
 2�
 �������	�����
 �'��0��
 	'��
 �����
 ��

��>��	��
 	�
 ��/���	
 �����
 ��
 	'�
 ��*
 2//�������
 .�����0
 
��������	���

�������0
�������	"





+������
 �	�	��
 	'�	
 	'�
 ������
 ������
 	�
 ��
 �����
 ���
 ��������
 �����
 	�

���	��	
 	'�
 ��:
 �/
 �//�������
 ���
 ���,�	
 ������
 '�����0
 ������
 ��*

����������	�"





4�	���
���
1
���$
3�/�	���
.����


;	
*��
�0����
	'�	
�
���0��	��
�������'
*��
������
	�
�������
	'�
0����
�/

��������0��0
 ���
 ���
 ���
 ���	��0
 ��/�	���
 '�����0
 �����"
 
�����	��0
 	�:	

*����
��
�����"





4�	���
��!
1��A$
6�����
����������	


+������
��������
	'�
�������'
��00��	��"





4�	���
��#$
.�����0
��
+��	����
4�����	���
&.+4�(



+������
 �0����
 	'�	
 .+4�
 ���	����	��
 	�
 	'�
 �������
 '�����0
 ������
 ��

�������0�
���
��������
	'�
�������'
��00��	��"





4�	���
��@$

��������	
.�����0


Page 11



����������	
����

���	���

��������		����

��#
 ��������
��
��������
��� 












#


;�
 ��������
 	�
 �
 8���	���
 /���
 ����������
 )�����*��
 	'�
 
�����
 �������0

������
 4//����
 ���/�����
 	'�	
 �
 ����	�
 �������
 ��������
 ����
 �/
 ���������	

'�����0
 ����
 *��
 �	���
 ��	���"
 ����������
 %���
 �:�������
 	'�
 '���
 	'�	
 ��

/�	���
 �
 ������	���
 �������'
 �����
 ��
 	�,��
 	�
 �������0�
 	'�
 �������0
 �/

���������	
'�����0"






4�	���
��?$
4����	���	���
/��
��������0
9�*
.�����0


+������
 ���������
 	'�
 ���������	�
 �/
 ��������0
 �
 ������
 ����	��0
 	�
 �//���

�����������
 	�
 �������	���
 ���"
 �'�
 .���
 �/
 �������0
 ���/�����
 	'�	
 	'�

6��������	
'��
��	�������
	'�	
�	
*����
����*
�//���
����������	
	�
�'��0�

	�
�
�������	���
���
��
�����		��
����������	"

�'��
*����
����
	'�	
�������0

����������
 *����
 ��	
 ��
 ��8�����
 /��
 ���'
 ���������
 ���
 	'���/���
 	'�

���������
�/
�
������
*����
��	
�����
	�
���	���	
	'��
�'��0�
�/
���"

.�*�����
�	

*��
 ��	��
 	'�	
 	'�
�������
 '��
 ������
 �
 ��8���	
 	�
 	'�
6��������	
 /��
 ��

�:���	���
 	�
 	'��
 �'��0�
 	�
 �����		��
 ����������	�
 ��
 	'�
 �����
 �/
 	'�

��	��	���
�����	
��
�������0�<�
�������"





4�	���
���$
6����
���
���������
��	��


+������
*���
���������
	'�	
	'�
���/	
����
����
��
���	���
�/
�
	�����	
��	�

*'��'
'��
����������
����
�0����
��
����0
�/
'�0'��
����
 	'��
��������	

��	�'��"
�'�
.���
�/
�������0
���������"
4//�����
*���
���,��0
�
�	���
/���

+������
 ��
 	'�
 ��������
 *�	'��
 	'�
 �����	
 	�
 �������
 ��	�'��
 ��
 ���

����������	
�/
����
A��
'����"
2
�������
�������'
'��
����
	�,��
��
;������

���
 '��
 ����
 �������/��"
 2
 *��		��
 ��������
 	�
 	'�
 *����
 8���	����
 �/
 �

	�����	
 ��	�
 *����
 ��
 ��������
 	�
 +������"
 ����������
 %���
 ��8���	��
 	'�	

����
��/������
	�
	'�
����
/��
�
	�����	
��	�
��
���������	��
��	�
	'�
������"





4�	���
���$
%������	���
+�����0�

�'�

�����
�������0
������
4//����
��	�������
	'��
���	���
�/
	'�
�����	"
;	
*��

���/�����
 	'�	
 	'�
 �����	
 *��
 ��00��	��0
 �
 ���	����
 �����
 �������'
 �0����	

*'��'
���
/�	���
���������
�����
��
����������"
4���
���
��	��	���
��	�
*�	'��

	'�
��	�
'��
����
����������
��
	'�
������	�	����
��	
�	
��>�����
�
��	��	���
��	�

��

��	'
�������0��'���"
 
 
4//�����
*����
�����	�,�
/��	'��
�����������
*�	'


��	'
�������0��'���
���	���	
�������
	�
�����	���
*'�	'��
	'���
��	�
*����
��

��,���
	�
��
������	��"

+������
�:�������
��	��/��	���
*�	'
	'��
�������'"





�
����
����




4�	���
���$

	���0
���
�����	�	���
7������


Page 12



����������	
����

���	���

��������		����

��@
 ��������
��
��������
��� 












@


+������
��������
	'�
�������'
��00��	��"





4�	���
���
1��!$

����	���
+���0����	
�/
	'�
7������


+������
 �0����
 	'�	
 	'�
 ��������
 ������
 '��
 ����
 �0����
 	�
 ,���
 ����

���������
 ��
 	'�	
 �:��	��0
 �����
 ����������
 �����
 �:����"
 .�*�����
 �	
 *��

�0����
 	'�	
 	'�
 ������
 *��
 ��*
 ����	��0
 ��	��	���
 ������������	
 ���

���������	
 �����	���	���"
 ��������
 *���
 ������
 ����	
 	'�
 �����	
 �/

������	�����0
 	'�
 ������
 ��
 	'�
 �//��������	�
 �/
 ��������
 ������
 *'���
 ��*

����������
*����
 ��
 ����	��
 ���
*'���
 	'���
 ���������
*����
 ��
 '�����"

+������
��������
	'�
�������'
��00��	��"





4�	���
��A
1���$
���	��	���
�/
3���
���
)������0
��
7��������	
���


+������
��������
	'�
�������'
��00��	��"





4�	���
� �
1
� �$
����	��
����������	


;�
 ��������
 	�
�
������
8���	����
 	'�
.���
�/
�������0
���/�����
 	'�	
 	'�

������	
 ������
 *��
 �����	��
 ��
 	'�
 3����
 ����"
 +������
 ��������
 	'�

�������'
��00��	��"





4�	���
� �
1
�  $

'����
3����

�����


+������
*�������
	'��
��	���
��
��������
���	����	���
	�
	'�
�������	�
���

��
�
*��
�/
�����	��0
�
������	
���
�������	
����������	"






4�	���
� !
1
� A$
�����	�
�/
7��������	
2����


+������
 *���
 ���������
 	'�	
 	'�
 *�����0
 �/
 	'�
 �����		��
 �����	
 *��

�������
���
������
	�
��
���*��		���
�"�"
	'�
�������
*��
��	
���,��0
	�
�	��

�����/���	���
 �/
 ���������	
 ������
 >��	
 ��	
 '����0
 �
 ���	������
 ������
 	'�	

�����	��
 �	
 �	'��
 	'��
 	'�
 �������<�
 �����
 �������'
 	�
 �����/���	���"
 �'��

������	��
	'�
���/�����
�������'
�/
��	
'����0
�
�����/��
������
	'�	
���,�
	�

�����/�
 �:��	��0
 ���������	
 �����"
 +������
 *�������
 	'�
 /��:�����	�
 	�

����������
����������
���������
��
	'���
����	�"






�'�
 �����		��
 ��������
 ��
 �
 ��	��
 	�
 �
 	�
 �������
 	'�
 ����������	����

���>��	
	�
��������	�
��8�����
	�
��/���	
	'�
	���
�/
	'�
����	�"



�'�
7:���	���
����������
��������
	'�
����������	���"




Page 13



����������	
����

���	���

��������		����

��?
 ��������
��
��������
��� 












?



�� �����
 � 
 ��������
 #���!��#
 17
 �%�
 ���������
 
���������
 3!�#
 !�7

#��'���!�����
"�!���#5

9�	
����������"











�'�
���	��0
�����
�	
#"��
��











)���




Page 14



 
Report Page No: 1 

 

 

Cambridge City Council Item  

 

To: Executive Councillor for Planning and Climate 
Change: Councillor Tim Ward 

Report by: Head of Planning Services 

Relevant scrutiny 
committee:  

Development Plan Scrutiny Sub 
Committee 

25/3/2013 

Wards affected: All Wards 
 
THE CAMBRIDGE PLAN - TOWARDS 2031  
 
Initial Sections of Draft Plan for Recommendation to Executive 
Councillor to Put Forward for Key Decision on the Draft Submission 
Plan for Consultation 
Section One - About Cambridge 
Section Two (part) The Spatial Strategy  - Vision and Objectives 
Outline of content of remainder of Section Two – The Spatial Strategy 
(standing item for information and discussion, but with no agreement sought 
at this stage on the full chapter) 
Section Three Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources1 
 
Non Key Decision 
 

  

1. Executive Summary – Background 

1.1 The current Local Plan was adopted in July 2006 and runs to 2016 
and beyond. 

1.2 Whilst the current Local Plan is an effective document and good 
progress is being made in terms of the delivery of the urban 
extensions in the Southern Fringe and North West, it is important 
that the Local Plan is reviewed and policies are updated.  In 
particular changed circumstances regarding the delivery of 
Cambridge East, the changes introduced by the National Planning 
Policy Framework, and the introduction of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy necessitate a review, as does the approaching 
nominal end date of the current plan in 2016. 

                                            
1
 Bar waste management, air safety and safeguarding zones and Lord’s Bridge consultation zones which 

will be put forward to the next DPSSC meeting on 27 March 2013. 

Agenda Item 5

Page 15



 
Report Page No: 2 

1.3 The preparation of a Local Plan involves a number of stages, 
including public consultation.  Until now these have been non-
statutory and the Council chose to organise as two consultations on 
Issues and Options. 

1.4 The Issues and Options stages are about considering the types of 
issues that the City will face over the next two decades, and thinking 
about the policies and policy options that needed to be put in place 
to address those challenges. 

1.5 Consultation on an Issues and Options Report ran for six weeks 
between 15 June and 27 July 2012.  This was followed by a six week 
consultation from 7 January 2013 to 18 February 2013 on the Issues 
and Options 2 report which focussed on site specific issues.  

1.6 The next stages are statutory.  The Council will publish a draft 
submission plan in July 2013, alongside that for South 
Cambridgeshire.  Following consideration of representations to 
previous consultations and any consequential amendments, the plan 
is submitted in its proposed form for consideration by an 
independent inspector at an Examination in early 2014.  The 
inspector will then determine if the plan is lawful (including complying 
with the duty to cooperate) and sound (including whether or not it 
conforms with the National Planning Policy Framework, and whether 
or not it is the best possible plan in the circumstances when 
considered against reasonable alternatives). 

1.7 From draft submission stage onwards the revised plan will be a 
material planning consideration.  Though not a strong material 
consideration initially, this strength will grow when submitted to 
examination.  If found legal and sound by an inspector, it will then be 
adopted and replace the 2006 Local Plan in full.  The Cambridge 
East and North West Cambridge Area Action Plans will remain, 
although they may need updating once the final plan is adopted. 

1.8 The two Issues and Options consultations have had a good 
response, over 16,000 representations in total.   Members have now 
considered in tranches the responses and given broad policy steers 
on all matters bar the opportunity areas in the Issues and Options 
Report (2012) and the matters covered in the Site Specific Issues 
and Options 2 consultation.  Members will consider this and the 
suggested site allocations at 29 May Development Plan Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee. 

Page 16



 
Report Page No: 3 

2. Recommendations 

2.1 This report is being submitted to the Development Plan Scrutiny Sub- 
Committee for prior consideration and comment.  The Executive 
Councillor for Planning and Climate Change is recommended: 

 
a) To consider feedback from this committee on those draft plan 

sections to be put forward into the composite full plan.  In terms of 
the Strategy Chapter only the Vision and Objectives - bar the high 
level single sentence vision and the following box on spatial 
strategy, which is put forward for discussion and feedback but 
agreement will not be sought until the full strategy is put forward for 
agreement; 

b) To also consider feedback from this committee on the 
accompanying policy justification documents for each draft policy 
which will be published alongside the draft plan as an audit trail of 
how the policy was evidenced, consulted on and assessed; 

c) To agree that any amendments and editing changes that need to 
be made prior to the version put to Environment Scrutiny 
Committee in June and Full Council in June should be agreed by 
the Executive Councillor in consultation with the Chair and 
Spokesperson. 

3. Legal and National Policy Requirements 

3.1 There are a number of legal duties that members must considering in 
submitting any development plan.  These are summarised as: 

 
1. Whether the plan been prepared in accordance with the Local 

Development Scheme and in compliance with the Statement 

of Community Involvement  [The Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 20042 (the Act) sections 19(1) and 19(3) 

respectively] 

2. Whether the plan has had regard to policies developed by a 

local transport authority in accordance with section 108 of the 

Transport Act 2000 [Reg 10(a)] 

3. Whether the plan pursues the objectives of preventing major 

accidents and limiting consequences of accidents by 

pursuing those objectives through the controls described in 

Article 12 of Council Directive 96/82/EC [The Seveso directive] 

[Reg 10 (b) (c)] 

                                            
2
 Note ‘The Act’ refers to The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  The Regulations refers to the 

Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

Page 17



 
Report Page No: 4 

4. Whether it has been subject to a strategic environment 

assessment, and where required an appropriate assessment of 

impact on any sites falling under the EU Habitat (and Birds) 

directive [The Act Section 19(5), EU Directive  2001/42/EC, The 

Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes 

Regulations 2004, EU Habitats and Birds Directives Directive 

92/43/EEC, The Conservation of Habitats and Species 

Regulations 2010]  

5. Whether the plan is compatible with the requirements of the EU 

Water Framework Directive and any River Basin Management 

Plans prepared under that directive [Directive 2000/60/EC] 

6. Whether the plan has regard to the National Waste 

Management Plan [Reg 10(d) and Waste (England and Wales) 

Regulations 2011) 

7. Whether the plan is in general conformity to the Regional 

Spatial Strategy [The Act Section 24 – does not apply as the 

RS the East of England Plan has been revoked – The Regional 

Strategy for the East of England Revocation Order 2012]. 

8. Whether the plan has regard to any has regard to any 

Sustainable Community Strategy (SCS) for its area; [section 

19(2)(f), section 4 of the Local Government Act 2000]3 

9. Whether the plan meets the procedural requirements 

involving publicity and availability of the development plan 

document and related documents; [The Act Section 20(3), 

prescribed documents Reg 17 and Reg 22, Consultation Reg 

18, Submission Reg 22] 

10. Whether the plan meets the Duty to Cooperate [The Act 

Section 33A, Reg 4] 

3.2 Plans must also meet the soundness tests as set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework, that (paragraph 182). 

A local planning authority should submit a plan for examination 
which it 
considers is “sound” – namely that it is: 
 
● Positively prepared – the plan should be prepared based on a 
strategy which seeks to meet objectively assessed development and 

                                            
3
 The Cambridge SCS was adopted by the Cambridge Local Strategic Partnership in 2004 and has not 

been updated.  The Local Strategic Partnership no longer sits being replaced by a Public Services Board 
which does not produce an SCS.  There is also a Cambridgeshire LPS SCS adopted in 2006.   

Page 18



 
Report Page No: 5 

infrastructure requirements, including unmet requirements from 
neighbouring authorities where it is reasonable to do so and 
consistent with achieving sustainable development; 
●Justified – the plan should be the most appropriate strategy, when 
considered against the reasonable alternatives, based on 
proportionate evidence; 
● Effective – the plan should be deliverable over its period and 
based on effective joint working on cross-boundary strategic 
priorities; and 
● Consistent with national policy – the plan should enable the 
delivery of sustainable development in accordance with the policies 
in the Framework. 

 

4. The Evolution of the Planning Strategy for Cambridge and South 
Cambridgeshire 

4.1 The current Local Plan was adopted in July 2006. It sets out a vision, 
policies and proposal for future development and land use in 
Cambridge to 2016 and beyond.  The Local Plan adopted a spatial 
strategy for Cambridge that promoted a limited number of large 
urban extensions to the City. 

4.2 The plan reflected a major shift in strategy across Cambridgeshire 
from the late 1990s onwards.  Historically, growth in Cambridge was 
strictly controlled with a Green Belt tight around the City following the 
1950s Holford Plan.  With the economic growth brought about by the 
‘Cambridge Phenomenon’, the strategy was questioned as house 
price affordability and commuting level rose rapidly. 

4.3 The 2003 Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan review, 
following on from the East of England Plan (recently revoked) and 
the local plans of both Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire 
reflected the outcome of a mature and lengthy debate and visioning 
process about the future growth of the City.  The outcome was an 
understanding of the need for carefully masterplanned growth along 
sustainable transport corridors with interpenetrating green corridors 
with walking and cycling links. 

4.4 As a result, following a review of the Green Belt, the Cambridge 
Local Plan 2006, in parallel with the South Cambridgeshire Core 
Strategy 2007, made a number of Green Belt deletions and allowed 
for urban extensions to the North West, South, and East of the City. 

4.5 The rationale behind this approach was to redress the imbalance of 
homes and jobs in Cambridge, and provide for the long-term growth 
of the University of Cambridge and Addenbrooke’s Hospital Campus 

Page 19



 
Report Page No: 6 

whilst minimising further increases in congestion on radial routes into 
the City. This approach involved a review of the inner boundary of 
the Cambridge Green Belt as well as the creation of a ‘satellite’ 
centre at Cambridge East to take some of the pressure off the 
historic core. 

4.6 With the revocation of the East of England Plan in early 2013, the 
royal assent of the Localism Act and the finalisation of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, the City Council and South 
Cambridgeshire District Council are the strategic planning authorities 
for Cambridge and its immediate hinterland.  Both authorities are 
working in partnership, under the new duty to cooperate, with the 
County Council, other councils in the Cambridge sub-region (the 
Cambridge Travel to Work area, and Housing Market Area, referred 
to in the draft plan for plain English reasons as the Cambridge City 
Region), and other key agencies and bodies. 

4.7 There is general agreement that the strategy has been working well 
and achieving real results.  The City now has a 10 year housing 
supply on current targets.  Rather than, as many predicted, the City 
grinding to a congested halt as a result of growth, the results of the 
2011 Census and the screen line counts (vehicle counts) around the 
City show car traffic into the City falling; Cambridge having the 
highest bicycle travel to work percentage in the UK; and for work 
trips walking and cycle use increasing and car use decreasing. 

4.8 Cambridge has also had real successes in securing high quality 
schemes and an urban design driven approach, as well as a leading 
approach within the country towards ensuring developments are low 
carbon and do not create local flooding issues.  It has seen this as 
part of a covenant with residents that growth is managed to minimise 
adverse impacts and where possible to positively add to the 
sustainability of the city. 

4.9 Some key sites in this strategy have faced delivery problems.  The 
relocation of the sewage works became unviable within foreseeable 
horizons. In 2010, Marshalls also announced that, following an 
unsuccessful relocation search, they would be staying at Cambridge 
Airport.  It now seems that only the land North of Newmarket Road 
will definitely be coming forward in the new plan’s 15 year horizon.  
This removes around 8,500 units from the current strategy though 
this impacts much more on the South Cambridgeshire supply 
situation than the City as the large part of the Cambridge East site is 
within their district.  The possibility of such larger sites not coming 
forward was implicit in the current strategy. 

Page 20



 
Report Page No: 7 

4.10 Overall then the main thrust of work has been on pragmatic 
readjustment of the growth strategy focussing on delivery.  However, 
the consultation process has brought out challenges to this broad 
stance from a number of development consortia promoting further 
large Green Belt releases mostly towards the inner edge of the 
Green Belt; on sites either partly in the City’s boundary or wholly in 
South Cambridgeshire District.  The following sections set out the 
legal and procedural processes both authorities need to follow in 
tandem to objectively assess the submissions made and determine 
the final strategy of the revised plans. 

5. The Changed National Context for Plan Making 

5.1 Since March 2011, various changes have taken place at a national 
level.  The Localism Act received royal assent in November 2011 and 
provides the legal basis for the abolition of Regional Spatial 
Strategies and the introduction of Neighbourhood Planning.  The 
National Planning Policy Framework also came into effect on 27 
March 2012. In terms of plan making, the National Planning Policy 
Framework gives a 12 month transitional period for Councils to 
update their plans to ensure consistency with the framework. 
Thereafter weight will be given to current and emerging plans 
dependent on their degree of conformity with the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

5.2 Whilst the current Local Plan is considered to be in a strong degree 
of conformity with the National Planning Policy Framework, it is 
important that the Council presses ahead with its replacement, 
especially in the light of the parallel introduction of the Community 
Infrastructure Levy which means that after 1 April 2014 Councils will 
be no longer able to operate a tariff style planning obligations system 
such as that we currently operate.  This sets an effective deadline for 
the adoption and agreement of new plans and accompanying 
Community Infrastructure Levy charging schedules. 

5.3 The Council agreed in March 2011 to press ahead with the review of 
the Local Plan, with adoption of a new Plan by mid 2014 (see 
Committee Report to 22 March 2011 Development Plan Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee). 

5.4 The preparation of a Local Plan involves a number of stages 
including public consultation. This is to ensure that it is robust and 
comprehensive. Key stages in the process are: 

 

Page 21



 
Report Page No: 8 

• Preparation of Evidence Base – preparation and completion of 
various studies, which will be used to inform issues and options 
and policy development.  This element is almost complete with 
the final studies now coming in. 

• Consultation on Issues and Options – Identification of relevant 
Issues and Options for the future development and protection of 
the City.  Consultation with relevant stakeholder groups and with 
the wider public. 

• Draft Submission Consultation - Consultation on the draft Plan in 
Summer 2013.  This is a dry run of the submission in effect as 
once consultation is over there is limited opportunity to make 
major changes to the plan if the local planning authority believes 
the plan is ready and should be submitted.  Further consultation 
after this point, though it may be required if there are matters 
which an Inspector considers must be changed to make the plan 
lawful and/or sound, would lead to major delay to plan adoption 
with consequential cost.  It is important then that both Cambridge 
and South Cambridgeshire consider that the plan at Draft 
Submission stage is as close to complete and finalised and 
possible. 

• Submission - Submission of the new Local Plan document to the 
Secretary of State.  At this stage, the public and developers are 
invited to make representations in favour or against elements of 
the plan.  It is a representations stage not a consultation stage. 

• Examination - An independent Government Inspector considers 
the ‘soundness’ of the document in a public examination and 
produces a report. 

• Adoption - Formally adopted by the Council, if the Inspector gives 
a sound finding.  The Council cannot adopt the plan if the plan is 
found to be unsound.  If this is the case, it must then be 
withdrawn for the submission process and further work 
undertaken. 

6. The Proposed Structure of the Draft Plan and the Proposed 
Process for Its Agreement  

6.1 As already agreed with Members, the draft plan will go forward in four 
tranches between now and 29 May to the Development Plan Scrutiny 
Sub-Committee.  

6.2 Some changes are suggested to the original ordering of which 
sections of the plan go to which meeting.  This is mainly because of 

Page 22



 
Report Page No: 9 

practical and operational issues concerning when various policy 
areas would be ready and with whom they needed to be discussed 
with.  The joint sustainability/strategic environmental appraisal 
process with South Cambridgeshire requires certain inputs to be 
made to technical reports, such as the transport model and the final 
infrastructure delivery study, which require an early steer from 
Members on certain issues.  The results of these studies and the 
sustainability appraisal then need to be considered as a whole by 
Members who then need to weigh and balance all planning matters 
and the advantages of the recommended strategic option along with 
reasonable alternatives and decide on their chosen option in the light 
of all of the evidence and all of the representations made.  

6.3 It is proposed that the title of the plan be simply – The Cambridge 
Plan – Towards 2031, to avoid confusion with the 2006 Cambridge 
Local Plan. 

6.4 The proposed structure of the plan would be in sections as follows: 

• Section One About Cambridge would set out a spatial portrait of 
Cambridge and describes the key issues in the Cambridge City 
Region.  It would also set out the plan’s approach towards 
sustainable development as a golden thread throughout the whole 
plan. 

• Section Two The Spatial Strategy would set out the vision and 
spatial objectives of the plan, the objectively assessed needs the 
plan should meet in accordance with national planning policy and 
the chosen spatial strategy to meet those needs, including briefly 
why this was chosen.  The spatial strategy has two components – a 
shared strategy with South Cambridgeshire on how to manage the 
growth objectives of Cambridge as part of the City Region, and a 
City specific section on managing change within the City including 
the relationship between the main spatial components of the City 
such as the City Centre, Addenbrooke’s, the urban extensions etc.  
It would also set out the retail hierarchy and broad retail and leisure 
strategy. 

• Section Three Responding to Climate Change and Managing 
Resources would deal with sustainable construction, low carbon 
policy, water, air quality, waste management and pollution. 

• Section Four Supporting the Knowledge Economy and 
Managing Visitors would deal with economic issues as well as 
issues concerning the knowledge economy including the 
universities, other higher and further education issues and the 

Page 23



 
Report Page No: 10 

biomedical sites.  It would also deal with tourism and the visitor 
economy. 

• Section Five Maintaining a Balanced Supply of Housing would 
address all of the non-strategy specific housing issues. 

• Section Six Protecting and Enhancing the Character of 
Cambridge would deal with design and conservation issues, as 
well as open space 

• Section Seven Maintaining and Improving Local Facilities would 
address protecting local community facilities (including pubs), as 
well as managing changes of use in local and district centres. 

• Section Eight Providing the Infrastructure to Support 
Development would deal with transport issues, the management of 
streets, parking and new social infrastructure (primary care and 
schools) to support development. 

• Section Nine Cambridge’s Localities and New Communities 
would set out broad framework for specific areas such as the City 
Centre, CB1 and the area around the station and other specific 
areas within the urban area where redevelopment and change is 
contemplated during the life of the plan as well as the main urban 
extension areas.  It would contain policies for key sites and a 
schedule of other sites. 

• Section Ten Delivery would deal specifically with implementation 
issues like Community Infrastructure Levy and planning obligations.  
It would also contain a brief infrastructure delivery plan. 

6.5 This structure allows for integration of closely related policy areas 
(such as the universities and the knowledge economy) as well as 
dealing with issues in a cross cutting and joined up way.  The current 
report contains the draft sections one and three and part of the draft 
strategy section two – vision, spatial objectives and the first part of 
the section on objectively assessed need.    

Page 24



 
Report Page No: 11 

6.6 It is intended that future tranches run as follows: 

 

DPSSC 
Meeting 
Date 

Subject 

25 March 
2013 
 
Tranche 1  

• Section One – About Cambridge 

• Section Two (part) Spatial Portrait, Vision and Spatial 
Objectives, Strategy Development (standing item),  

• Section Three - Responding to Climate Change and 
Managing Resources (bar waste management, air safety 
and safeguarding zones and Lord’s Bridge consultation 
zones) 

27 March 
2013 
 
Tranche 2 

• Strategy Development (standing item) 

• Section Four - Supporting the Knowledge Economy and 
Managing Visitors 

• Section Five - Maintaining a Balanced Supply of Housing  
(Draft policies on Specialist Housing, Lifetime Homes and 
Lifetime Neighbourhoods, Protecting Garden Land and 
Subdivision of Existing Dwelling Plots, Flat Conversion, 
Residential Moorings). 

16 April 
2013 
Tranche 3 
 

• Strategy Development (standing item) 

• Section Five - Maintaining a Balanced Supply of Housing 
(Draft policies on Affordable Housing, including tenure 
and housing mix and Student Housing) 

• Section Six – Protecting and Enhancing the Character of 
Cambridge 

• Section Seven – Maintaining and Improving Local 
Facilities 

• Section Eight – Providing the Infrastructure to Support 
Development 

29 May 
2013 
 
Tranche 4 

• Section Three: Responding to Climate Change and 
Managing Resources (Draft Policies on waste 
management, air safety and safeguarding zones and 
Lord’s Bridge consultation zones), 

• Section Five - Maintaining a Balanced Supply of Housing 
(Draft policies on Development of Housing, Loss of 
Housing and Affordable Housing, HMOs, Gypsies and 
Travellers, Residential Space Standards) 

• Section Nine - Cambridge's Localities and New 
Communities 

• Section Ten – Delivery 

• Final decision on any Green Belt releases.   

• Agreement of plan for Draft Submission, including 
Finalisation of Strategy (standing item) and Collated plan.  

Page 25



 
Report Page No: 12 

Section One – About Cambridge 

6.7 This section of the plan paints a spatial portrait of the City as a 
backdrop to the policy sections that follow.  It also outlines how the 
City has developed and some of the challenges that this has posed in 
matters such as pressure for land, cost of housing, volume and 
length of commuting and ensuring that development is high quality 
and sustainable. 

 

Section Two- The Spatial Strategy 

6.8 This section sets out the vision, objectives and spatial strategy for the 
plan which subsequent sections of the plan have more specific 
policies on in terms of a delivery strategy. 

 

Vision and Objectives 

6.9 The National Planning Policy framework requires development plans 
to ‘[set] out a realistic vision for the future of the area’  (paragraph 17 
Core Planning principles) and (paragraph 154). ‘Local Plans should 
be aspirational but realistic. They should address the spatial 
implications of economic, social and environmental change.’ 

6.10 Members’ agreement has not been sought so far on proposed 
changes to the issues and options I draft vision and objectives 
although feedback from Members was received at13 November 2012 
Development Plan Scrutiny Sub-Committee when Members asked 
for specific issues to be taken on board.  The revised draft takes 
account of these.  The committee made the following comments: 

i. The document reflects inherent tensions between the 
demand for growth and protecting the character of the 
City. 

Response: The revised version includes the concept of Smart 
Growth as an organising concept to demonstrate that growth 
should occur in ways in which protects and enhances the 
character of the City; 
 
ii. Sub regional tension and conflicts were also noted. An 

integrated regional approach was favoured and would be 
expressed more explicitly in future.  

Response: Officers are working closely with officers from South 
Cambridgeshire, The Joint Strategic Planning Unit and the 
County Council on developing an integrated approach to land 
use and transport strategy that would be reflected in both plans.  
Once the final version of this is agreed, the high level vision and 
spatial objectives will need to be amended to reflect this.  

Page 26



 
Report Page No: 13 

Progress on this matter will be reported to a future Development 
Plan Scrutiny Sub-Committee meeting.  The draft plan includes 
a clear map and definition of the sub-region/housing market 
area/travel to work area based on national statistics (Figure 3, 
Section One, page 10), though new travel to work data due next 
year is expected to show this has expanded.  The plain English 
term ‘City Region’ is recommended.  The National Planning 
Policy Framework requires planning for housing need to be 
based on such areas and then apportioned through the duty to 
cooperate between districts. 
  
iii. The vision would evolve as a political vision, informed by 

residents and other stakeholders.   
Response: Whilst technical work will demonstrate the level of 
objectively assessed need the Government has made clear 
exactly where to meet it is a political decision to be agreed by 
and between councils under the duty to cooperate.  Many 
resident and stakeholder positive suggestions on the vision and 
objectives have been taken on board. 
 
iv. Sustainability would be a key value for the vision. 
Response: The role of sustainability as a guiding thread has 
been enhanced in the revised vision and the opening sections of 
the draft plan.   Sustainable development would act as a guiding 
thread throughout the plan with a key section right at the 
beginning setting out how it will be applied to enhance both 
environmental, economic and social objectives together.  The 
concept of smart growth is used to express the spatial 
manifestation of sustainable development. 
 
v. Cambridge was a centre of good building design and the 

vision statement should enhance this.  
Response: This is reflected in the revised vision and objectives. 
  
vi. Members agreed that the Vision and strategic objectives 

would be revisited as officers worked through each Local 
Plan topic and developed. 

Response: Work has reached a fairly advanced stage on the 
topic specific sections of the plan.  It is proposed the strategy 
section of the plan (including vision and objectives) be a 
standing item for the next four DPSSC meetings which will 
consider the plan in tranches.  It is important to work both up 
together as plan policy needs deliver on the plan’s vision and 
objectives hence the proposal for parallel consideration of both 
issues. 

Page 27



 
Report Page No: 14 

6.11 Many of the aspects of the vision and objectives were supported 
though there were quite a number of specific and positive 
recommendations for change which officers have where reasonable 
and appropriate recommended be taken on board (see Appendix A). 

6.12 The approach to the vision and objectives, in response to several 
similar comments made to Issues and Options consultation is to 
focus the vision and make it slightly more specific to the special 
qualities and challenges of Cambridge. 

6.13 In a comment which many similar visions in local plans attract, Mrs 
Von Rimscha (rep 1932) said ‘It has the feeling of motherhood and 
apple pie about it.’ And from Accordia Residents Association (rep 
18277).’A vision statement needs to be brief, bold, translatable into 
specific objectives, and to reflect stretching but realistic ambition. 
Councillors and officials need to be able to rally to it.‘ 

6.14 Good practice advice on vision statements from the Planning 
Advisory Service (Developing a locally distinctive vision) states: 

it is important to remember that although the purpose of a vision 
is to be somewhat aspirational, it must also be balanced. This 
can be done by ensuring it is broadly realistic in terms of the key 
characteristics of the area and the issues facing it. This 
approach should help provide the vision’s distinctiveness. The 
spatial objectives should further help to amplify the elements of 
the vision.   

An emphasis on the look and ‘feel’ (in terms of places, as in 
urban design, and of the presentation of the document) has 
been found to be helpful in branding the vision and getting 
people on board.  It also transforms a two dimensional process 
into a three dimensional one. 

6.15 The first level is a single sentence high level vision.  The second level 
is to develop that vision into a series of themes which are specific 
how this high level vision will be delivered.  These themes then set 
out the sectional structure for the plan.  The third level is under these 
themes is to set specific spatial objectives as to what will be 
delivered.  Policy then sets out the ‘which, where and how’ 
components of delivery. The previous Issues and Options vision and 
objectives paragraphs have been restructured under these themes, 
rewritten in some cases to reflect positive feedback from Members 
and consultees and a few gaps filled. 

6.16 The high level vision statement is not put forward for agreement at 
this stage as it requires much more discussion and consensus.  

Page 28



 
Report Page No: 15 

Rather it is hoped that discussion will help frame the final 
recommendation.  Similarly, the following section on how the vision 
impacts on the spatial strategy is not put forward for agreement as 
work on the strategy is still ongoing. 

6.17 The draft vision is based on a simple idea: Cambridge as a Smart 
City, achieving Smart Growth. 

6.18 Smart Growth is an internationally recognised term, smart growth as 
opposed to unplanned development or sprawl, which basically refers 
to the spatial manifestation of sustainable development: the kinds 
and forms of development, which, in strategic urban design terms, 
will produce a sustainable pattern and form of development that 
encourages sustainable forms of travel such as public transport, 
walking and cycling. 

6.19 The concept of a Smart City is now a major focus of research and 
Government policy across Europe.  It is usually defined as one where 
a City increases its competitiveness through use of advanced 
technology and supporting social infrastructure, including education. 
However so far Cambridge has not made a major commitment to the 
infrastructure this would imply, so care needs to be taken in terms of 
running ahead of the strategic ambitions of the Council as a whole.  
The idea is put forward for discussion. 

6.20 Appendix A is a list of the positive suggestions for wording changes 
to the vision and objectives sections.  Many of these have been taken 
on-board where appropriate as well as the issues from Members, 
which have been taken on board. 

Ongoing Work on Objectively Assessed Need for Housing and 
Employment  

6.21 The next sections of the Spatial Strategy chapter will set out the 
results of the evidence work in terms of the objectively assessed 
needs for housing and employment land.  This is a key central theme 
of plan making in the wake of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and the Localism Act 2011, as now local planning 
authorities are responsible for setting their own level of housing and 
employment provision rather than targets being set at a regional level 
through Regional Spatial Strategies. 

Sustainability Appraisal 

6.22 The policies in the draft plan are in the process of being assessed as 
part of a Sustainability Appraisal by independent consultants URS.  
The full results of this will be put before Members before the plan as 

Page 29



 
Report Page No: 16 

a whole is put to Full Council.  The statutory decision on the draft 
plan cannot be made until the environment report of the Sustainability 
Appraisal provided by URS is available and considered by Members. 
The policy justification document also includes the results of the 
previous early stage appraisal of the Issues and Options report.  This 
means that the options have been assessed against a range of 
social, environmental and economic objectives in order to help 
identify any significant effects. 

6.23 The Sustainability Appraisal advises on ways in which any adverse 
effects could be avoided, reduced or mitigated or how any positive 
effects could be maximised.  It will be used by the Council, to help 
decide on which options to take forward to develop as policies in the 
Local Plan. 

6.24 Following successful legal challenges in Forest Heath District Council 
and subsequently in Greater Norwich, plans are vulnerable, even at a 
very advanced stage, if they have failed to consult on a range of 
reasonable spatial strategy options.  To avoid this, Cambridge and 
South Cambridgeshire Districts officers have drawn up a range of 
reasonable alternative spatial strategies and are submitting them to 
testing through the traffic model and infrastructure delivery study 
update as well as other evidence base studies that have been 
produced, such as on the Green Belt. 

6.25 It is not possible to separate out the issue of the scale of 
development from where it will be located as some options such as 
new settlements will have lengthy periods of delivery and so affect 
what level of development is achievable over 15 years.  A much fuller 
report on the level of need and strategy options for addressing it 
under the duty to cooperate will be brought to this committee soon. 

6.26 In the final decision to be put before Members at Full Council, there 
will be a detailed appraisal of each of the reasonable alternative 
options.  Members and the communities in these areas will be well 
aware that these examinations have been undertaken previously 
back as far of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 
2003 panel and the Cambridge Local Plan 2006 examination.  The 
process of delivering a new plan requires us to revisit these 
questions as part of the necessary robust examination of all possible 
options for the City in the light of current evidence and the 
sustainability appraisal. 

6.27 As part of plan-making, other assessments may be required.  
Habitats Regulation Assessment (HRA) is required under the 
European ‘Habitats Directive’ (92/43/EEC) if there are effects on 

Page 30



 
Report Page No: 17 

European sites of nature conservation importance (Natura 2000 
Sites). 

6.28 There are no Natura 2000 sites within Cambridge City Council’s 
boundary, and so any potential impacts would be related to potential 
changes to the water environment, which could have an impact on 
more distant sites such as the Ouse Washes.  A screening report is 
being undertaken for agreement by Natural England and it may be 
that no such ‘appropriate assessment’ is needed. This approach has 
been discussed and agreed with Natural England. 

6.29 The Equality Act 2010 requires local authorities to consider how its 
policies and decisions impact disadvantaged groups and minimise 
this impact.  The Council will undertake this through an Equalities 
Impact Assessment as an integral part of the Sustainability Appraisal.  
This assessment will be presented alongside the full final draft plan 
for key decision. 

7. Section Three - Responding to Climate Change and Managing 
Resources 

7.1 This section focuses on how the Local Plan will contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable development in terms of how the plan will 
address the challenge of mitigating and adapting to our changing 
climate as well as other resource management issues.  This section 
also considers how to make Cambridge a water sensitive City, where 
new developments contribute to an overall flood risk reduction and 
help improve the quality of water bodies. 

7.2 The following policies are proposed: 

Climate Change 

• Policy 9: Carbon Reduction, Community Energy Networks, 
Sustainable Design and Construction and Water Use 

• Policy 10: Allowable Solutions for zero carbon development 

• Policy 11: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation 

• Policy 12: Energy Efficiency Improvements in Existing Dwellings 

Water and Flooding 

• Policy 13: Integrated water management and the water cycle 

• Policy 14: Flood risk 

Page 31



 
Report Page No: 18 

Environmental Protection and Public Safety 

• Policy 15: Contaminated Land 

• Policy 16: Light Pollution Control 

• Policy 17: Protection of Human Health from Noise and Vibration 

• Policy 18: Air Quality, Odour and Dust 

7.3 Other policies on Waste Management; Cambridge Airport Air Safety 
and Safeguarding Zones; and Lord’s Bridge Consultation Zones will 
go to future meetings. 

7.4 Building upon the options consulted on in the Issues and Options 
report (2012), Policy 9 seek to ensure the principles of sustainable 
design and construction are integrated into the design of new 
developments with a Sustainability Statement forming part of the 
Design and Access Statement.  This policy also sets sustainable 
construction for all new development, linked to the Code for 
Sustainable Homes and BREEAM, and the introduction of carbon 
standards for new development, linked to national zero carbon policy.  
Given the severe water stress facing the city, stringent targets for 
water consumption are also set through this policy.  Policy 10 seeks 
to establish a Cambridgeshire Community Energy Fund, which would 
be used to invest in local energy efficiency and renewable energy 
projects, while Policy 11 seeks to provide a positive strategy for 
applications for renewable and low carbon energy generation.  Policy 
12 seeks to encourage homeowners to make energy efficiency 
improvements to their homes when seeking permission to extent, 
with links to the Council’s role in promoting the Green Deal.  A more 
integrated approach to water management and flood risk is also 
included within this section as part of policies 13 and 14.  These 
policies seek to ensure that a water sensitive urban design approach 
is taken in all development proposals so that they are appropriate in 
terms of flood risk and water body quality, see water as a valuable 
resource and have a positive impact on the River Cam and other 
water features.  Policy 15 deals with Contaminated Land and follows 
current practice, as do 16, 17 and 18 following environmental health 
good practice.  The noise policy needs to include the table from 
PPS24 on noise standards as this has been revoked following the 
introduction of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

8. Implications 
 
(a) Financial Implications 
 

Page 32



 
Report Page No: 19 

8.1 There are direct financial implications arising from this report, but the 
cost of preparing a Local Plan has been budgeted for and included in 
the draft budget for 2013-2014 and the medium term final planning 
for 2015-2016.  The agreed approach of preparing one single Local 
Plan rather than three separate Development Plan Documents will 
mean that considerable cost and time savings can be achieved. 

 
(b) Staffing Implications 
 
8.2 There are no direct staffing implications arising from this report. 
 
(c) Equal Opportunities Implications 
 
8.3 There are no direct equal opportunities arising from this report.  An 

Equalities Impact Assessment (as an integral part of the sustainability 
appraisal) will be undertaken as part of preparing a new development 
plan for Cambridge. 

 
(d) Environmental Implications 
 
8.4 There are no direct environmental implications arising from this report.  

The new Local Plan for Cambridge will assist in the delivery of high 
quality and sustainable new developments along with protecting and 
enhancing the built and natural environments in the City.  This will 
include measures to help Cambridge adapt to the changing climate as 
well as measures to reduce carbon emissions from new development. 
Overall there should be a positive climate change impact. 

 
(e) Consultation 

 
8.5 The draft submission plan will be consulted on following the Full 

Council decision in June and more details on the arrangements for 
consultation will follow in a future report.  The consultation and 
communications arrangements for the Local Plan are consistent with 
the agreed Consultation and Community Engagement Strategy for the 
Local Plan Review, 2012 Regulations and the Council’s Code for Best 
Practice on Consultation and Community Engagement. 

 
(f) Community Safety 
 
8.6 There are no direct community safety implications arising from this 

report. 
 
9. Background papers  
 

These background papers were used in the preparation of this report: 

Page 33



 
Report Page No: 20 

 

• Localism Act 2011, which can be accessed at: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted 

• National Planning Policy Framework 2012, which can be 
accessed at:  

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-
policy-framework--2 

• Cambridge Local Plan 2006, which can be accessed at: 
 https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/local-plan-2006 

• Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Structure Plan 2003 

• http://www.cambridgeshire.gov.uk/environment/planning/policies
/structure-plan.htm 

• Cambridge Local PlanTowards 2031 – Issues and Options and 
Issues and Options 2 consultations, which can both be accessed 
at: 

 https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/local-plan-review 
 

10. Appendices 
 

 

• Appendix A – Representations regarding the Vision (Issues and 
Options (2012) 

• Appendix B – Draft Section One –About Cambridge 

• Appendix C – Draft Section Two – The Spatial Strategy (Part) 

• Appendix D – Draft Section Three – Responding to Climate Change 
and Managing Resources (Part) 

• Appendix E – Policy Justification for Section Three – Responding to 
Climate Change and Managing Resources (Part) 

 
11. Inspection of papers 
 

 

To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report 
please contact: 
 
Author’s Name: Andrew Lainton 
Author’s Phone Number:  01223 457186 
Author’s Email:  andrew.lainton@cambridge.gov.uk 
  
 

Page 34



Appendix A - Representations regarding the Vision made to Issues 
and Options Report (2012) 

The table below includes all representations to the Vision (Issues and 
Options Report (2012), which made suggestions for change.

Representation 
No.

Comment

7259 Cambridge 
Past, Present & 
Future (Professor 
Peter Landshoff) 

Include: 

* A city that uses planned growth to address socio-economic inequalities 

* A City that does not encroach on its green belt unless an exceptionally strong 
case is made 

7405
Newtown RA (Dr 
Martin Johnson) 

Bullet point 1. i.e. develop within city rather than expand at its edges? 
Bullet point 2. needs much stronger wording and application to existing buildings 

8182
The I&O Working 
Group of Windsor 
Road Residents' 
Association (The 
Secretary) 

We suggest that this statement should end at the word 'employment'  
thus

"A city where there is a diverse range of employment" 

9695
The Wildlife Trust 
BCN (Mr Martin
 Baker) 

suggest that bullet point 7 is amended to read; 
"A city where green spaces, trees, wildlife habitats and the River Cam are 
protected and enhanced and where new green spaces, wildlife habitats and 
trees are established for the benefit of residents and the natural environment." 

10069
North Newnham 
Residents 
Association (Mrs 
Elizabeth Davies) 

Highlight preservation of what makes Cambridge special, e.g. vision doesn't 
mention protection of historic setting as integral part of its heritage. 
Strongly support the need to protect green spaces and trees. This should also 
refer to maintenance of green corridors. 
Reference to a 'clean' city: include freedom from pollution, including light and 
noise pollution. 
The emphasis on 'sensitive' (as well as sustainable) growth in the 2006 plan was 
important.

10427
Newtown RA (Dr 
Martin Johnson) 

Bullet point 1. i.e. develop within city rather than expand at its edges? Bullet 
point 2. needs much stronger wording and application to existing buildings 

11144
Grosvenor 
Developments 
represented by 
Savills (Mr Colin 
Campbell ) 

needs to build on that strategy and continue to support Cambridge as World 
Leader in research and technology and support economic recovery. 

11166
Grosvenor 
Developments 
represented by 
Savills (Mr Colin 
Campbell ) 

* tackle rising obesity; and  
* to get more people participating sport or active recreation 

We consider that the vision should reflect the key priorities for health and should 
explicitly refer to the need for a healthy city and to improve opportunity for 
participation in sport. We suggest a bullet is added as follows: 

11274
Mr A Smith 

Include Wildlife 

13742
Mr Richard Taylor 

Suggesting clarifying "affordable housing"; adding world class telecoms 
infrastructure to the vision, and also adding a cohesive city, ie. without 
town/gown family/sharer divisions or even hatred. 

14658
Mr John St Leger 

suggest addition of the following: 
* A city that values and preserves its Green Belt. 
* A city that promotes the availability of high quality digital technology for 
business and personal use. 
* A city that provides for efficient business, leisure and student travel to other 
parts of the UK and overseas. 

Page 35



15218
Cambridge Cycling
Campaign 
(Committee
(Trustees) of the 
Charity) 

Encourage sustainable transport modes and Dutch-quality infrastructure 

15799
Dr Gay Meeks 

Expand to include: historic setting; green corridors (bringing wildlife into the 
Backs) as well as green spaces (including gardens and playing fields) and trees; 
low levels of air, noise and light pollution; sensitive development planning; world-
class public transport to complement walking and cycling routes. 

16122
Deborah Meller 

1) The City should provide a range of employment focussed on the service 
sector; 
2) Much of the housing and employment should be created in 'centres' within the 
City and in surrounding villages, and that any City Plan should be linked to 
SCDC plans; 
3) The vision should promote efficient and sustainable commuting, beyond 'local 
centres' to nearby villages and science parks. 'Accessibility' should focus on 
public transport and cycleways, as congestion must be reduced inside the City 
while protecting surrounding villages from becoming 'rat runs'. 

16446
Sue Woodsford 

Should promote local food production, community gardens and wildlife habitats 

16495
Sellwood Planning 
(R. M Sellwood) 

The vision should be augmented by the following 
- it should seek to meet the objectively assessed housing needs of the area 
(NPPF para. 17) 
- it should better balance the size of the local (City and South Cambs.) workforce 
to the anticipated growth in jobs 
- it should commit to the permanence of the current Green Belt boundaries. 
Without these additional elements the vision will fail to provide adequate 
guidance and would be unsound. 

17099
Mrs Anna Wakerley 

Should speak of Greening or City not just Green Spaces 

17217
Julien Hofer 

I don't want a "world class city that is dynamic..." if you actually mean "more 
dynamic". I am happy with it as it is.  

"A city that builds on the city's reputation...". the reputation as a leader is fine as 
it is. Why do we have to build upon it? residents don't benefit from growth 

"A city where there is enough good quality housing..." amend this to include " for 
the existing population and residents" 

"A city that encourages innovation and requires design..." This is way outside the 
council's brief. 

17638
Mr T. I. P. Dummett 

Should include reference to South Cambs and how this effects vision 

6833
Dr Philippa Brice 

Good social mix must mean not only 'social' housing but also stock that average 
and wealthier people can afford. 

7037
Dr Anthony J 
Cooper 

Need to have clear vision and joint working with surrounding districts 

7153
Mr Jonathan Green 

The policy on transport should be to maintain freedom of movement for all 
classes of traffic, not just of a minority interest, with proper engineering for 'flow'. 

The evasion of the needs of a majority, enjoying the single most important 
democratic achievement of the twentieth century, which enables modern living is 
undemocratic, unsound (there will be unpolluting fuels), is not future proof (in a 
document which will run until 2031) and ignores: transport infrastructure is a 
concomittant of a Modern Economy'. It is a requirement of the Growth Equation'. 
The policy should be reversed. 

7251
Cambridge Past, 
Present & Future 
(Professor Peter 
Landshoff) 

Include using planned growth to address socio-economic inequalities 

Page 36



7406
Newtown RA (Dr 
Martin Johnson) 

No mention of the major improvement in public transport or how to deal with 
commuter traffic - fundamental to continued success of the city. There is a 
separate county transport plan, but the city should set out its own vision on this 
issue. The uniqueness of the city's conservation areas, compactness, city core 
and green spaces should be stressed much more with emphasis on providing 
REAL protection and the retention of those elements that make them unique e.g. 
in Newtown the terraces and green spaces. MUST ensure that growth does not 
adversely affect this 

8287
Mr Stefan Collini 

This 'vision' is dominated by an unanalysed idea of 'economic growth'. 
Cambridge will anyway remain an exceptionally prosperous area for a long time 
to come; what is needed is a vision of how to make this prosperity compatible 
with protecting the quality of life and the natural and built environment. The 
present 'vision' quite wrongly favours forms of 'growth' which will be damaging to 
these more important values. 

8582
Trumpington 
Residents 
Association (Mr 
Andrew Roberts)

1. Split Bullet one into two 
2. not only new developments, but also improve the sustainability of existing 
housing 
3. this is the appropriate point to refer to 'world-class', and include the education, 
technology and biomedical sectors 
4. 'needs of all' is meaningless; the Council has limited influence over the 
diversity of employment and should not be encouraging employment in all 
sectors but should be concentrating on supporting the education, technology and 
biomedical sectors where Cambridge has excellence; 
7. stress that the city protects and develops green spaces and corridors within its 
boundary and the surrounding Green Belt, including the enhancement of public 
access to the countryside 
9. stress the importance of high quality public transport, including its availability 
and environmental quality 
12. stress the value of local centres and neighbourhoods and spreading the 
availability of community facilities out from the centre 
We think an additional point should be added: a city which works in partnership 
with South Cambridgeshire District Council and Cambridgeshire County Council, 
with a joined-up strategy for homes, employment, infrastructure (particularly 
transport) and the environment including the enhancement of the Green Belt. 

8676
Mr Robin Pellew 

Give greater prominence to protecting Cambridge as a compact city, to 
protecting its heritage and culture, and to promoting the University of Cambridge 
as a world-class institution. 

8794
NHS
Cambridgeshire 
(Ms Inger O'Meara) 

important to emphasise the importance of creating an environment which 
provides opportunities for all and that strives to narrow health inequalities. 

9426
Dr Michael Kemp 

Need to clarify what compact means. The transport objectives ignore the valid 
needs of the motorist. Suggest it should read "An uncongested and clean city, 
where all modes of transport are supported and where sufficient road and 
parking infrastructure is provided for the city population (even if this means that 
growth has to be restricted). 

9820
Mrs Elizabeth 
Davies 

Should include preservation of what makes Cambridge special, e.g. vision 
doesn't mention protection of historic setting as an integral part of heritage. 
Strongly support need to protect green spaces and trees. This should also refer 
to maintenance of green corridors. 
Reference to a 'clean' city: should refer to freedom from pollution, including light 
pollution.
Emphasis on 'sensitive' (as well as sustainable) growth in the 2006 plan was 
important.
For the sake of those who cannot readily walk very far or cycle (considerable 
group?), public transport needs to be improved a lot if this norm is to be 
achieved without undue disadvantage. 

9895
Mr Roger Crabtree 

minor suggestions 
1. point 3 suggest global leader 
2. point 7 new open green spaces must also be accessible (we don't want to 
encourage gated communities 
some phrases need to be more sharply defined  
eg what does 'an enviable quality of life' mean in point 10  
If we just have undefined generalisations we won't ever know what we are 

Page 37



aiming for or whether we have achieved it 

10139
Transition 
Cambridge (Nicola 
Terry) 

The vision should include a reference to the importance of vocational training (ie 
trades and technicians) not just higher education. This is important because they 
are needed for a vibrant, diverse local economy 

Also the vision should mention the importance of making best use of local 
resources to satisfy local needs wherever appropriate - such as local sustainable 
food provision. 

10185
PSRA Committee 
(Cornelis van 
Rijsbergen) 

Stick with Local Plan 2006 Vision 

10322
Ms Ann Mitchell 

Need to reference food – protecting farmland and encouraging food production 
and supporting food enterprises 

10419
Mr Robert Sansom 

In order for the city to continue to grow economically, housing must also be 
provided in neighbouring towns & villages, such as Northstowe, Royston, 
Waterbeach, etc. Therefore the plan must also include a goal of providing public 
transport and good cycling links to these other developments. 

10633
Dr Peter Pope 

Higher education and tourism attract international traffic so the city must take 
responsibility for the air miles it generates. This is just one example of our impact 
beyond the city boundary. Economic growth causes climate change. A vision of 
Cambridge - City of Well-being. 

10972
Gonville and Caius 
College
represented by 
Beacon Planning 
(Miss Charlotte 
Burton) 

There is no explicit statement to protect Green Belt 

11565
Mr Tim Philbin 

Needs to say "A city with a strong commitment to providing plentiful social rented 
housing as a way to provide housing for the many people who work in the city 
thereby cutting the need to commute from outside the city as a way to reduce 
the city's carbon footprint" 

11689
University of 
Cambridge (Mr 
Paul Milliner) 

The draft Vision includes 'A city that builds on the city's reputation as a leader in 
higher education and research, recognising the importance of the University of 
Cambridge, the Colleges and Anglia Ruskin University.' That part of the Vision is 
weaker than the equivalent part of the 2006 Local Plan version, for Cambridge to 
'continue to develop as a centre of excellence and world leader in the fields of 
higher education and research, and it will foster dynamism, prosperity and 
further expansion of the knowledge-based economy.' The 2006 version better 
reflects the University's aspirations, and should be retained. 

12023
ROMSEY ACTION 
(Mr Colin Wiles) 

5th bullet point should be amended to read as follows: 
 "A city where there is a range of good quality housing of different types and 
sizes that is affordable to people on average incomes, with balanced and 
integrated communities of all household types;" 

12068
Tom Bragg (Mr 
Tom Bragg) 

More emphasis on current buildings and their retrofit to help the city's transition 
to a successful low carbon economy. 80% of present housing stock will still be 
with us in 2050, so most of the carbon reduction associated with housing will 
have to come from retrofitting older buildings 

Add: "protecting biodiversity" - to protect the natural environment and people's 
enjoyment and connection with it.  

Add: "food sustainability" - to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, encourage 
local employment, enable residents to feel confident in the provenance of their 
food and to build resilience in relation to food. 

13117
LaSalle Investment 
Management 
represented by Mr 
Stuart Blakley 

Additional wording emphasising that current housing needs should be met and 
future housing needs should be planned for, should be added to strengthen this 
part of the Council's vision. 

13306
Mr Tom Wilson 

stress the importance of good design, in all its shape and forms - architecture, 
urban design, green spaces. Good design is sustainable, inclusive, innovative 

Page 38



and provides value for money. 

13807
Mrs Bridget Hardy 

emphasise the need for green spaces to be available to all residents (including 
children) within walking distance 

14261
Mr. Alastair Boyles 

The vision is too small. 
We need to address the greater issues of population growth and climate change 
with more imagination, as well as preserving our compact city. 
High rise development is essential. 
Cambridge should become a beacon for urban design that can lead the world in 
the search for solutions to our looming problems 

14358
Riverside Area 
Residents' 
Association (RARA) 
(Mrs Lynette 
Gilbert) 

Emphasise public transport. “enough” housing is too vague, ditto local centres 

14411
K Maynard 

must be a clear vision to enhance what makes Cambridge special - for example 
its heritage, cultural and innovative activities and varying communities. To 
improve our quality of life the city must be well connected with transport and 
other links and it must have culture at its heart. Good design of public spaces 
and buildings is vital and must be required in the Local Plan. Key cultural 
buildings such as arts and archives centres and others could provide an 
opportunity to showcase innovation in design. A long term vision is needed. 

14412
Januarys 
Consultant 
Surveyors (Mr Colin 
Brown)

1. We do not believe that it is terribly relevant to continue to describe Cambridge 
as "compact". Whilst we think it is important that it be known as a dynamic and 
thriving City, the phrase "compact" has little meaning in this context, and ignores 
the fact that the City is expanding at a relatively fast pace following a number of 
years of limited peripheral development only. We would therefore suggest the 
removal of the word "compact" from the first bullet point in Option 1. 
2. In the Council's third bullet point under Option 1, the inference is that the 
City's reputation in higher education and research is limited to the University of 
Cambridge, the Colleges and Anglia Ruskin University. This completely ignore 
that there are other educational providers in the City, who also contribute to the 
City's reputation, and who attract students both nationally and internationally. 
This includes a number of specialist Colleges who are not formally part of the 
University, and also includes a number of tutorial colleges and language 
schools. There seems to be no valid reason why these are omitted from the 
Cambridge 2031 Vision. 
3. The sixth bullet point under Option 1 relates to design. We think it would be 
beneficial if the comment here could reflect the fact that development may be of 
a complementary, yet contemporary nature, as the bullet point as currently 
written suggests that there may be a requirement to echo or mimic existing 
vernacular built forms.  
4. With regard to the seventh bullet point relative to green spaces, whilst it is 
reasonable to suggest that these and other elements of "green infrastructure" 
should be protected and enhanced, we consider that the words "where possible 
and appropriate" should be added. There may be circumstances where some 
development within a green space is desirable, and it must be accepted that 
green spaces should not simply be preserved without exception. 
5. The eighth bullet point regarding heritage should be expanded. It should be 
confirmed that appropriate development may be promoted alongside existing 
heritage assets, and that this can often be an appropriate way to ensure the 
regeneration of heritage assets. 
6. The ninth bullet point regarding alternative modes of transport should perhaps 
be more modestly put. It is reasonable for a vision to have lofty aspirations, but 
to suggest that travel will "normally" be carried out on foot, bicycle or public 
transport may be to set the bar too high. It would be more appropriate to suggest 
that this could be the "norm" for a significant number of people, however, the 
significant amount of daily in-commuting into the City will make the achievement 
of that as an overall objective simply too difficult. 

14818
Mr Frank D.M 
Wilson 

Add something about encouraging electric vehicles/hybrids/smaller low-emission 
vehicles 

15410
English Heritage 

Paragraph 2.2 implies a restricted definition of sustainable development rather 
than that set out in the NPPF. The historic environment should be a central part 

Page 39



(East of England 
Region) (Katharine 
Fletcher) 

of the vision. It is important that the vision is closely related to Cambridge and is 
not simply generic. In this respect, bullet 8 seems hardly adequate for an ancient 
university city with nationally and internationally significant built heritage. We 
suggest the following changes: 
-Bullet 1 'A world class city that is compact, dynamic and where the architectural 
riches of the University and cultural vitality enhance the city centre.' 
- Bullet 6 'A city that encourages innovation and requires design excellence, 
embracing design that contributes positively to Cambridge's distinctive identity 
and acknowledges the scale and massing of the city townscape'. 
- Bullet 8 'A city defined by the exceptional heritage at its core, which positively 
conserves and enhances all heritage assets, including their settings, and the 
character of the wider townscape' 

15695
Ms Vicki Peacey 

Public Health responsibilities are moving into local government and the City 
Council has many levers and ways to improve the helth and wellbeing of 
residents, and can work with the County Council on this as well –Reflect this 
more clearly in the Vision and throughout the Council's work. 

16879
Cambridge 
Colleges' Bursars' 
Building and 
Planning Sub 
Committee
(BBPSC)
represented by 
Savills (Mr William 
Lusty) 

The vision should also specifically recognise the importance of Cambridge 
University and its Colleges. The Collegiate University of Cambridge is a key, if 
not, the single most important driver of the Cambridge economy. 

16995
Greater Cambridge 
Greater 
Peterborough 
Enterprise 
Partnership (Miss 
Natalie Blaken) 

The Local Plan needs to promote a pro- growth strategy for the Cambridge area 
that is based upon exploiting its key economic strengths and opportunities. This 
strategy should be supported by an economic vision and objectives /KPI's which 
seek to meet the needs of existing and future businesses and communities. 

17053
 the Parish 
Councils of Barton, 
Coton and 
Madingley (David 
Cairns) 

Take into account Quarter to Six Vision which was developed in line with the 
Localism act. If it is not adopted they will try to get it adopted as a 
neighbourhood plan 

17377
 RLW Estates 
represented by 
Boyer Planning (Mr 
Matthew Clarke) 

should additionally refer to the protection of the Green Belt and specifically the 
retention of the existing boundary. This is consistent with the references to a 
compact city (Bullet 1) and the protection of green infrastructure (Bullet 7) but 
should be an important statement of the Vision in its own right. Direct reference 
should also be made to the importance of rail as a key element of public 
transport in the city. 

17422
Mr Robert Evans 

Too ambitious, does not take into account finite water resources 

17578
Southacre, Latham 
and Chaucer Road 
Residents' 
Association
(SOLACHRA) (Mr 
John. W Smith) 

Need to see new developments completed before starting new ones, in order to 
assess the impact on infrastructure. 
Need to balance growth with preserving the character of cambridge and protect 
green belt. 

18277
Accordia 
Community 
Residents 
Association 
represented by 
Paul Drew (Mr Paul 
Drew) 

The ideas in Chapter 2 on vision need to be sharpened up to reflect the 
implications of sustainable development. The suggested vision covered in 2.1 
and includes a lot 
of material which is not really visionary. A vision statement needs to be brief, 
bold, translatable into specific objectives, and to reflect stretching but realistic 
ambition. Councillors and officials need to be able to rally to it. Given the central 
importance 
of sustainable development, Cambridge's already strong foundations in each of 
the three development strands and its worldwide reputation, something on the 

Page 40



following lines looks right; 
Cambridge aims to be an international beacon for sustainable development for 
the benefit of its present and future citizens, with an approach to planning which 
rejects unsustainable approaches, and implementation arrangements which use 
all the available levers to ensure 
effective delivery 

Page 41



Page 42

This page is intentionally left blank



4 |   About Cambridge 

Section 1.   About Cambridge

The Cambridge Plan

1-1. This is the new local plan for Cambridge which 
will when finalised replace the existing local plan and 
take it forward to 2031 (Note: the base  year of the 
plan for housing monitoring purposes is 2011).  Some 
proposals and aspects of the strategy will be completed 
in an uncertain time horizon stretching beyond this 
plan period, however it is necessary to provide a vision 
and framework for developments which will take many 
years to complete their final form. The term ‘Cam-
bridge Plan’ is used to avoid any confusion with the 
previous Cambridge Local Plan adopted in 2006.

1-2. The plan has been written to comply with na-
tional planning policy in the National Planning Policy 
Framework and elsewhere, including the presumption 
in favour of Sustainable Development.

1-3. Cambridge continues to be a city of major 
change and equal challenges.   The Plan places great 
importance on issues of sustainability and innovation 
in achieving sustainable development.  Arguably Cam-
bridge demonstrates the success that can be achieved 
with planned ‘Smart Growth’ (see next section) con-
trasted with the alternatives that present themselves, 
no or unplanned growth or worse unplanned urban 
sprawl.  We are not complacent, the City Council 
adopts a positive and proactive approach, the chal-
lenges facing the city are complex and often have no 
easy resolution, requiring partnership and joint re-
solve amongst many stakeholders to achieve solutions.  
Delivery of infrastructure to support growth, meeting 
carbon reduction, and managing change to heritage 
assets of international importance and, land require-
ments and land use conflicts within a compact tightly 
bounded city are particular challenges.

1-4. This plan is based on finding solutions to these 
challenges, with a high level vision to galvanise the 
civic, academic, business and local community. This 
is followed through in terms of specific cross-cutting 
themes and objectives to tackle these challenges, then a 
spatial strategy to deliver the strategic priorities of the 
plan (some of these reflect national priorities but also 
includes priorities for Cambridge and Cambridgeshire).  
Then there are slightly more detailed delivery policies 
to achieve the strategic priorities through day to day 
decision taking on planning applications.  Finally there 
are area spatial frameworks for the major opportunity 
areas within and on the edge of the City as well as a 

strategic spatial framework for the historic city centre.  
These include allocations of land for development.  

1-5. This plan is essentially a pragmatic readjust-
ment and continuation of the 2006 growth strategy 
set out in the next section, it focuses on delivery and 
recognising that the availability of some urban exten-
sion sites has been pushed back beyond the plan period 
requiring an examination of more new settlement 
options just beyond the Green Belt in South Cam-
bridgeshire District Council.  We also need to reflect 
in the new plan how growth has changed the City and 
what new challenges this creates.  In light of experi-
ence the new plan also has an increased emphasis on 
mitigating negative transport impacts, securing further 
progress on sustainable development, area improve-
ment and urban design. 

1-6. This new plan, in line with national policy, is 
succinct with a focus on delivery.  Please read and use 
the plan as a whole, cross references are kept to a mini-
mum.  The policies are designed to be used as a toolkit 
creatively applied to individual sites to find solutions to 
deliver sustainable development.  Supporting informa-
tion is kept to a minimum and a more detailed expla-
nation of how each policy area has developed and the 
reason for the choice of chosen options is published 
outside and in parallel with this plan.  

1-7. Note: The plan is written in the form that is 
intended to be submitted and adopted.  This round of 
consultation will be the opportunity to comment on 
the plan itself in its whole form and influence its final 
content.  After this consultation will be the submis-
sion stage when rather than consultation there will be 
representations.  These will formally support or object 
to the plan in terms of its legal compliance and compli-
ance with national policy (soundness) tests.  These will 
go forward to an independent inspector who will invite 
some individuals and groups to public hearings to test 
the plan. 

Appendix B Section

Page 43



5  About Cambridge | 

Cambridge – A Spatial Portrait

1-8. Cambridge is the County Town of Cam-
bridgeshire in the East of England most famous for 
being the home of the University of Cambridge.

1-9. It is situated in a gap in low chalk and clay hills 
about 50 miles (80 km) North of London, connected by 
a frequent rail service.  The River Cam flows through 
this gap out to the fens immediately to the north of the 
City and historically the Cambridge was founded in a 
loop of the river, within this grew the medieval core 
which is broadly bounded by a ring of University Col-
leges (mostly grade I , II* & II listed) and open spaces.  
It is this visual synergy of river, riverside, open spaces, 
colleges and historic buildings, set within a fenland/
meadowland landscape, which give the City its special 
character and which, together with its historical as-
sociations, make it one of the most important tourist 
destinations in the UK.  

1-10. The City gradually grew along road corridors 
and the medieval core is now surrounded by Georgian 
and Victorian terraced suburbs, such as Newtown and 
Romsey, which also have their own local and district 
centres and character.  Together this gives Cambridge 
its compact, walkable, and cyclable characteristics and 
its high quality of life. From the 2011 Census 33% of 
City Council area residents commute by bike, com-
pared with 34% by car.  Sustainable forms of transport 
are the norm rather than the exception in Cambridge.

1-11. In the inter-war years Cambridge developed a 
circle of detached and semi-detached suburbs, with rib-
bon development absorbing, connecting to, or leaving 
only slivers of land between a ring of villages around 
the Cambridge, such as Chesterton and Trumpington.  
A number of villages close to the City, such as Grantch-
ester, and Fen Ditton, however managed to maintain 
their separation and individual character.  The heritage 
and setting of such villages, seen in conjunction with 
the historic city’s skyline and setting, are part of the 
special character of Cambridge and its hinterland. 

1-12. Green corridors of fen and meadow open 
space penetrate right through to the City Centre along 
the River Cam central to the importance of the City’s 
historic setting, as are views of the skyline, its famous 
towers and spires of the City Centre viewed from in 
particular the West where the countryside comes close 
to the historic core, and from high ground to the North 
and South such as the Gog-Magog Hills.  

1-13. In the post-war years the University of Cam-
bridge developed enormous breakthroughs in science, 
biomedicine, computing and engineering.  In the 1980s 
the ‘Cambridge Phenomenon’ of ‘‘Silicon Fen’ exploded 
with entrepreneurial vigour creating a knowledge 
cluster which today is the primary driver of the region’s 
economy and is of critical importance to the national 
economy.

1-14. By the late 1990s it became apparent that the 
traditional approach to managing a historic city, a 
tightly defined Green Belt with development encour-
aged to go beyond it with growth distributed around 
villages, despite its successes in maintaining the 
character of Cambridge, was having some severe side 
effects.  The dispersal strategy for employment was not 
really working as Cambridge was the economic driver.  
This led to enormous in commuting and an imbal-
ance between jobs and homes; pricing many out of 
the local housing market or forcing them to live some 
distance away, creating congestion as they commuted 
into or through Cambridge.  It also led to rapid growth 
of some villages without necessarily the supporting 
community facilities or transport links to support this 
growth.

1-15. The early 2000s saw a radical shift in strategy 
to tackle these problems.  Visioning exercises and vari-
ous studies and plans led to a strategy of expansion 
along public transport corridors, with extended green 
corridors between, creating new neighbourhoods and 
communities to the North East, North West, East and 
South, as well as focussing growth on the larger bet-
ter connected villages.   Some of these schemes are 
now well advanced.   There was also new settlements 
planned close to Cambridge at Cambourne and North-
stowe.  Park and Ride was introduced and expanded 
to intercept cars from penetrating to the historic core, 
this has been a considerable success.  Access to much of 
the historic centre of Cambridge is now restricted with 
bollards for bus and cycle access only, but the volume 
of tra/c on the inner ring road and other busy roads 
around the centre does act as a barrier to sustainable 
forms of transport entering the City Centre.

Page 44



6 |   About Cambridge 

1-16. Cambridge City Council itself is tightly 
bounded and parts of the Cambridge urban area, such 
as the Science Park, are within South Cambridgesh-
ire District.  Indeed South Cambridgeshire is a ring 
shaped district with the City Council contained within 
it.  South Cambridgeshire looks to Cambridge in terms 
of transport links, shopping and services and in turn 
many working in Cambridge make their home in South 
Cambridgeshire.  The two local authorities are so func-
tionally and geographically intertwined that very close 
alignment in plan making has been necessary, indeed 
all of the urban extensions planned for Cambridge are 
partially within South Cambridgeshire District. 

Stapleford

M
1
1

A
14

A
14

A428

A
60
3

A
1
0

A
1
3
0
7

A
11

A5
05

A1303

A
1
3
0
4

A
1
0

R
iv

er
C

am

R
iv

e
r

C
a
m

R
iv

e
r
C

a

m

Linton

Sawston

Burwell

Impington

Waterbeach

Girton

Milton

Cottenham

Bar Hill

Fulbourn

Duxford

Cambourne

Harston

Hardwick

Foxton

Meldreth

Lode

Great 
Shelford

Balsham

Bottisham

Toft

Orwell

Fowlmere

Comberton

Thriplow

Oakington

Swaffham

Barton

Bourn

Longstanton

Haslingfield

Coton

Babraham

Reach

Cherry 
Hinton

Landbeach

Shepreth

Caldecote

Swaffham Prior

Harlton

Teversham

Little Abington

Great Abington

Stow cum Quy

Pampisford

Little
Shelford

Grantchester

Great Wilbraham

Eversden

Fen Ditton

Hildersham

Kingston

West Wratting

Whaddon

Arrington

Conington

Horningsea

Little Wilbraham

Wendy

Hauxton

Croydon

Madingley

Little Eversden

(c) Crown copyright and database right 2013. Ordnance Survey Licence No. 100019730.

¯

Cambridge

1-17. Management and mitigation of the impacts 
of growth is a key challenge.  The risk is that without 
integrated approaches to planning of development and 
transport the achievements in shifting towards sustain-
able transport - walking, public transport and cycling 
-  in recent years will be lost and there will be a lack of 
public transport capacity.  Major improvements have 
begun to kick in most particularly the Cambridgeshire 
Guided Busway – the Busway - running north south 
through and beyond the city.  Infrastructure funding 

issues remain a challenge including the cost of upgrad-
ing the A14.  

1-18. As well as commuting into the City Centre 
there are also major commuter movements across the 
centre especially north-south with the Science Park 
and Addenbrookes Hospital/the Cambridge Biomedical 
Research Campus being major attractors of work trips.  
The ability to move large numbers across the City Cen-
tre is a major challenge which the Busway considerably 
helps.  In the longer term however to maintain quality 
of service of public transport additional public trans-

port capacity and solutions are needed. These are set 
out in the Transport Strategy for Cambridge and South 
Cambridgeshire which is being produced to support 
the local plans. 

1-19. Today Cambridge has become a very cos-
mospolitan place.  The number of workers, students 
and visitors to Cambridge gives it a far higher level of 
shops, places to eat and drink, and art and cultural fa-
cilities than one would expect from a City with its level 
of permanent residents.    Cambridge tends to bench-

Figure 1  Cambridge Location and Topography

Page 45



7  About Cambridge | 

mark its progress against compact cities in Europe 
which are known for their innovation, high sustainabil-
ity and quality of life, such as Groningen and Freiburg, 
rather than other UK towns and cities.

Cambridge – The Wider Context

1-20. Cambridge has a wide influence on its sur-
rounding area, it is a hub of both road and rail con-
nections as well as being the centre of a wider travel 
to work and housing market area (that is an area in 
which people live to get to work at a settlement that 
offers major employment).  This area of influence - the 
Cambridge City Region - includes the whole of South 
Cambridgeshire, East Cambridgeshire, and parts of 
Huntingdonshire,, Forest Heath, St Edmundsbury, and 
North Herts Districts.

1-21. In the past strategic planning for Cambridge 
has been undertaken at a ‘higher level’, through the Re-
gional Spatial Strategy (the East of England Plan).  This 
has now been revoked and Strategic Planning must 
now be done at a local level.  The Cambridgeshire and 
Peterborough Joint Strategic Planning Unit has been 
set up to help coordinate the development of strategy 
with South Cambridgeshire District Council, Cam-
bridgeshire County Council and other local planning 
authorities and stakeholders in the area.

1-22. Cambridge sits at the Eastern End of an ‘Arc’ 
of Towns and Cities that runs westwards through 
to Oxford and Milton Keynes.  The government has 
described this as the area of greatest opportunity for 
employment and housing growth in England outside 
London but it suffers from very poor transport con-
nections east west, especially by rail.  Transport routes 
through  to London also form a number of corridors of 
development pressure, though the greatest opportuni-
ties for sustainable development exist at public trans-
port nodes within this arc and these corridors.

1-23. A few major developments outside Cambridge 
are worth mentioning because of their influence on the 
City Council area. 

1-24. Firstly the Alconbury Enterprise Zone, des-
ignated in 2011, which comprises 150Ha of land with 
incentives for business development.  Alconbury has 
good connections north-south, through the A1 and 
East Coast Mainline, and east-west through the A14.   
There is a lot of new employment land at Alconbury, if 
developed and promoted well there is potential for new 
manufacturing space that complements the research 
that takes place in Cambridge.

1-25. In South Cambridgeshire are the new settle-
ments of Cambourne (to the West of the City) and 
Northstowe (soon to commence to the North) and City 
bus services have or are being extended to meet them   
Further new settlements are being considered as part 

Key Facts About Cambridge 

• Cambridge has a population of 123,900, nearly 14% higher than 10 years ago.

• The population is forecast to grow by over 20%, to 150,000, by 2031.

• Cambridge is 60 miles north north east of London on the M11 and on the King’s Lynn-London 

railway.

• The A14 to the north is an important east west link across the country.

• Cambridge is home to the University of Cambridge and Anglia Ruskin University.

• Consequently 25% of the population are in their 20s, whilst 22% are under 20. It houses 

around 29,000 university (undergraduate and postgraduate) students.

• Cambridge is an internationally renowned historic city attracting over 4 million 

visitors a year.

• Cambridge has the lowest shop vacancy level in the UK - 6%.

• Cambridge is a world leader in higher education, research and knowledge based industries.

• Cambridge is a compact city in which around 32% of residents cycle to work.

• Cambridge is a centre for jobs, shopping and leisure for the surrounding area.

• Houses in Cambridge are expensive, average prices are £321,189. With a high house price to 

earnings ratio of 9.2.

• Total and per capita carbon emissions for Cambridge decreased between 2005 and 2010 - 

780.98 to 750.79 ; 7.1 to 6.0 - units kt CO
2

Page 46



8 |   About Cambridge 

of the South Cambridgeshire Local Plan. 

1-26. To the South East of the City is London’s third 
airport, Stansted, in Uttlesford district, on a branch of 
the main London-Cambridge Rail route.  If Stansted 
is chosen for future expansion  it will be essential to 
upgarde this route as well as making connections to 
the north to ensure that people in the East and North 
of England can access the airport without passing 
through London.  This could give Cambridge a new 
role as the major transport hub in the East of England 
with much faster connections to London.

1-27. There are a ring of market towns around Cam-
bridge: Ely, Chatteris, Huntingdon, Royston, Haverhill 
and Newmarket around ten or fifteen miles from Cam-
bridge.  These market towns provide a certain level of 
services and facilities to their local vicinity.  They also 
help house a significant proportion of the workers who 
commute into Cambridge everyday.  A number of these 
such as Newmarket and Ely are planned for major 
growth.

1-28. In terms of strategic road connections yhe M11 
and A14 are the main trunk roads that connect Cam-
bridge to the strategic road network. The M11 bounds 
Cambridge to the south and west, and provides a direct 
link to London. The A14 runs bounds the north of the 
city, and creates a link from the east coast and the port 
of Felixstowe through to the M1 and M6 Motorways at 
the Catthorpe Interchange. 

1-29. The A14 is a heavily used freight route, and 
is often congested. There are currently plans to up-
grade the road during the plan period, to help relieve 
the congestion and reduce the accident rate. The A14 
study, which is dealing with the proposed upgrade, is 
being carried out by the Highways Agency in conjunc-
tion with various key stakeholders, including Local 
Authorities, businesses and the Department for Trans-
port.  

1-30. The Cambridgeshire Guided Busway (CGB), 
but known as ‘the Guided Bus’ or ‘the Busway’, is a ‘Bus 
Rapid Transit’ public transport scheme connecting 
some of the major conurbations along the A14 corri-
dor in Cambridgeshire. The scheme links Cambridge, 
St Ives, Huntingdon and the proposed new town of 
Northstowe to the north-west, and with Trumpington, 
Addenbrooke’s/The Cambridge Biomedical Park and 
the M11 motorway to the south. The route includes 
two sections of guided operation, a bus-only road and 
other places with on-street operation in conventional 
bus lanes. New Park and Ride sites have been built at 
Longstanton and at St Ives, with a tarmac cycle track/

bridleway provided alongside some sections of the 
route to promote better cycle links in the area.  

1-31. The busway has, and will continue to play a 
key role in providing sustainable travel choices and 
accessibility for those wishing to travel to and from 
Cambridge in the areas the busway serves.  The busway 
has had a successful beginning, with in excess of 1.75 
million passengers being carried in the first year, with 
demand projected to increase to 3.5 million in year 
three.  

Page 47



9 About Cambridge | 

East
 W

est

 R
ail 

(V
ars

ity
 Line)

Stansted

Luton

East Coast 

Ports

E

Luto

Ea

London

Figure 2  The Oxford-Cambridge-London Arc

Page 48



10 |   About Cambridge 

Busway

Fenland District

South Cambridgeshire District

City of Cambridge

East Cambridgeshire District
Huntingdonshire District

Uttlesford District
Braintree District

East Hertfordshire District

North Hertfordshire District

King's Lynn and West Norfolk District 

St. Edmundsbury District 

Forest Heath District

Bedfordshire
Central

City of Peterborough 

Ely

Newmarket

Haverhill

Sa ron Walden
Royston

Stevenage

Letchworth

Hitchin

Baldock

Biggleswade

St Neots

Huntingdon

St Ives

Ramsey
Chatteris

Peterborough

Whittkesey
March

Wisbech

Mildenhall

M11

A1(M)

A1(M)

A14(T)

A428(T)

A1
1(
T)

A14(T)

A
1
(T
)

A14(T)

A
1
0
(T
)

A14(T)

A
11
(T
)

A1

4(
T)

A4
7(
T)

A120(T)

Waterbeach

Northstowe

Cambourne

Alconbury

Wisbech

Peterborough

Huntingdon

Harlow &

Bishop’s Stortford

King’s Lynn &

Fakenham

Thetford &

Mildenhall

Cambridge

Bury St

Edmunds

Chelmsford &

Braintree

Stevenage

Figure 3  The Cambridge City Region

Page 49



11 About Cambridge | 

Cambridge’s Approach to Delivering 
Sustainable Development

Policy 1. Presumption In Favour Of 

Sustainable Development

When considering development proposals, a 

positive approach will be taken that re�ects 

the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development contained in the National 

Planning Policy Framework, working with 

applicants to �nd solutions so that proposals 

can be approved wherever possible to secure 

development that improves the economic, 

social and environmental conditions in the area.

Planning applications that accord with the 

policies in this plan (and where relevant, with 

policies in any neighbourhood plans) will 

be approved without delay, unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise.

Where there are no plan policies relevant to the 

application, or relevant policies are out of date 

at the time of making the decision, planning 

permission will be granted unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise – taking into 

account whether:

i. any adverse impacts of granting permission 

would signi�cantly and demonstrably out-

weigh the bene�ts, when assessed against 

the policies in the National Planning Policy 

Framework taken as a whole; or

ii. speci�c policies in that Framework indicate 

that development should be restricted.

1-32. At the heart of sustainable development is 
the simple idea of ensuring a better quality of life for 
everyone, both now and for future generations. Sus-
tainable development is an evolving concept, its role 
should not be pinned down too narrowly.  The Govern-
ment’s definition of sustainable development is based 
on that drawn up by the Brundtland Commission –and 
the UK Sustainable development strategy, as set out in 
the National Planning Policy Framework.  It has three 
broad aims:

 ■ social progress which recognises the needs of 
everyone;

 ■ effective protection of the environment & the 
prudent use of natural resources; and

 ■ the maintenance of high and stable levels of 
sustainable economic growth and employment.

1-33. These three aims should be secured through 
planning and design solutions which achieve them 
through optimal outcomes delivering, where possible, 
all three goals- the triple bottom line

1-34. Design solutions to build in sustainability 
relevant to culture, place, our heritage and enhancing 
and protecting sense of place, is the means of integrat-
ing these three aims and avoiding the need for di$cult 
trade offs.  Sometimes however di$cult trade offs will 
be inevitable in a city with so little land and so much 
pressure

1-35.  Sustainable development recognises that these 
three ‘circles’ of the economy, society and the environ-
ment are interconnected. Sustainable economic growth 
relies on protecting and enhancing the environmental 
resources that underpin it. Economic activities should 
be in the service of all human beings while at the same 
time safeguarding and expanding the diversity and pro-
ductivity of biophysical systems and nature’s services 
(ecosystem services) necessary for environmental well 
being and human existence and prosperity. Without 
sustainable economic growth a sustainable future can-
not be secured; equally it is recognised that the social 
function of growth is to achieve economic develop-
ment and environmental enhancement for the benefit 
of all.  Growth should not be for its own sake but Smart 
Growth which improves the quality of life.

1-36. With good planning and design that recognises 
these principles there is no necessary contradiction 
between increased levels of development and protect-
ing and enhancing the environment. Good planning 
and design helps ensure that development achieves 
these sustainability aims in an integrated, balanced and 
responsible manner.

1-37. Throughout the preparation of this Plan, 
including public consultation, a number of key themes 
have become apparent, which contribute to the defi-
nition of sustainable development in the Cambridge 
context, as outlined in Table 1 below.

1-38. The implementation of sustainable develop-
ment should apply the precautionary principle - that 
where there are threats of serious or irreversible 

Page 50



12 |   About Cambridge 

damage, lack of full scientific certainty shall not be 
used as a reason for postponing cost-effective measures 
to prevent harm to the three arms of sustainable 
development.

1-39. This plan seeks to enhance the environment 
as part of development proposals. Significant adverse 
impacts on the environment should be avoided and al-
ternative options to reduce or eliminate those impacts 
pursued. Where adverse impacts are unavoidable, plan-
ning authorities and developers should consider pos-
sible mitigation measures. Where adequate mitigation 
measures are not possible, compensatory measures 
may be appropriate. In line with the UK sustainable de-

Figure 4  The Integrated Model of Sustainable Development

What is Sustainable Development 

In the Cambridge speci�c context, sustainable development is de�ned as an ongoing process to improve the living conditions of the 

present generation that does not compromise the ability of future generations to do so.  It seeks seeks integration and improvements of 

the environmental, social and economic dimensions of development within the limits set by the environment and technology, in order to 

improve the quality of life.

Economy

Environment

NaturesServices

Renewable
Energy

Planning

Regulation

Restore Natural

Areas

Ze
ro

Wast
e

Society

Borrow

Process

Use

Recycle

Return

U
si

ng
 S

ou
nd

 S
cie

nc
e 

Re
sp

on
sib

ly

Promoting Good G
ov

er
na

nc
e

Page 51



13  About Cambridge | 

velopment strategy, environmental costs should fall on 
those who impose them – the “polluter pays” principle. 

1-40. Each following section contains an opening 
statement of how these principles of sustainable 
development will be carried through as a golden thread 
through the whole plan.  

The Challenges the Plan must Address

1-41. Cambridge is a successful city experiencing 
string economic growth even in most years of an eco-
nomic downturn.  Cambridge’s success however gener-
ates its own challenges. The key issue in Cambridge 
is balancing and managing the conflicts between two 
dynamics.     Firstly how to maintain the advantages in 
terms of sustainability and quality of life of a compact 
city, against demands for knowledge sector-led busi-
ness growth and the housing needs this generates.  
Cambridge has to manage this within a tight boundary 
and with very little land to spare.  Most of the respons-
es to our consultations address one or the other side of 
this dynamic.  The planning challenge is to integrate 
both. 

1-42. Other specific issues include:

 ■ Significant in-commuting leading to traffic con-
gestion across the City, particularly in the centre;

 ■ Enabling the continued success of the Univer-
sity of Cambridge, Anglia Ruskin University, and 
the high technology and research sectors and wider 
economy;

 ■ Enabling the development needed to maintain 
the city’s role as a city-regional centre for retail, 
leisure and cultural activities; and

 ■ Managing competing demands on land in a 
compact city with a tightly drawn boundary.

1-43. These challenges are set against a need to 
balance growth against the qualities that make Cam-
bridge special.  Throughout the development of the 
Local Plan, key areas for the Plan to address in order 
to respond to these challenges have been identified 
including:

 ■ Encouraging growth that is symbiotic with 
South Cambridgeshire;

 ■ Encouraging economic development that is in 
character with the Cambridge’s academic heritage, 
building on its strengths in the areas of high tech-
nology and research;

 ■ Maintaining the green and compact nature of 
the city;

 ■ Ensuring a well thought out transport policy 
and infrastructure, with significant investment 
in public transport and provision for cyclists and 
pedestrians;

 ■ Balancing the housing and employment needs 
with impacts on the quality of life and tranquil-
lity of residents and resource availability (notably 
water);

 ■ Ensuring that the historic qualities and charac-
ter of Cambridge, from individual heritage assets to 
the wider appreciation of townscape and landscape, 
and the interaction between them, is conserved and 
enhanced for future generations;

 ■ Ensuring that existing buildings, brownfield 
sites and infrastructure are optimised and retrofit-
ted to meet future needs using high quality sustain-
able based design;

 ■ Investing in high speed digital links to enable 
home working and a reduction in commuter and 
business travel;

 ■ Supporting communities and individuals in 
community life – provision of social infrastructure 
for all ages; and

 ■ Ensuring that development responds to our 
changing climate.

1-44. Policies in the Local Plan respond to these 
challenges, ensuring that new development meets the 
principles of sustainable development and balances 
growth against the need to preserve and enhance the 
character and setting of Cambridge.

What Comprises the Development Plan?

1-45. The Development Plan for Cambridge City 
comprises the local plan, the Cambridgeshire Minerals 
and Waste Framework and Area Actions Plans for East 
and North West Cambridge (these Area Actions Plans 
are joint plans with South Cambridgeshire).  These is 
also an Area Action Plan for the part of the Southern 
Fringe which lies within South Cambridgeshire.  Please 
read this plan in conjunction with these interlocking 
plans which collectively form the plan for the future of 
Cambridge and its hinterland.

1-46. The Cambridge East Area Action Plan will need 
some limited updating because of land availability is-
sues. 

Page 52



14 | The Spatial Strategy 

Section 2. The Spatial Strategy

The Spatial Vision

2-1. The plan has a high level vision developed 
from a range of existing strategy visions and follow-
ing discussions with key stakeholders.  It needs to be a 
spatial planning vision  - that reflective of how the City 
should be shaped over the lifetime of the plan.  This 
high level vision is designed as a galvanising idea of 
how Cambridge sees itself and where the city wants to 
be.  Cambridge is undoubtedly a world class smart city, 
which has used to lead in the knowledge economy to 
maintain its competitiveness and evolve innovative so-
lutions to its problems.  Allied to this is the concept of 
smart growth,  growth not for its own sake but which 
enhances the quality of life, securing sustainable de-
velopment, and is designed to that effect.  The Spatial 
Strategy section explains the concept of smart growth 
in more detail.   

2-2. Below this high level vision are strategic aims 
which flesh out what it will mean in spatial planning 
terms.   The plan is divided into a number of sections, 
between the first which sets out the spatial strategy, to 
the last which deals with delivery, there are sections 
which deal with cross cutting issues that effect the stra-
tegic priorities of the plan.  Each section (bar delivery) 
also has a series of strategic objectives which are specif-
ic in terms of what policy should deliver.  The sections 
then go on to set out a delivery strategy to bring about 
the outcomes set out in the strategic objectives.

2-3. The concept of a ‘Smart City’  is usually de-
fined as one where a city increases its competitiveness 
through use of advanced technology and supporting 

social infrastructure, including education. ‘A city can 
be defined as ‘smart’ when investments in human and 
social capital and traditional (transport) and modern 
(ICT) communication infrastructure fuel sustainable 
economic development and a high quality of life, with 
a wise management of natural resources, through 
participatory action and engagement.’ (Caragliu et al. 
2009, Smart Cities in Europe).

 The Vision for Cambridge to 2031

Cambridge is England’s Smart City,  protecting its outstanding heritage and delivering a 
knowledge based future with sustainable Smart Growth solutions.

What is Smart Growth?

Smart Growth is an internationally used term to refer to the growth of towns and cities which is planned to be 
sustainable and enhance the quality of life rather than growth for growth sake.  Smart Growth is the spatial mani-
festation of sustainable development.

 that minimise land take of 

of sustainable transport by focussing development around public transport nodes and corridors in compact walk-
able and cyclable neighbourhoods that provide a good range of local shops and services.   This is not just about 
the design and layout of buildings but also about the design of streets, creating complete streets designed for all 

Appendix C Section

Page 53



15The Spatial Strategy | 

Section Two  The Spatial Strategy

Cambridge maintained as a world class University City, compact, pedestrian and cycle friendly with
a thriving City Centre, surrounded by open spaces which link to the countryside beyond.

A successful City and CIty Region that is vibrant, socially mixed, safe, convenient, and enjoyable
Cambridge’s growth requirements will be met primarily by urban regeneration, sustainable urban
extensions and new settlements using the principles of Smart Growth, linked through green
corridors/cycleways and fast, frequent public transport to the City Centre, the Station and main
employment centres.

 !"#$%&'()*+!,%'-.)/0'1)"+2)3+4,)0'1)&1!$0(%+'52&,&02$*)0'1),!66+2(%'-)/0'1)!,&,)(+)7&&()+43&$(%8&/9)
assessed needs is allocated at locations in line with this strategy.

A permanent Green Belt around Cambridge will be secured with special attention given to protecting 
views of the historic skyline and the setting of the historic city. 

:)'&(;+2<)+")$&'(2&,)%,)1&#'&1)(+)7&&()2&(0%/)0'1),&28%$&,)'&&1,)0'1),&$!2%'-)(*&)1%8&2,%(9.
vitality and viability of the city centre and district and local centres.

Section Three  Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources

Cambridge will be a pioneer in its approach to sustainable development and climate change, and tran-
sitioning to a low and eventually zero carbon economy.  Development will contribute to making Cam-
bridge a water sensitive city, capable of adapting to our changing climate, making best use of energy, 
water and other natural resources, securing radical reductions in carbon emissions and minimising 
environmental impact.

Section Four  Supporting the Knowledge Economy & Managing Visitors

The role of the Cambridge Cluster of knowledge based industries and institutions will be supported, 
and facilitated as well as a diverse range of employment,  and world class communications infrastruc-
ture, to maintain competitiveness and achieve sustainable economic growth.

The growth of Cambridge’s world class universities, colleges, research and biomedical facilities will be 
supported.

Cambridge’s role as a national and international tourism destination will be supported whilst success-
fully managing pressures arising from the visitor economy.

Page 54



16 | The Spatial Strategy 

Section Five   Maintaining a Balanced Supply of Housing 

A balanced mix of high quality housing types meeting the needs of all sections of the community will 
be secured at a level to meet objectively assessed need from household growth, including the maxi-
mum reasonable proportion of affordable housing.

 !"#$%&'()*+!,%'-)"+.)/012.%3-&4,),(!3&'(,)5%66)2&)7.+8%3&3)(+)08+%3)7!((%'-),(.&,,)+')*+!,%'-)"+.)
permanent residents. 

Section Six   Protecting and Improving the Character of Cambridge

A city that maintains and improves on an enviable quality of life, where residents feel they are part of 
an inclusive community in which they have a voice.

A city where green spaces, trees, the River Cam and other water features and wildlife habitats are pro-
(&$(&3)0'3)'&5)-.&&'),70$&,)0.&)7.+8%3&3)%')0.&0,)+")3&#$%&'$9)0'3)%')'&5)$+11!'%(%&,:

A city that protects its internationally nationally important heritage: buildings, open spaces and their 
setting.

A city that expects and achieves an outstanding quality of innovative design, which integrates the old 
and new to enhance Cambridge’s distinctive identity. 

Section Seven Maintaining and Improving Local Facilities

 A city that protects its valued community facilities and expands them where needed for growth.

Space for the strategic facilities lacking and needed in the City is secured.

Section Eight  Providing the Infrastructure to Support Development

;!26%$)(.0',7+.()6%'<,)+"),!"#$%&'()=!06%(9>)".&=!&'$9)0'3)$070$%(9)5%66)2&),&$!.&3)(+)1%(%-0(&)(*&)%170$()
of growth and to maintain and improve on the City’s achievement as one where sustainable transport: 
cycling, walking and public transport is the norm rather than the exception. 

Infrastructure including education, local retail and local health facilities will be secured in a timely way 
to support development, in particular serving new communities.

Page 55



17The Spatial Strategy | 

Section Nine  Cambridge’s Localities and New Communities 

The City Centre will be maintained as the focus for retail, higher education and administration, as well 
as major facilities for all of Cambridgeshire.  Development will be carefully managed to conserve the 
character of the City Centre conservation areas and protect its listed buildings, including the setting of 
heritage assets.

New communities will be carefully masterplanned to ensure that they integrate with the city, public 
transport and open spaces and achieve the qualities of successful planned new communities.

A variety of smaller sites are allocated for developed to help meet the city’s needs.

The Strategic Objectives

Section Two  The Spatial Strategy

• Ensure that new developments are wherever possible located in areas with high quality public 
transport, to minimise the length and number of journeys by the car.
• Maximise regeneration and the reuse of previously developed land (where this is not of high 
 !"#$%!& !'()*"()+ ,*(!-*&(. */+))*(!-* /01# !'*+2 *%/*())*)(!-3*45#)2'*6$%' 1'#!7*(!-* !5(!1#!7*'5 *
skyline and views of the historic city.
• Provide the development required to meet the key land use requirements of the city, meeting 
the targets set out in the plan.
• Maintain and strengthen the regional role of Cambridge City centre as a primary focus for 
shopping, administrative, leisure and cultural activities, with district centres and centres serving neigh-
bourhood’s needs.

Section Three  Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources

• To ensure that a water sensitive urban design approach is taken in all development propos-
()2*2%*'5('*'5 8*($ *(66$%6$#(' *#!*' $&2*%/*9%%-*$#2.*(!-*4(' $*:%-8*;+()#'83*2  *4(' $*(2*(*"()+(:) *
resource and have a positive impact on the River Cam and other water features.
• That Cambridge contributes fully to carbon reduction targets including; by design the principles 
of sustainable design and construction are integrated into development proposals, and through sup-
porting community energy projects.
• A city that operates sustainable waste management and minimises pollution and noise.

Page 56



18 | The Spatial Strategy 

Section Four  Supporting the Knowledge Economy & Managing Visitors

• To enable Cambridge’s leadership role in world class higher education, research, biomedical and 
knowledge based industries.
• To strengthen and diversity the local economy
 to provide a range of employment opportunities.
• To maintain Cambridge’s role as a national and international tourism destination whilst success-
fully managing pressures arising from the visitor economy.

Section Five   Maintaining a Balanced Supply of Housing 

• To provide a balanced mix of housing of different sizes, meeting the needs arising from house-
hold growth, and meeting the full spectrum of need for affordable housing as far as resources and 
viability allows.

Section Six   Protecting and Improving the Character of Cambridge

• To ensure that Cambridge is an exemplar in urban design, with outstanding buildings and new com-
munities that add to the character and connectivity of the city.

• To preserve, enhance and positively manage change in Cambridge’s exceptional heritage legacy of 
archaeology, buildings, historic areas and open spaces, important views, skyline and green corridors, 
landscape features and setting of the city.

•  !"#$!%&'%"%(&")&%*!$+"!,"!#&)"-#.'&-"/)"%(&"0/%1".)2"#$!%&'%".)2"&)(.)'&"#3.1/)45"6&32-"-#!$%5"
arts, cultural and leisure facilities.  

Section Seven Maintaining and Improving Local Facilities

•  Ensuring the full range of local community facilities (including pubs) are provided.

Page 57



19The Spatial Strategy | 

Section Eight  Providing the Infrastructure to Support Development

• To ensure the uses sustainable modes of transport, walking, cycling grows and continues to be 
the predominant form of transport in the City.
 ! "#!$%#&'()!*+,-.')/0!)1$2/*'#/!'/!*.3##4!$42.)*5!$%'62%7!.2%)!2/(!#03)%!.#66+/'07!,2.'4'0')*!0#!
match the growth of the city without detriment to existing residents. 

Section Nine   Cambridge’s Localities and New Communities 

• To ensure that the new communities and major sites in the plan are delivered successfully.
• To maintain and enhance the multiple functions and unique character of the City Centre.

Page 58



32 |  Responding to Climate Change and Managing  Resources 

Section 3.  Responding to Climate Change and Managing  

Resources

How Policies in This Section Deliver 
Sustainable Development

3-1. The Local Plan will seek to ensure that Cam-
bridge develops in the most sustainable way possible.  
This means delivering our social and economic aspira-
tions without compromising the environmental limits 
of the city for current and future generations, so that 
Cambridge becomes a low carbon, water sensitive city 
with a thriving economy.  For this to be achieved, a ho-
listic approach to sustainable development and reduc-
ing the environmental impact of development should 
be embedded within all development proposals from 
the outset.

3-2. This section focuses on how the Local Plan 
will contribute to the achievement of sustainable 
development in terms of how the plan will address the 
challenge of mitigating and adapting to our changing 
climate as well as other resource management issues.  
Climate change mitigation focuses on designing new 
communities and buildings to be energy and resource 

generation and promoting patterns of development 
that reduce the need to travel by less environmentally 
friendly modes of transport.  Climate change adapta-
tion focuses on ensuring that new developments and 
the wider community are adaptable to our changing 
climate. For Cambridge, this is likely to involve an 
increase in the urban heat island effect due to increas-
ing temperatures and an increase in flooding, both 
from rivers and watercourses and from surface water 
flooding following periods of intense rainfall.  Policies 
are included with the objective of making Cambridge a 
water sensitive city, where new developments contrib-
ute to an overall flood risk reduction and help improve 
the quality of water bodies.  This section also seeks to 
ensure that new development contributes to improve-
ments in the environmental quality of Cambridge, 
including improvements to air quality, reduction in 
noise and better management of waste.

Climate Change and Sustainable Design 
and Construction

Policy 9. Carbon Reduction, 

Community Energy Networks, 

Sustainable Design and 

Construction and Water Use

Developments will be permitted where it 

is demonstrated how the proposals meet 

the presumption in favour of sustainable 

development.  This will include the integration 

of the principles of sustainable design and 

construction as far as is reasonable and 

proportionate to do so.  Developers of major 

development, including redevelopment 

Sustainability Statement as part of the Design 

and Access Statement, submitted with their 

planning application, outlining their approach 

to tackling the following issues:

i. adaptation to climate change;

ii. carbon reduction;

iii. water management;

iv. site waste management; and

v. use of materials.

In order to ensure that the growth of 

Cambridge supports the achievement of 

national carbon reduction targets, and does 

not exacerbate Cambridge’s severe water 

stress, all new development will be required 

to meet the following minimum standards of 

sustainable construction, carbon reduction and 

that such provision is not technically or 

economically viable:

Appendix D  Section

Page 59



33Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  | 

New Residential Development

Year Minimum 

Code for 

Sustainable 

Homes  

Standard

On-Site 

Reduction of 

Regulated  

Carbon Emis-

sions relative 

to Part L 2006 

Water 

E�ciency

2014 Level 4 44% 80 litres/head/

day

2016 Level 4 44% - 60% 

on-site, with 

remainder dealt 

with through 

Allowable 

Solutions (as per 

national zero 

carbon policy)

80 litres/head/

day

New Non-Residential Development

Year Minimum 

Code for 

Sustainable 

Homes  

Standard

On-Site Car-

bon Reduction

Water 

E�ciency

2014 Very good In line with 2013 

Part L 

Full credits to 

be achieved for 

category Wat 01 

of BREEAM

2016 Excellent In line with 2016 

Part L

Full credits to 

be achieved for 

category Wat 01 

of BREEAM

2019 Excellent In line with na-

tional zero carbon 

policy

Full credits to 

be achieved for 

category Wat 01 

of BREEAM

In order to promote the use of community 

energy networks, a Strategic District Heating 

Area is shown on the Proposals Map.  Major 

development proposals within this area should 

where possible connect to existing or proposed 

heat networks.  This requirement will be relaxed 

should applicants be able to provide evidence 

that doing so would impact on the viability of 

schemes.

3-3. It is increasingly recognised that one of the 
most important factors in delivering a successful 
scheme is ensuring that sustainability is a key part of 
the brief for any development and is therefore inte-
grated into the design from the outset.  This almost 
always leads to a better design and lower overall life-
time costs, as options are greater at an early stage and 
there is more scope to identify options that achieve 
multiple aims.  Sustainable design and construction is 
concerned with the implementation of sustainable de-
velopment at the scale of individual sites and buildings.  
It takes account of the resources used in construction, 
and of the environmental, social and economic impacts 
of the construction process itself and how buildings are 
designed and used.  

3-4. The choice of sustainability measures and how 
they are implemented may vary substantially from 
development to development.  However, the general 
principles of sustainable design and construction 
should be applied to all scales and types of develop-
ment. The following areas should be covered in the 
Sustainability Statement:

i)  Climate Change Adaptation

3-5. Climate change adaptation is a term that 
describes measures that can be put into place to help 
new and existing communities adapt to the changes in 
our climate that are now inevitable.  For Cambridge, 
the climate risks, as set out in the Council’s Climate 
Change  Risk Assessment and Management Plan 
(2009), are:

 ■ Increased peak summer temperatures, with 
summer temperatures 1.5 degrees higher by the 
2020s and 4 degrees higher by 2080;

 ■ Drier summers with 7% less summer rain by 
the 2020s and 26% less by the 2080s;

 ■ More intense storms including higher peak 
rainfall and winds;

 ■ Lower overall annual rainfall.

Page 60



34 |  Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  

Figure 5 Approaches to Climate Change Adaptation

A:  Building Scale Approaches

B:  Site Wide Approaches

(1) Green roof to slow down building runoff and reduce internal cooling loads

(2) Enhanced tree canopy cover to provide shade and increase evaporative cooling

(3) Integration of Sustainable Drainage into the public real to manage surface water, increase evaporative cooling and 
enhance biodiversity

(4) Building overhangs to reduce excessive summer solar gain

Page 61



35 Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  | 

Figure 6 External shutters may become a necessary addition in the UK.  Image courtesy of AC 
Architects.

3-6. Planning has an important role to play in 
shaping places and securing new development so as 
to minimise vulnerability and provide resilience to 
impacts arising from climate change, doing so in ways 
consistent with cutting greenhouse gas emissions.  All 
developments should be designed to be adaptable to 
our changing climate, both in terms of building design 
and green and blue infrastructure.  Adaptation meas-
ures can be implemented on a variety of scales, from 
individual buildings up to community and conurbation 
scale, as described in the Town and Country Planning 
Association’s “Climate change adaptation by design. A 
guide for sustainable communities” (2007).   

3-7. The Sustainability Statement within the Design 
and Access Statement will need to illustrate the differ-
ent adaptation measures that have been implemented, 
and some examples of how this could be approached 
are provided in Figure 5, Figure 6, and Figure 7.  
These figures and images are for illustrative purposes 
only and the precise measures to be implemented will 
vary from development to development, taking ac-
count of the context of each specific proposal.  In some 
instances, there may be opportunities for adaptation 
measures that will have benefits beyond site bounda-
ries, and opportunities for measures that will have a 
cumulative impact in areas where development is to be 
phased should also be pursued.  

Page 62



36 |  Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  

Figure 7 Angled façade increases solar gain 
in the winter and reduces unwanted 
heat in the summer

Page 63



37 Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  | 

ii)  Carbon Reduction

3-8. All development should be designed to mini-
mise carbon and other greenhouse gas emissions as-
sociated with new development, taking account of the 
hierarchical approach to reducing carbon emissions.  A 
three-pronged approach should be taken that minimis-
es the energy demand of new buildings, utilises energy 
e!cient supply through low carbon technologies and 
supplies energy from new, renewable energy sources, as 
illustrated in Figure 8. 

To reduce a building’s carbon footprint, it is important that a 
simple energy hierarchy is used

Reduce the need for energy
in the buildings design

 !"#"$"%&'#()%"#"*+,-"$./'
in the building

Supply Energy from
Renewable Sources

1 2 3

Figure 8 The Energy Hierarchy

iii)  Water Management 

3-9. Cambridge is in an area of severe water stress.  
The introduction of high levels of water e!ciency in 
new developments is therefore vital to ensure the long-
term sustainability and viability of development.  As 
such, new development will need to be designed to op-
timise the opportunities for e!cient water use, reuse 
and recycling, including integrated water management 
and water conservation.  Designing water conservation 
measures into infrastructure and buildings to reduce 
per capita water demand should be a fundamental ap-
proach for all new development.  Policy 9 above sets 
targets for water consumption in line with Levels 5 and 
6 of the Code for Sustainable Homes for new housing 

and BREEAM standards for non-residential develop-
ment.

3-10. All new developments should be designed to 
optimise the reduction of construction waste through 
design and to maximise the reuse and recycling of ma-
terials at all stages of a developments life cycle.  Devel-
opment proposals should also provide well designed, 
integrated recycling and waste facilities for future 
occupants helping to increase recycling and reduce 
waste being sent to landfill.  Consideration needs to be 

given to internal and external storage capacity.   Refer-
ence should be made to the requirements set out in 
the RECAP Waste Management Design Guide and the 
Council’s own guidance on household water recycling 
facilities in new development.  The Council will be 
supportive of innovative approaches to waste manage-
ment. 

Page 64



38 |  Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  

iv)  Site Waste Management

3-11. All new developments should be designed to 

optimise the reduction of construction waste through 

design and to maximise the reuse and recycling of 

materials at all stages of a developments’ life cycle.  

Development proposals should also provide well 

designed, integrated recycling and waste facilities 

for future occupants helping to increase recycling 

 !"#$%"&'%#( )*%#+%,!-#)%!*#*.#/ !"0//1##2.!),"-

eration needs to be given to internal and external 

storage capacity.   Reference should be made to the 

$%3&,$%4%!*)#)%*#.&*#,!#*5%#67289#: )*%#; ! -%-

4%!*#<%),-!#=&,"%# !"#*5%#2.&!',/>)#.(!#-&," !'%#

on household waste and recycling facilities in new 

"%?%/.@4%!*)1##A5%#2.&!',/#(,//#+%#)&@@.$*,?%#.B#

innovative approaches to waste management. 

v)  Use of Materials

3-12. All new developments should be designed to 
maximise resource e!ciency and identify, source, and 
use environmentally and socially responsible materials.  
There are four principle considerations that should 
influence the sourcing of materials:

 ■ Responsible sourcing – sourcing materials 
from known legal and certified sources through the 
use of environmental management systems and 
chain of custody schemes including the sourcing 
of timber accredited by the Forestry Stewardship 
Scheme (FSC);

 ■ Secondary materials – reclaiming and reus-
ing material arising from the demolition of existing 
buildings and preparation of sites for development 
as well as materials from other post consumer 
waste streams;

 ■ Embodied impact of materials – the aim 
should be to maximise the specification of major 
building elements to achieve an area-weighted 
rating of A or B as defined in the Green Guide to 
Building Specification.  Consideration should also 
be given to locally sourced materials;

 ■ Healthy materials – where possible developers 
should specify materials that represent a lower risk 
to the health of both construction workers and oc-
cupants.  For example, selecting materials with zero 
or low volatile organic compound (VOC) levels to 
provide a healthy environment for residents.

3-13. As well as the consideration of these design and 
construction issues, the Sustainability Statement in 
support of the application should also address how the 
proposals meet all other policies relating to sustainabil-
ity throughout the plan, including:

 ■ Biodiversity and ecology;

 ■ Land, water, noise and air pollution;

 ■ Transport, mobility and access;

 ■ Health and wellbeing including provision of 
open space;

 ■ Culture, heritage and the quality of built form, 
including efficient use of land.

3-14. This policy also sets out requirements in rela-
tion to sustainable construction standards, carbon re-
duction and water e!ciency.  The Climate Change Act 
2008 contains a statutory target of securing a reduc-
tion in carbon dioxide levels of 80% below 1990 levels 
by 2050, with an interim target of 34% reduction by 
2020.  The achievement of national targets for the re-
duction of carbon emissions will require action across 
all sectors of energy use.  Within Cambridge, this will 
involve balancing the overall increase in emissions as-
sociated with new development with the opportunities 
that these new developments offer for reducing carbon 
and greenhouse gas emissions, through measures such 
as improving energy e!ciency and the provision of 
on-site renewable and low carbon energy generation.  
A high standard of construction in new development 
is therefore important if the UK is to meet its legally 
binding carbon reduction targets.

3-15. Nationally described sustainable construction 
standards have been developed for both new homes 
(the Code for Sustainable Homes) and new non-resi-
dential buildings (BREEAM).  Alongside these stand-
ards sits the Government’s zero carbon policy agenda, 
which requires all new homes to be zero carbon by 
2016, and all non-residential buildings to be zero car-
bon by 2019, with public buildings leading the way in 
2018.  

3-16. There are many approaches that can be taken 
to meeting the construction standards required by this 
policy including construction methods such as Pas-
sivhaus standard.  The Council will be supportive of 
innovative approaches to meeting and exceeding the 
standards set out in policy.  Where other construction 
standards are proposed for new developments, for ex-
ample LEED (Leadership in Energy and Environmental 
Design), these will be supported provided that it can 
be demonstrated that they are broadly in line with 

Page 65



39Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  | 

the standards set out above, particularly in relation to 
carbon reduction and water e!ciency.

3-17. It may be possible in some areas for develop-
ment to exceed the policy requirements set out above.  
For example, developments located within the Strate-
gic District Heating Area may be able to achieve higher 
levels of carbon reduction than set out in policy, which 
in turn could lead to higher construction standards 
being achievable.  In order to maximise opportunities 
to exceed minimum policy requirements, developers 
will be encouraged to engage with the Council from an 
early stage through pre application discussions.   The 
policy will also be reviewed periodically so that should 
any significant changes be made to the construction 
standards, the policy can be updated to reflect these 
changes.

3-18. Where redevelopment/refurbishment of exist-
ing buildings is proposed, the development of bespoke 
assessment methodologies to assess the environmental 
impact of the proposals for submission with the plan-
ning application will be supported. 

 vi)  Community Energy Networks

3-19. The Strategic District Heating Area coincides 
with a district heating project being undertaken by 
Cambridge City Council and the University of Cam-
bridge, as well as the findings of the Decarbonising 
Cambridge Study (2010) and Cambridgeshire Renewa-
bles Infrastructure Framework (2012).  

3-20. A benefit of such an approach is that it can pro-
vide developers with a ready made solution for them 
to meet their future planning policy and Zero Carbon 
policy requirements at minimum cost, particularly in 
constrained city centre sites where opportunities for 
other renewable and low carbon energy generation 
would be limited.  Requiring new buildings to be com-
patible with district heat networks entails the follow-
ing considerations:

 ■ Ensuring that plant rooms have access arrange-
ments for entry of a heat main;

 ■ Ensuring that the flow and return heating 
temperatures for buildings are optimised to suit the 
heat networks;

 ■ Ensuring that other buried services do not cre-
ate barriers to laying heat mains, and, where possi-
ble, providing suitable duct space;

 ■ Ensuring that the layout and density of new 
development is such that it minimises, as far as pos-

sible, the cost of laying heat mains, and

 ■ Ensuring that individual sub-metering arrange-
ments are out in place for each development..

Policy 10. Allowable Solutions for Zero 

Carbon Development

Where compliance with national zero carbon 

policy necessitates the use of the Allowable 

Solutions Framework, developers will have the 

option to:

i. deliver their own allowable solutions locally;

ii. make a contribution to the Cambridgeshire 

Community Energy Fund; or

iii. o!set via third-party allowable solutions 

providers into a project selected from a local 

Energy E"ciency and Renewable and Low 

Carbon Energy Infrastructure Projects List.

The Cambridgeshire Community Energy Fund 

will be used to invest in energy e"ciency and 

renewable/low carbon energy projects that 

have direct bene#t for Cambridgeshire.  Projects 

for investment will be identi#ed and form part 

of an Energy E"ciency and Renewable and 

Low Carbon Energy Infrastructure Projects 

List, which would then be used as the basis 

for allocating developers allowable solutions 

contributions. 

 

    

3-21. By 2016 all new homes are expected to be zero 
carbon under national zero carbon policy.  Part of the 
definition of zero carbon development includes the 
concept that after delivering a certain level of carbon 
reduction on-site, known as ‘carbon compliance’, de-
velopers can then choose to offset remaining emissions 
through a range of measures known as ‘allowable solu-
tions’, as illustrated in Figure 9 .  Allowable solutions 
are grouped into three categories:

 ■ On-site options (not duplicating carbon com-
pliance measures) such as the installation of smart 
appliances, home electric vehicle charging and LED 
street lights;

 ■ Near-site options such as the export of low car-
bon heat from a site based district heating scheme 
or retrofitting low/zero carbon technologies to local 
community buildings; andPage 66



40 |  Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  

 ■ Off-site options such as investment in district 
heating pipework to connect new loads to existing 
schemes or support new schemes.

3-22. One of the measures included within the Al-
lowable Solutions Framework is the development of 
community energy funds.  Developers would be able to 
choose to pay into such a fund, to offset any residual 
carbon reduction that could not be delivered on-site.  
Money from the fund would then be used to invest in 
energy e"ciency and renewable and low carbon energy 
projects. Money will be collected via a bespoke Allow-
able Solutions collection mechanism and not linked 
to the Community Infrastructure Levy or Planning 
Obligations.

3-23. The Cambridgeshire Community Energy Fund 
project has looked at the potential to set up an inno-
vative locally led fund that would channel developer 
investment from allowable solutions into local low 
carbon infrastructure projects.  The establishment of 
this fund will be an effective mechanism for ensuring 
that the benefits of allowable solutions remain within 
Cambridgeshire, having direct community benefit for 
the areas in which development is being undertaken.  

3-24. Projects for investment will be identified and 
form part of an Energy E"ciency and Renewable and 
Low Carbon Energy Infrastructure Projects List, which 
would then be used for the basis of allocating develop-
ers allowable solutions contributions.  Arrangements 
for producing the local projects list will be put into 
place ahead of the policy coming into effect in 2016.  
This list will be kept updated to ensure that projects 

providing maximum benefit, both in terms of carbon 
savings and benefits for Cambridgeshire residents and 
the local economy are given priority.  All projects on 
the list would need to meet the test of ‘additionality’, 
i.e. projects that would not otherwise be delivered via 
existing support mechanisms.  This list is being devel-
oped as part of the Cambridgeshire wide Mobilising 
Local Energy Investment project.

Figure 9 Allowable Solutions

Zero Carbon

Allowable 

Solutions

On Site Low-Carbon

Heat and Power

Fabric Energy E!ciency

Carbon

Compliance

Target

Page 67



41Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  | 

Policy 11. Renewable and Low Carbon 

Energy Generation 

Proposals for development involving the 

provision of renewable and/or low carbon 

energy generation, including community 

energy projects, will be supported, subject to 

the acceptability of their wider impacts.  As 

part of such proposals, the following should be 

demonstrated:

i. that any adverse impacts to the environ-

ment, including local amenity and impacts 

on the historic environment, including its 

setting, have been minimised as far as pos-

sible.  These considerations will include air 

quality concerns, particularly where pro-

posals fall within or close to the Air Quality 

Management Area(s) or areas where air 

pollution levels are approaching the EU 

Limit Values, as well as noise issues associ-

ated with certain renewable and low carbon 

technologies;

ii. that where any localised adverse envi-

ronmental e!ects remain, that these are 

outweighed by the wider environmental, 

economic or social bene"ts of the scheme.

3-25. Increasing the proportion of energy generated 
from renewable and low carbon sources will help Cam-
bridge to meet its vision of a low carbon city.  As well 
as national targets for carbon reduction, there are also 
targets in relation to energy supplied from renewable 
energy sources, with a legal commitment for the UK to 
meet 15% of its energy requirements from renewable 
sources by 2020 .

3-26. A number of studies have assessed Cambridges’ 
potential for renewable and low carbon energy genera-
tion.  These studies suggest that the main focus for 
renewable and low carbon energy generation will be 
from the potential Cambridge offers for the develop-
ment of district heat networks and the utilisation of 
microgeneration such as solar panels.  The Council 
recognises that the opportunities for stand-alone re-
newable energy schemes within Cambridge are limited.  
However, it is keen to support opportunities where 
they arise, in particular small-scale and community 
schemes that are most likely to be viable within Cam-
bridge.  

3-27. While the Council wishes to promote renew-
able and low carbon energy generation, there is also a 
need to balance this desire against other objectives for 
the city such as minimising pollution and protection 
and enhancement of the historic environment.  Ap-
plicants are expected to have taken appropriate steps to 
mitigate any adverse impacts through careful consid-
eration of:

 ■ Location, scale, design and other measures, 
including those necessary to minimise any noise 
impacts;

 ■ Cumulative impacts;

 ■ Impacts on the landscape, the built environ-
ment, cultural heritage and biodiversity.

3-28. Other policies in the Local Plan concern the 
safeguarding of the natural and historic environment 
and the protection of international, national or locally 
designated sites and buildings, and these should be 
taken into account in applications for energy schemes.

3-29. Potential impacts may be acceptable if they are 
minor, or are outweighed by wider benefits including 
the need for energy from renewable and low carbon 
sources, which will contribute to reducing carbon and 
other emissions.

Policy 12. Energy E!ciency 

Improvements in Existing 

Dwellings

In order to assist with achievement of the Plan’s 

vision for a low carbon city, and to tackle issues 

of rising fuel costs for residents, applications 

for extensions to existing dwellings and/or the 

conversion of ancillary residential #oorspace to 

living accommodation, should be accompanied 

by cost e!ective improvements to the energy 

e$ciency of the existing dwelling, where such 

measures have not already been implemented.  

 
The aim of the policy is to help homeowners imple-
ment measures that will enhance the energy e%ciency 
of their homes, therefore helping to reduce fuel costs 
at a time of rising energy prices.  In some cases this 
might help to reduce the risk of homeowners finding 
themselves in fuel poverty, or in cases where residents 
are already in fuel poverty, help to get them out of this 
situation.  

Page 68



42 |  Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  

3-30. The focus is on cost effective measures with a 
simple payback of seven years or less and that would 
be relatively simple to install with limited disruption.   
Many of these measures will be eligible for funding 
through the Green Deal.  Cambridge City Council, 
alongside the other Cambridgeshire local authorities 
and Cambridgeshire County Council will be taking 
a partnership approach to delivering the Green Deal 
across the county, in order to ensure that it is a success 
and that the uptake of energy e"ciency measures in 
buildings is maximised.  Working with a local Green 
Deal provider the authorities will be taking an active 
role in promoting the Green Deal to local residents, 
which will assist with the delivery of this policy.  

3-31. Care will need to be taken in applying the 
policy to Listed Buildings and other heritage assets 
to ensure that they are not damaged by inappropriate 
interventions.  The implementation of the policy will 
be on a case by case basis, with o"cers recommend-
ing measures that would be suitable for that particular 
property, bearing in mind its age, type of construction 
and historic significance.   There may be cases where 
improvements cannot be made to an existing dwelling 
without causing harm to the significance of the herit-
age asset, and in such circumstances the requirements 
of this policy will not be implemented. 

Integrated Water Management

Policy 13. Integrated Water 

Management and the Water 

Cycle

Development will be permitted provided that in 

the design:

i. surface water is managed close to its source 

and on the surface where it reasonably prac-

ticable to do so;

ii. priority is given to the use of nature ser-

vices;

iii. water is seen as a resource and is re-used 

where practicable, o!setting potable water 

demand and that a water sensitive ap-

proach is taken to the design of the devel-

opment;

iv. the features that manage surface water are 

commensurate with the design of the devel-

opment in terms of size, form and materials 

and make an active contribution to making 

places for people; 

v. surface water management features are 

multi-functional wherever possible in their 

land use;

vi. any "at roof, is a green or brown roof provid-

ing that it is acceptable in terms of its con-

text in the historic environment of the city 

(see Policy x) and the structural capacity of 

the roof if a refurbishment.  Green or brown 

roofs should be widely utilised in large scale 

new communities;

vii. there is no discharge from the developed 

site for rainfall depths up to 5 mm;  

viii. the run-o! from all hard surfaces shall 

receive an appropriate level of treatment in 

accordance with The SuDS Manual (CIRIA 

C697) to minimise the risk of pollution; De-

velopment adjacent to a water body actively 

seeks to enhance the water body in terms of 

its hydromorphology, biodiversity potential 

and setting; and

ix. watercourses are not culverted and any op-

portunity to remove culverts is taken.

Page 69



43 Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  | 

Note: Nature services is defined by the National Planning 
Policy Framework as ‘The benefits people obtain from eco-
systems such as, food, water, flood and disease control and 
recreation’.  These are also known as ecosystem services.

3-32. The Surface Water Management Plan  and 
Strategic Flood Risk Assessment for Cambridge  have 
found there is little or no capacity in our rivers and wa-
tercourses that eventually receive surface water runoff 
from the city and that it needs to be adequately man-
aged so that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. The 
appropriate application of sustainable drainage systems 
to manage surface water within a development is the 
approach recommended within the Technical Guid-
ance to the National Planning Policy Framework  as a 
way of managing this risk.

3-33. Current best practice guidance such as The 
SuDS Manual and Planning for SuDS (CIRIA C697 
and C687) should be followed in the design of devel-
opments of all sizes, with design principles that are 
important to Cambridge set out in this policy.   The use 
of smaller more resilient features distributed through-
out a development instead of one large management 
feature should be utilised.   Figure 10 provide exam-
ples of how to successfully integrate SuDS into a range 
of developments.

3-34. Managing water close to where it falls and on 
the surface is often the most cost effective way to man-
age surface water. Early consideration in the design 
process helps achieve this. Managing water on the 
surface is an opportunity to celebrate water and create 
Cambridge distinctive developments.

3-35. Climate change will see times of too much wa-
ter and times of too little water more frequently than 
we get now. The design of new developments should 
reflect this change and value water as a resource than 
can be stored in times of plenty for re-use in times of 
deficit.

3-36. Green/brown roofs are a key measure in terms 
of Cambridge’s climate change adaptation policy.  They 
offer multiple benefits for a comparatively small ad-
ditional construction cost, including forming part of 
an effective sustainable drainage solution, reducing the 
amounts of storm water run-off and attenuating peak 
flow rates.  In the summer, a green roof can typically 
retain between 70-80% of rainfall run-off.  Predicted 
climate change means that Cambridge will experience 
increasing risks of flooding, overheating and drought, 
manifested through hotter drier summers and warmer 
wetter winters.  Living roofs can reduce the negative 
effects of climate change, for example by improving a 
building’s energy balance and reducing carbon emis-
sions.  The use of vegetation on a roof surface amelio-

rates the negative thermal effects of conventional roof 
surfaces through the cooling effect of evapotranspira-
tion, which can also help ameliorate the Urban Heat 
Island Effect.  It can also provide benefit in the form of 
insulation, helping to reduce the internal cooling load 
of buildings thereby reducing energy use and associat-
ed carbon emissions.  The biodiversity benefits of green 
roofs are manifold, supporting rare and interesting 
types of plant, which in turn can host a variety of rare 
and interesting fauna.  Accessible roof space can also 
provide outdoor living space, particularly in high den-
sity development.  As such, accessible roof space should 
be viewed as an integral element of a well-designed, 
high quality, high density, more e'cient, attractive and 
liveable city. 

3-37. Green/brown roofs can be more cost effective 
than a traditional roof over the lifetime of a develop-
ment. A flat roof is defined as a roof with a slope of 
between 0° and 10° in pitch.

3-38. The Water Framework Directive and the as-
sociated River Basin Management Plan for the Anglian 
region requires public bodies to have a positive im-
pact on the quality of lakes, rivers and groundwater 
collectively called water bodies.  The water bodies in 
Cambridge are currently failing to achieve the required 
status of ‘good’.  Quality refers to the quality of the wa-
ter body in terms of the quality of the water itself, the 
quality of the shape and form of the water body and 
the quality of the biodiversity of the water body.

3-39. This policy seeks to ensure all surface water 
that is discharged to ground or into rivers, watercours-
es and sewers has an appropriate level of treatment to 
reduce the risk of diffuse pollution. 

3-40. The policy also recognises that development 
adjacent to a water body provides an opportunity for 
both the development and the water body and that 
they should complement and enhance each other.

Page 70



44 |  Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  

1. Wetland area within large open space
2. Permeable paving within residential 

street/mews
3. Natural Waterway
4. Green Roofs
5. Rainwater collection from roofs in 

front gardens/water butts
6. Rainwater harvesting
7. Roadside swale

Figure 10 SuDs in Different Settings

High Density Setting

1. Filter strip and retention pond 
within residential square

2. Permeable paving within residen-
tial street/mews

3. Roadisde bio-retention tree pits
4. Gravel/permeable surfaces within 

residential square
5. Green Roofs
6. Roof Gardens
7. Rainwater collection from roofs 

in front gardens/water butts

1. Urban square with permeable 
Paving

2. Retention pond with integrated 
seating

3. Rill within pedestrianised Shop-
ping Street

4. Brown roofs within town centre
5. Rain garden/planted bioretention 

element
6. Green Roofs
7. Roof Gardens
8. Permeable paving within street
9. Bioretention tree pits within 

square

Medium Density Setting

Low Density Setting Page 71



45 Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  | 

Figure 11 Wetspots (Pluvial Flood Risk)

±
1:50,000

Legend

City Boundary

Wetspots

© crown copyright and database 2013. Ordnance Survey Licence number 100019730

Page 72



46 |  Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  

Policy 14. Flood Risk

A. Potential �ood risk from the 

development

Development will be permitted providing it is 

demonstrated that:

i. The peak rate of run-o! over the develop-

ment lifetime, allowing for climate change, 

is no greater for the developed site than it 

was for the undeveloped site; 

ii. The post development volume of run-o!, 

allowing for climate change over the devel-

opment lifetime, is no greater than it would 

have been for the undeveloped site. If this 

cannot be achieved then the limiting dis-

charge is 2 l/s/ha for all events up to the 100 

year return period event ;

iii. The development is designed so that the 

"ooding of property in and adjacent to the 

development would not occur for a 1 in 100 

year event plus an allowance for climate 

change and in the event of local drainage 

system failure;

iv. The discharge locations have the capacity to 

receive all foul and surface water "ows from 

the development. Including discharge by in-

#ltration, into water bodies and into sewers;

v. There is a management and maintenance 

plan for the lifetime of the development. 

which shall include the arrangements for 

adoption by any public authority or statuto-

ry undertaker and any other arrangements 

to secure the operation of the scheme 

throughout its lifetime; and

vi. The destination of the discharge obeys the 

following priority order:

   a. #rstly to ground via in#ltration, 

  b. then, to a water bod,y 

  c. fhen, to a surface water sewer

 Discharge to a foul water or combined 

sewer is unacceptable.

B.  Potential �ood risk to the development

Development will be permitted if an assessment 

of the "ood risk is undertaken following the 

principles of the National Planning Policy 

Framework and additionally:

For an undeveloped site:

vii. If it is not located within "ood zone 3b, un-

less it is a water compatible development 

and does not increase "ood risk elsewhere 

by either displacement of "ood water or in-

terruption of "ood "ow routes and employs 

"ood resilient and resistant construction 

including appropriate boundary treatment 

and has a safe means of evacuation; 

viii. If it is not located within "ood zone 3a, un-

less it is a water compatible development or 

minor development when the principles in 

a) above apply; 

ix. If it is located within "ood zone 2 or a 

surface water wetspot and employs "ood 

resilient and resistant construction as ap-

propriate; and

x. Floor levels are 300mm above the 1 in 

100 year "ood level plus an allowance for 

climate change where appropriate and/

or 300mm above adjacent highway levels 

where appropriate.

For a previously developed site:

Opportunities should be taken to reduce the 

existing "ood risk by the positioning of any 

development such that it does not increase 

"ood risk elsewhere by either displacement 

of "ood water or interruption of "ood "ow 

routes and employs "ood resilient and resistant 

construction including appropriate boundary 

treatment and has a safe means of evacuation.

Page 73



47 Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  | 

3-41.  Both the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment  and 
Surface Water Management Plan for Cambridge  have 
found that without the mitigation measures outlined 
in this policy, developments could increase flood risk 
elsewhere.  Flood risk assessments should make refer-
ence to the latest version of these studies. There is 
also an opportunity to reduce the overall flood risk in 
Cambridge through re-development. This policy seeks 
to address this with the same design standards applied 
to new developments on previously developed sites as 
undeveloped sites as this refers to the site in its natural 
state prior to any development taking place. 

3-42. The rivers, watercourses, sewers and ground 
conditions throughout Cambridge have varying 
amounts of capacity for flow from new developments 
and an adequate assessment of this capacity must be 
undertaken to support any development proposals.  
This policy builds upon the standards currently being 
achieved in the major growth sites on the fringes of 
Cambridge.

3-43. The appropriate responsible bodies including 
The Environment Agency, Anglian Water and Cam-
bridgeshire County Council should be consulted, as 
appropriate, during the initial design process for any 
new development or re-development.

3-44. The Great Ouse Catchment Flood Manage-
ment Plan  has assessed how an increase in the flow 
of water in rivers and watercourses due to climate 
change will affect Cambridge. It has concluded that 
flood zones will be inundated more frequently and for 
longer. This seeks to clarify what development would 
be acceptable in which flood zones.  The findings of the 
Surface Water Management Plan for Cambridge high-
lights the importance of a careful consideration of the 
levels within a development such that if extreme events 
occur or there is a maintenance issue that causes the 
drainage system to stop working, properties will not 
flood, as a result of surface water (pluvial) flooding.

3-45. In flood zone 3 water maybe flowing in the 
general direction of the river and interruption of these 
flows can increase flood risk to adjacent developments.  
As such, careful consideration must be given to the 
positioning of development on site so there is no inter-
ruption of these flows is necessary in the design of a 
development. This should also include the considera-
tion of boundary treatments to enable floodwater to 

flow with a minimum of hindrance to the flow.

Figure 12 Sustainable drainage is an integral 
component of Cambridge’s historic 
environment

Page 74



48 |  Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  

Public Health and Safety

Policy 15. Contaminated Land

Development will be permitted where the 

applicant can demonstrate that:

i. there will be no adverse health impacts to 

future occupiers from ground contamina-

tion resulting from exiting/previous uses of 

the area, and

ii. there will be no adverse impacts, from 

ground contamination, to the surrounding 

occupiers and environment, caused by the 

development.  

Where contamination is suspected  an  

assessment should be undertaken which 

identi!es existing/former uses in the area that 

could have resulted in ground contamination; 

and if necessary:

iii. design and undertake an intrusive investi-

gation to identify the risks of ground con-

tamination, including ground gases; and if 

necessary

iv. adopt and implement mitigation measures, 

to ensure a safe development and that the 

site is stable and suitable to the new use 

in accordance with the National Planning 

Policy Framework;  ensuring that there are 

no adverse health impacts to future/sur-

rounding occupiers and which minimises 

impact to the environment.  

Proposals for sensitive developments in an 

existing/former industrial area will be permitted 

where the uses that could result in ground 

contamination are identi!ed as part of the 

development package. 

3-46. The growth of rail infrastructure and an 
expanding population in the 1800s in Cambridge led 
to chalk quarrying, clay extraction, engineering and 
energy provision, through town gas production, during 
the industrial age.  The last century has also seen con-
siderable land filling of voids left by clay and chalk marl 
extraction, electronics manufacturing and engineering.  

3-47. Pollution can arise from any of the activities 
presented above and many other sources.  Land and 
groundwater can present a potential source of pollu-
tion if they have been contaminated by previous land 
uses.  

3-48. Land contamination is a material considera-
tion for the purposes of planning.  It is important to 
ensure that proposed developments are situated on 
land that will be safe and suitable for the proposed use.  
There will be situations where remediation works will 
be required to make land safe prior to being developed; 
for example if a site’s previous use was a petrol station, 
there will be a need to ensure that no residual fuel in 
storage tanks or in the soil itself is left on-site as it 
may cause a health hazard for future users.  In some 
instances, the level and type of contamination of land 
may make it unsuitable for certain types of develop-
ment, for example recently closed landfill sites are con-
sidered to be unsuitable for residential development.  

3-49. On a precautionary basis, the possibility of 
contamination should be assumed when considering 
both development plans and individual planning ap-
plications in relation to all land subject to or adjacent 
to previous industrial use and also where uses are being 
considered that are particularly sensitive to contamina-
tion.  Conditions shall be applied to planning permis-
sions to secure appropriate pollution prevention or 
mitigation measures where required.  In major devel-
opments it will also be required to demonstrate sus-
tainable forms of managing contaminated land (miti-
gation measures), which reduces the need to landfill 
and minimises the impacts on climate change.  

3-50. In the context of this policy examples of sensi-
tive developments include housing, schools, hospitals 
and children’s playing areas.  The DOE Profiles, avail-
able for download from the Environment Agency Web-
site , provides details on the processes and substances 
associated with common industrial uses.  

Page 75



49Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  | 

Policy 16. Light Pollution Control

Development proposals which include new 

external lighting, or changes to existing 

external lighting will be permitted where it can 

be demonstrated that:-

i. it is the minimum required to undertake the 

task, taking into account public safety and 

crime prevention;

ii. upwards or intrusive light spillage is mini-

mised;

iii. it minimises impact to residential amenity, 

and

iv. it minimises impact to wildlife and land-

scape, character particularly at sites on the 

edge of the City.

Developments of major sites will be required 

to submit an assessment of the impact on any 

sensitive residential premises both on and o! 

site.

3-51. The lighting of new developments must be 
carefully designed to ensure that areas are appropri-
ately lit, whilst avoiding or minimising light pollution. 
Excessive lighting reduces the visibility of the night sky, 
is a waste of energy and can harm residential amenity 
by disturbing people’s sleep. It can also disturb wildlife 
and be visually intrusive in the landscape. Details of 
the proposed lighting scheme should be in line with 
the latest nationally accepted guidance available at the 
time of the application and submitted with the plan-
ning application. Lights should be carefully selected 
and sited for their purpose, directed only onto the area 
where they are needed, and where necessary shielded 
by way of appropriate landscaping. Particular care will 
need to be taken with floodlighting of sports pitches. 
Where appropriate, conditions will be used to control 
lighting, including limiting the hours of illumination.

3-52. The City council supports the lighting of land-
mark buildings and public spaces in line with this strat-
egy, where it is carried out in a sensitive way avoiding 
light spillage.

Policy 17. Protection of Human Health 

from Noise and Vibration 

Development will be permitted where it is 

demonstrated that it will not lead to signi"cant 

adverse e!ects, including cumulative e!ects, on 

health and amenity from noise and vibration: 

or that signi"cant adverse e!ects can be 

minimised through appropriate reduction and/

or mitigation measures (prevention through 

design is preferable to mitigation).

Developers of major sites and sites which 

include noise sensitive development 

located close to existing noise sources shall 

provide a noise assessment in accordance 

with Tables 4 below also taking in account 

the latest nationally and internationally 

accepted guidance available at the time of the 

application. Proposals that are sensitive to noise 

and located close to existing noise sources, 

will be permitted where adequate noise 

mitigation measures are provided as part of the 

development package.

Development of sites that include noisy 

activities or plant or activities that operate at 

unsocial hours shall provide a noise assessment 

based on current national and international 

guidance available at the time of the 

application.  

3-53. Noise not only causes annoyance, but can also 
cause serious disturbance such as the loss of sleep. Re-
search by the World Health Organisation (WHO) has 
also shown noise to cause measurable health affects. 
Some aspects of noise is covered other legal controls 
such as nuisance law. these controls cannot meet the 
aim of the planning system, which is the protection of 
amenity and the test of ‘statutory nuisance’ is a much 
higher bar than ‘unacceptable harm’. Neither do they 
include the impact from transport related noise on 
development. Therefore noise is a material planning 
consideration. However, it is not the role of the Lo-
cal Plan to prevent all forms of development that may 
result in some measure of noise, but rather to control 
development that may have significant adverse effects. 
The Plan does not seek to duplicate the statutory nui-
sance and noise controls provided by other legislation.

Page 76



50 |  Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  

3-54. This policy relates to noise from all potential 
sources and protects amenity, particularly to noise sen-
sitive receptors including receptors living and working 
in Cambridge City. It will also aim to protect any ‘Quiet 
Areas’ that may be identified in the future under the 
Environmental Noise (England) Regulations 2006. 

3-55. For the purposes of the above noise includes 
vibration. 

Policy 18. Air Quality, Odour and Dust

A. Development will be permitted where it 

can be demonstrated that it does not lead 

to signi�cant adverse e�ects on health, the 

environment or amenity from polluting or 

malodorous odour emissions, or dust or smoke 

emissions to air; or

B.  where a development is a sensitive end use, 

that there will not be any signi�cant adverse 

e�ects on health, the environment or amenity 

arising from existing poor air quality, sources of 

odour or other emissions to air.

Speci�cally applicants, where reasonable 

and proportionate, according to the end use 

and nature of the area and application, must 

demonstrate that: 

i. there is no adverse a�ect on air quality in an 

Air Quality Management Area;

ii. pollution levels within the Air Quality Man-

agement Area will not have a signi�cant 

adverse e�ect on the proposed use/users;

iii. the development will not lead to the dec-

laration of a new Air Quality Management 

Area;

iv. the development will not interfere with the 

implementation of the current Air Quality 

Action plan;

v. any sources of emissions to air, odours. 

dusts and smoke generated by the develop-

ment are adequately mitigated so as not 

to lead to loss of amenity for existing and 

future occupants and land uses.

vi. any impacts on the proposed use from exist-

ing poor air quality, odour and emissions are 

appropriately mitigated.

3-56. Pollution to air can arise from many sources 
and activities including tra$c and transport, industrial 
processes, commercial premises, energy generation, 
agriculture, waste storage/treatment and construc-
tion sites.  This policy relates to air pollution from all 
potential sources, in any potential form and includes 
dust, fumes and odour.

3-57. The primary local impacts on air quality on 
Cambridge are from road transports and domestic, 
commercial and industrial heating sources such that 
an Air Quality Management Area was designated in the 
central part of the city in August 2004.  Pollution to air 
can also arise from industrial processes, commercial 
premises, energy generation, agriculture, waste stor-
age/treatment and construction sites. Despite increas-
ing economic activity and consequent population 
increases, the application of air quality management 
and transport policy has not led to an increase in air 
pollution in Cambridge.    It is important to ensure that 
development proposals continue to contribute to and 
enhance the natural and local environment throughout 
their lifetime.

3-58. Applicants shall, where reasonable and pro-
portionate, prepare and submit with their application, 
a relevant assessment, taking into account guidance 
current at the time of the application.  The criteria for 
requiring a Dust Risk Assessment/Management and/or 
an Air Quality Assessment are set out in the Air Qual-
ity in Cambridge Developers Guide.  Some applications 
may require appropriate pollution prevention or miti-
gation measures to be acceptable.   Some development 
may also require a permit under the Pollution Preven-
tion and Control Act 1999.

Page 77



51 Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  | 

Table 5  Noise Exposure Categories

NEC

A Noise need not be considered as a determining factor in granting planning permission, 

although the noise level at the high end of the category should not be regarded as a 

desirable level.

B Noise should be taken into account when determining planning applications and, where 

appropriate, conditions imposed to ensure an adequate level of protection against noise.

C Planning permission should not normally be granted. Where it is considered thatpermission 

should be given, for example because there are no alternative quieter sites available, 

conditions should be imposed to ensure a commensurate level of rotection against noise.

D Planning permission should be refused.

A recommended range of noise levels is given below for each of the NECs for dwellings exposed to noise from road, 

rail, air, and “mixed sources”. 

The NEC noise levels should not be used for assessing the impact of industrial noise on proposed residential 

development because the nature of this type of noise, and local circumstances, may necessitate individual assessment 

and because there is insu!cient information on people’s response to industrial noise to allow detailed guidance to be 

given.

However, at a mixed noise site where industrial noise is present but not dominant, its contribution should be included 

in the noise level used to establish the appropriate NEC.

The NEC procedure is only applicable where consideration is being given to introducing residential development into 

an area with an existing noise source, rather than the reverse.

Noise Levels Corresponding to the Noise Exposure 

Categories for New Dwellings L
Aeq,T

 dB

Noise Exposure Category

Noise Source A B C D

Road Tra!c

0.700-23.00 <55 55 - 63 63 - 72 >72

23.00-0.7001 <45 45 - 57 57 - 66 >66

Rail Tra!c

0.700-23.00 <55 55 - 66 66 - 74 >74

23.00-0.7002 <45 45 - 59 59 - 66 >66

Air Tra!c3

0.700-23.00 <55 57 - 66 66 - 72 >72

23.00-0.700 <48 48 - 57 57 - 66 >66

Mixed Sources

0.700-23.00 <55 55 - 63 63 - 72 >72

23.00-0.7001 <45 45 - 57 57 - 66 >66

 

Page 78



52 |  Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources  

Notes: 

Noise levels: the noise level(s) (L
Aeq

,T)used when deciding the NEC of a site should be representative of typical conditions.

1Night-time noise levels (23.00 - 07.00): sites where individual noise events regularly exceed 82 dB L
Amax

 (S time weighting) 

several times in any hour should be treated as being in NEC C, regardless of the L
Aeq

,8h (except where the L
Aeq

,8h already puts 

the site in NEC D).

2Aircraft noise: daytime values accord with the contour values adopted by the Department for Transport which relate to levels 

measured 1.2m above open ground. For the same amount of noise energy, contour values can be up to 2 dB(A) higher than 

those of other sources because of ground re�ection e�ects.

3Mixed sources: this refers to any combination of road, rail, air and industrial noise sources. The “mixed source” values are based 

on the lowest numerical values of the single source limits in the table. The “mixed source” NECs should only be used where no 

individual noise source is dominant.

To check if any individual noise source is dominant (for the purposes of this assessment) the noise level from the individual 

sources should be determined and then combined by decibel addition (remembering �rst to subtract 2 dB (A) from any 

aircraft noise contour values). If the level of any one source then lies within 2 dB(A) of the calculated combined value, that 

source should be taken as the dominant one and the site assessed against the appropriate NEC for that source, rather 

than using the “mixed source” NECs. If the contribution of the individual noise sources to the overall noise level cannot be 

determined by measurement and/or calculation, then the overall measured level should be used and the site assessed against 

the NECs for “mixed sources”.

These standards are taken from the former PPS24 on Noise.

Page 79



Page 80

This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E: DETAILED POLICY JUSTIFICATION: RESPONDING TO 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND MANAGING RESOURCES 

Section Overview 

 

 !Climate!Change!

 ! Policy!9:!Carbon!Reduction,!Community!Energy!Networks,!Sustainable!Design!and!

Construction!and!Water!Use;!

 ! Policy!10:!Allowable!Solutions!for!zero!carbon!development;!

 ! Policy!11:!Renewable!and!Low!Carbon!Energy!Generation;!

 ! Policy!12:!Energy!Efficiency!Improvements!in!Existing!Dwellings;!

! !

 !Water!and!Flooding!

 ! Policy!13:!Integrated!water!management!and!the!water!cycle;!

 ! Policy!14:!Flood!risk!

!

 !Environmental!Protection!and!Public!Safety!

 ! Policy!15:!Contaminated!Land!

 ! Policy!16:!Light!Pollution!Control!

 ! Policy!17:!Protection!of!Human!Health!from!Noise!and!Vibration!

 ! Policy!18:!Air!Quality,!Odour!and!Dust!

!

Introduction To Section:  How Policies in This Section Will Deliver Sustainable 

Development!

The!Local!Plan!will!seek!to!ensure!that!Cambridge!develops! in!the!most!sustainable!

way! possible.! ! This! means! delivering! our! social! and! economic! aspirations! without!

compromising! the! environmental! limits! of! Cambridge! for! current! and! future!

generations,! so! that!Cambridge!becomes!a! low!carbon,!water! sensitive!city!with!a!

thriving! economy.! ! For! this! to! be! achieved,! a! holistic! approach! to! sustainable!

development! and! reducing! the! environmental! impact! of! development! should! be!

embedded!within!all!development!proposals!from!the!outset.!

!

This! section! focuses! on! how! the! Local! Plan! will! contribute! to! the! achievement! of!

sustainable! development! in! terms! of! how! the! plan! will! address! the! challenge! of!

mitigating! and! adapting! to! our! changing! climate! as! well! as! other! resource!

management! issues.! ! Climate! change! mitigation! focuses! on! designing! new!

communities!and!buildings! to!be!energy!and! resource!efficient,!utilising! renewable!

and! low! carbon! energy! generation! and! promoting! patterns! of! development! that!

reduce! the! need! to! travel! by! less! environmentally! friendly! modes! of! transport.!!

Climate! change! adaptation! focuses! on! ensuring! that! new! developments! and! the!

wider!community!are!adaptable!to!our!changing!climate.!For!Cambridge,!this!is!likely!

to!involve!an!increase!in!the!urban!heat!island!effect!due!to!increasing!temperatures!

and! an! increase! in! flooding,! both! from! rivers! and! watercourses! and! from! surface!

water! flooding! following!periods!of! intense! rainfall.! !Policies!are! included!with! the!

objective! of! making! Cambridge! a! water! sensitive! city,! where! new! developments!

Page 81



contribute to an overall flood risk reduction and help improve the quality of water 

bodies.  This section also seeks to ensure that new development contributes to 

improvements in the environmental quality of Cambridge, including improvements 

to air quality, reduction in noise and better management of waste. 

 

ISSUE:  CLIMATE CHANGE AND SUSTAINABLE DESIGN AND 

CONSTRUCTION 

 

Strategic Vision/Objective: 

 

Vision: 

Cambridge will be a pioneer in its approach to sustainable development and climate 

change, transitioning to a low and eventually zero carbon economy. Development 

will contribute to making Cambridge a water sensitive city, capable of adapting to 

our changing climate, making best use of energy, water and other natural resources, 

securing radical reductions in carbon emissions and minimising environmental 

impact. 

 

Objectives: 

 ! To ensure that a water sensitive urban design approach is taken in all 

development proposals so that they are appropriate in terms of flood risk 

and water body quality, see water as a valuable resource and have a positive 

impact on the River Cam and other water features; 

 ! That Cambridge contributes fully to carbon reduction targets including; by 

design the principles of sustainable design and construction are integrated 

into development proposals and through supporting community energy 

projects. 

 

POLICY: 

 

Policy 9: Carbon Reduction, Community Energy Networks, Sustainable Design and 

Construction and Water Use 

 

Developments will be permitted where it is demonstrated how the proposals meet 

the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  This will include the 

integration of the principles of sustainable design and construction as far as is 

reasonable and proportionate to do so.  Developers of major development, including 

redevelopment of existing floor space, should prepare a Sustainability Statement as 

part of the Design and Access Statement submitted with their planning application, 

outlining their approach to tackling the following issues: 

 ! Adaptation to climate change; 

 ! Carbon reduction; 

 ! Water management; 

 ! Site waste management; and 

 ! Use of materials. 

 

Page 82



In order to ensure that the growth of Cambridge supports the achievement of 

national carbon reduction targets, and does not exacerbate Cambridge’s severe 

water stress, all new development will be required to meet the following minimum 

standards of sustainable construction, carbon reduction and water efficiency, unless 

it can be demonstrated that such provision is not technically or economically viable: 

 

New Homes: 

Year Minimum Code 

for Sustainable 

Homes Standard 

On!Site Reduction 

of Regulated  

Carbon Emissions 

relative to Part L 

2006  

Water efficiency 

2014 Level 4 44% 80 litres/head/day 

2016 Level 4 44% ! 60% on!site, 

with remainder 

dealt with through 

Allowable 

Solutions (as per 

national Zero 

Carbon policy) 

80 litres/head/day 

 

New Non!Residential Development: 

Year Minimum 

BREEAM Level 

On!Site Carbon 

Reduction 

Water efficiency 

2014 Very good In line with 2013 

Part L  

Full credits to be 

achieved for 

category Wat 01 

of BREEAM 

2016 Excellent In line with 2016 

Part L 

Full credits to be 

achieved for 

category Wat 01 

of BREEAM 

2019 Excellent In line with 

national Zero 

Carbon policy 

Full credits to be 

achieved for 

category Wat 01 

of BREEAM 

 

In order to promote the use of community energy networks, a Strategic District 

Heating Area is shown on the Proposals Map.  Major development proposals within 

this area should where possible connect to existing or proposed heat networks.  This 

requirement will be relaxed should applicants be able to provide evidence that doing 

so would impact on the viability of schemes. 

 

Supporting Text: 

 

It is increasingly recognised that one of the most important factors in delivering a 

successful scheme is ensuring that sustainability is a key part of the brief for any 

Page 83



development and is therefore integrated into the design from the outset.  This 

almost always leads to a better design and lower overall lifetime costs, as options are 

greater at an early stage and there is more scope to identify options that achieve 

multiple aims.  Sustainable design and construction is concerned with the 

implementation of sustainable development at the scale of individual sites and 

buildings.  It takes account of the resources used in construction, and of the 

environmental, social and economic impacts of the construction process itself and 

how buildings are designed and used.   

 

The choice of sustainability measures and how they are implemented may vary 

substantially from development to development.  However, the general principles of 

sustainable design and construction should be applied to all scales and types of 

development. The following areas should be covered in the Sustainability Statement: 

 

i) Climate Change Adaptation 

 

Climate change adaptation is a term that describes measures that can be put into 

place to help new and existing communities adapt to the changes in our climate that 

are now inevitable.  For Cambridge, the climate risks, as set out in the Council’s 

Climate Change Risk Assessment and Management Plan (2009), are: 

 ! Increased peak summer temperatures, with summer temperatures 1.5 degrees 

higher by the 2020s and 4 degrees higher by 2080; 

 ! Drier summers with 7% less summer rain by the 2020s and 26% less by the 

2080s; 

 ! More intense storms including higher peak rainfall and winds; 

 ! Lower overall annual rainfall. 

 

Planning has an important role to play in shaping places and securing new 

development so as to minimise vulnerability and provide resilience to impacts arising 

from climate change, doing so in ways consistent with cutting greenhouse gas 

emissions.  All developments should be designed to be adaptable to our changing 

climate, both in terms of building design and green and blue infrastructure.  

Adaptation measures can be implemented on a variety of scales, from individual 

buildings up to community and conurbation scale, as described in the Town and 

Country Planning Association’s “Climate change adaptation by design. A guide for 

sustainable communities” (2007). 

 

The Sustainability Statement within the Design and Access Statement will need to 

illustrate the different adaptation measures that have been implemented, and some 

examples of how this could be approached are provided in Figures 5, 6 and 7 below.  

These figures and images are for illustrative purposes only and the precise measures 

to be implemented will vary from development to development, taking account of 

the context of each specific proposal.  In some instances, there may be opportunities 

for adaptation measures that will have benefits beyond site boundaries, and 

opportunities for measures that will have a cumulative impact in areas where 

development is to be phased should also be pursued.   

 

Page 84



Figure 5: Approaches to Climate Change Adaptation (included in Appendix D) 

 

A: Building Scale Approaches

B: Site Scale Approaches 

Figure 6: Angled façade increases solar gain in the winter and reduces unwanted 

heat in the summer. 

Figure 7: External shutters may become a necessary addition in the UK.  Image 

courtesy of AC Architects. 

ii) Carbon Reduction 

All development should be designed to minimise carbon and other greenhouse gas 

emissions associated with new development, taking account of the hierarchical 

approach to reducing carbon emissions.  A three!pronged approach should be taken 

that minimises the energy demand of new buildings, utilises energy efficient supply 

through low carbon technologies and supplies energy from new, renewable energy 

sources, as illustrated in Figure 8 below. 

 

Figure 8 : The energy hierarchy (included in Appendix D) 

 

iii) Water management  

Cambridge is in an area of severe water stress.  The introduction of high levels of 

water efficiency in new developments is therefore vital to ensure the long!term 

sustainability and viability of development.  As such, new development will need to 

be designed to optimise the opportunities for efficient water use, reuse and 

recycling, including integrated water management and water conservation.  

Designing water conservation measures into infrastructure and buildings to reduce 

per capita water demand should be a fundamental approach for all new 

development.  Policy 9 above sets targets for water consumption in line with Levels 5 

and 6 of the Code for Sustainable Homes for new housing and BREEAM standards for 

non!residential development. 

 

iv) Site Waste Management 

All new developments should be designed to optimise the reduction of construction 

waste through design and to maximise the reuse and recycling of materials at all 

stages of a developments life cycle.  Development proposals should also provide well 

designed, integrated recycling and waste facilities for future occupants helping to 

increase recycling and reduce waste being sent to landfill.  Consideration needs to be 

given to internal and external storage capacity.   Reference should be made to the 

requirements set out in the RECAP Waste Management Design Guide and the 

Council’s own guidance on household waste and recycling facilities in new 

developments.  The Council will be supportive of innovative approaches to waste 

management.  

 

 

 

Page 85



v) Use of Materials 

All new developments should be designed to maximise resource efficiency and 

identify, source, and use environmentally and socially responsible materials.  There 

are four principle considerations that should influence the sourcing of materials: 

 ! Responsible sourcing – sourcing materials from known legal and certified 

sources through the use of environmental management systems and chain of 

custody schemes including the sourcing of timber accredited by the Forestry 

Stewardship Scheme (FSC); 

 ! Secondary materials – reclaiming and reusing material arising from the 

demolition of existing buildings and preparation of sites for development as well 

as materials from other post consumer waste streams; 

 ! Embodied impact of materials – the aim should be to maximise the specification 

of major building elements to achieve an area!weighted rating of A or B as 

defined in the Green Guide to Building Specification.  Consideration should also 

be given to locally sourced materials; 

 ! Healthy materials – where possible developers should specify materials that 

represent a lower risk to the health of both construction workers and occupants.  

For example, selecting materials with zero or low volatile organic compound 

(VOC) levels to provide a healthy environment for residents. 

 

As well as the consideration of these design and construction issues, the 

Sustainability Statement in support of the application should also address how the 

proposals meet all other policies relating to sustainability throughout the plan, 

including: 

 ! Biodiversity and ecology; 

 ! Land, water, noise and air pollution; 

 ! Transport, mobility and access; 

 ! Health and wellbeing including provision of open space; 

 ! Culture, heritage and the quality of built form, including efficient use of land. 

 

This policy also sets out requirements in relation to sustainable construction 

standards, carbon reduction and water efficiency.  The Climate Change Act 2008 

contains a statutory target of securing a reduction in carbon dioxide levels of 80% 

below 1990 levels by 2050, with an interim target of 34% reduction by 2020.  The 

achievement of national targets for the reduction of carbon emissions will require 

action across all sectors of energy use.  Within Cambridge, this will involve balancing 

the overall increase in emissions associated with new development with the 

opportunities that these new developments offer for reducing carbon and 

greenhouse gas emissions, through measures such as improving energy efficiency 

and the provision of on!site renewable and low carbon energy generation.  A high 

standard of construction in new development is therefore important if the UK is to 

meet its legally binding carbon reduction targets. 

 

Nationally described sustainable construction standards have been developed for 

both new homes (the Code for Sustainable Homes) and new non!residential 

buildings (BREEAM).  Alongside these standards sits the Government’s Zero Carbon 

policy agenda, which requires all new homes to be Zero Carbon by 2016, and all non!

Page 86



residential buildings to be Zero Carbon by 2019, with public buildings leading the 

way in 2018.   

 

There are many approaches that can be taken to meeting the construction standards 

required by this policy including construction methods such as Passivhaus standard.  

The Council will be supportive of innovative approaches to meeting and exceeding 

the standards set out in policy.  Where other construction standards are proposed 

for new developments, for example LEED (Leadership in Energy and Environmental 

Design), these will be supported provided that it can be demonstrated that they are 

broadly in line with the standards set out above, particularly in relation to carbon 

reduction and water efficiency. 

 

It may be possible in some areas for development to exceed the policy requirements 

set out above.  For example, developments located within the Strategic District 

Heating Area may be able to achieve higher levels of carbon reduction than set out in 

policy, which in turn could lead to higher construction standards being achievable.  

In order to maximise opportunities to exceed minimum policy requirements, 

developers will be encouraged to engage with the Council from an early stage 

through pre application discussions.   The policy will also be reviewed periodically so 

that should any significant changes be made to the construction standards, the 

policy can be updated to reflect these changes. 

 

Where redevelopment/refurbishment of existing buildings is proposed, the 

development of bespoke assessment methodologies to assess the environmental 

impact of the proposals for submission with the planning application will be 

supported.  

  

Community Energy Networks 

 

The Strategic District Heating Area coincides with a district heating project being 

undertaken by Cambridge City Council and the University of Cambridge, as well as 

the findings of the Decarbonising Cambridge Study (2010) and Cambridgeshire 

Renewables Infrastructure Framework (2012).   

 

A benefit of such an approach is that it can provide developers with a ready made 

solution for them to meet their future planning policy and Zero Carbon policy 

requirements at minimum cost, particularly in constrained city centre sites where 

opportunities for other renewable and low carbon energy generation would be 

limited.  Requiring new buildings to be compatible with district heat networks entails 

the following considerations: 

 ! Ensuring that plant rooms have access arrangements for entry of a heat main; 

 ! Ensuring that the flow and return heating temperatures for buildings are 

optimised to suit the heat networks; 

 ! Ensuring that other buried services do not create barriers to laying heat mains, 

and, where possible, providing suitable duct space;  

 ! Ensuring that the layout and density of new development is such that it 

minimises, as far as possible, the cost of laying heat mains; 

Page 87



 ! Ensuring that individual sub!metering arrangements are put in place for each 

development. 

 

How the Policy Came About: 

 

1. Policy 9 represents a combination of a number of policy options that were 

consulted on at the Issues and Options stage, notably: 

 

 ! Option 42 – development of a comprehensive sustainable development 

policy; 

 ! Option 43 – setting of sustainable construction standards for new 

development (Code for Sustainable Homes and BREEAM); 

 ! Option 44 – targets for on!site carbon reduction; 

 ! Option 48 – Renewable and low carbon energy generation (notably 

references to connection to district heating); 

 ! Option 49 – climate change adaptation; 

 ! Option 53 – water efficiency in new residential development; 

 ! Option 55 – water efficiency in new non!residential development. 

The combination of these options into one policy should give certainty to 

developers as to the policy requirements related to sustainable design and 

construction.   

 

2. The National Planning Policy Framework states that “the purpose of the planning 

system is to contribute to sustainable development”.  This is key to tackling the 

linked challenges of climate change, resource use, economic prosperity and 

social well!being and cannot be achieved without sustainable buildings and 

communities.  The principles of sustainable design and construction, which this 

policy seeks to embed within development proposals, focus on the 

implementation of sustainable development at the scale of individual sites and 

buildings.  This approach would build upon the current approach taken in the 

2006 Local Plan, which calls for the submission of a sustainable development 

checklist and Sustainability Statement.  Where this new policy differs is that the 

Sustainability Statement would form part of the Design and Access Statement.  

Not only would such an approach assist developers in demonstrating how their 

proposals meet the ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development’, the 

integration within the Design and Access Statement will also ensure that the 

principles of sustainable design and construction are implemented from the 

outset of the design process. 

 

3. As recognised by the Interim Sustainability Appraisal, such a policy should 

contribute positively across all sustainability topics, helping to maintain 

Cambridge’s position as a competitive city and a leader in sustainability.  The 

Decarbonising Cambridge Study recognised that much can be done to improve 

sustainability, and indeed reduce demand for energy and other resources, 

through good design and intelligent materials selection.  This is best achieved, 

both in terms of cost and ease of integration, at the design stage, which 

represents a unique opportunity to influence how a building, and indeed a 

Page 88



development as a whole, will perform throughout its lifetime.  Good design 

principles and sustainable construction practices should, therefore, be 

encouraged from the earliest stage in new development projects. 

 

4. The inclusion of these measures within the Design and Access Statement is in 

keeping with the Department of Communities and Local Government’s 

“Guidance on Information Requirements and Validation” (2010), which at 

paragraph 105 states: 

“Climate change considerations are integral to the planning system, including the 

design of new developments…Design and access statements for outline and 

detailed planning applications should therefore demonstrate how climate change 

mitigation and adaptation measures have been considered in the design of the 

proposals.  These measures may be of particular relevance under the topic 

headings of amount, layout, scale, landscaping, context or access, depending on 

the nature of the proposed development and its anticipated impacts on the 

surrounding areas”.  By asking for this information to be submitted with the 

Design and Access Statement for major developments, the policy also takes 

account of the Growth and Infrastructure Bill, which states that information 

requirements for planning applications should be reasonable having regard to the 

nature and scale of the proposed development. 

 

5. Some of the elements included within this policy are those that the Council is 

required by law to include in its local plans.  For example, the Planning Act (2008) 

places a legal duty on all local planning authorities to include climate change 

adaptation policies in their plans.  Other elements are supported by the National 

Planning Policy Framework, which, at paragraph 94, places a duty on local 

planning authorities to adopt “proactive strategies to mitigate and adapt to 

climate change, taking full account of flood risk, coastal change and water supply 

and demand considerations”.    Paragraph 95 goes on to support the setting of 

local requirements for a building’s sustainability, as long as this is done in a way 

that is consistent with the Government’s Zero Carbon agenda and adopts 

nationally described standards. 

 

6. On the issue of setting standards for a building’s sustainability, planning has an 

important role in encouraging and facilitating the development of buildings that 

meet high standards of sustainability as part of its objective to contribute to the 

achievement of sustainable development.  For new homes, this means building 

to the requirements set out in the Code for Sustainable Homes, while for non!

residential buildings the BREEAM standard should be used.  Both of these 

standards consider a range of categories that form a measure of a building’s 

sustainability including energy and water, as well as issues such as biodiversity 

enhancement and health and well!being of building occupants.  While national 

standards should be used in policy, this does not rule out the use of other 

construction standards.  Respondents to the Issues and Options Report showed 

support for the Passivhaus standard of construction, which can form part of the 

strategy for achieving a required Code for Sustainable Homes or BREEAM rating.  

Some flexibility has been included within the supporting text of the policy so that 

Page 89



if a development were to come forward using a different construction standard, 

for example LEED (Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design), this would 

be supported provided that it can be demonstrated that it is broadly in line with 

the standards set out in the policy.  The policy also includes support for the 

development of bespoke construction/environmental performance standards for 

the redevelopment of existing buildings, which are not covered by the Code for 

Sustainable Homes or BREEAM. 

 

7. The standards included in Policy 9 are based on evidence contained within the 

Decarbonising Cambridge Study, which considered the viability of setting 

sustainable construction standards through policy.  With regards to BREEAM, the 

study suggested that BREEAM ‘very good’ be the minimum standard required by 

policy.  Policy 9 suggests a stepped approach whereby BREEAM ‘very good’ is 

required up to 2016, with this rising to BREEAM ‘excellent’ from 2016 in light of 

the uplift in energy requirements required through Building Regulations and the 

progression towards Zero Carbon non!domestic buildings in 2019.  It should be 

noted that the policy does not seek to merely duplicate Buildings Regulations, as 

the BREEAM standard covers a significantly wider range of issues than is covered 

by Building Regulations alone.  This approach was supported by many 

respondents to the Issues and Options Report and is supported by the National 

Planning Policy Framework. 

 

8. In terms of the Code for Sustainable Homes, the Decarbonising Cambridge Study, 

provided a technical and economic assessment of achieving a range of Code for 

Sustainable Homes levels, from Level 3 through to Level 6, which represents the 

highest possible standard of construction.    The study concluded that Code Level 

4 would be a viable standard to target through policy for all scales of 

development, with extra over costs ranging from 1% to 4.5%, with these costs 

reducing further with subsequent amendments to Building Regulations as part of 

the introduction of national Zero Carbon policy.  A policy requirement for higher 

levels of the Code on small and medium scale development was considered to be 

difficult to achieve, partly due to the increase in costs and in part due to the 

technical restrictions on the use of biomass in Cambridge due to the presence of 

an Air Quality Management Area, which represents one of the most cost 

effective ways in which to achieve Levels 5 and 6 of the Code.  However the 

policy will be expressed as a minimum so as not to discount higher standards 

coming forward where possible.  It may also prove necessary to periodically 

review the policy so that should the energy requirements of Code Levels 5 and 6 

be amended to be in line with national Zero Carbon policy, the policy can be 

updated to reflect that these higher standards may be achievable post 2016. 

 

9. There was some concern expressed during the Issues and Options consultation as 

to the consistency of the policy with national Zero Carbon policy and changes to 

Building Regulations.  The proposed changes to Building Regulations in 2010 and 

2013 were always intended to provide a step change in sustainable construction, 

leading house building towards to introduction of Zero Carbon policy in 2016.  

While it is noted that a lower level of carbon reduction than originally intended is 

Page 90



to be introduced in the 2013 Building Regulations, this policy is still consistent 

with the introduction of Zero Carbon policy in that it provides a step towards 

Zero Carbon development in 2016.  This standard is already being achieved 

across many development sites in Cambridge, with evidence from developers 

suggesting that it is a key factor influencing people’s decision to but a new home 

in Cambridge.  It should also be noted that standards such as the Code for 

Sustainable Homes, covers a significantly wider range of issues than is covered by 

regulation and the Governments Zero Carbon policy.  As such, its application to 

new development is considered in conformity with the National Planning Policy 

Framework, is supported by Cambridge specific evidence and is in keeping with 

the Vision of the Local Plan for development to help support Cambridge’s 

transition to a more environmentally sustainable and successful low carbon 

economy. 

 

10. The National Planning Policy Framework also recognises the key role that 

planning has to play in securing radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions.  

The Climate Change Act 2008 contains a statutory target of securing a reduction 

in carbon dioxide levels of 80% below 1990 levels by 2050, with an interim target 

of 34% reduction by 2020.  The achievement of national targets for the reduction 

of carbon emissions will require action across all sectors of energy use.  Within 

Cambridge, this will involve balancing the overall increase in emissions associated 

with new development with the opportunities that these new developments 

offer for reducing carbon and greenhouse gas emissions, through measures such 

as improving energy efficiency and the provision of on!site renewable and low 

carbon energy generation.   

 

11. In arriving at the levels of on!site carbon reduction contained within Policy 9, a 

number of alternative policy options have been considered, as illustrated in table 

1 below.  In terms of the approach to non!residential development the timetable 

for Zero Carbon non!residential buildings (2019) would be followed, assuming 

that this continues as planned.  Given that the pathway for Zero Carbon non!

residential buildings is less well defined than that for housing, it is considered 

that following the levels of carbon reduction planned through future 

amendments to Part L of the Building Regulations would be the most appropriate 

approach, which was supported by a number of respondents to the Issues and 

Options Report. 

 

Table 1: Carbon Reduction Options consulted on as part of the Issues and Options 

Report (2012) 

 

OPTION DESCRIPTION 

Option 44  Under this option, a 44% reduction in emissions would have been 

required for new residential development between 2014 and 2016.  This 

equates to the level of carbon reduction sought by level 4 of the Code 

for Sustainable Homes.  From 2016 onwards all new homes would need 

to be Zero Carbon, in line with national Zero Carbon policy, and as such 

on!site emission reductions between 44 – 60% would be required, with 

Page 91



the remainder being dealt with via Allowable Solutions.  

Option 45  Under this option, a target of on!site carbon reduction would be set 

which would go beyond the levels set within national Zero Carbon 

policy.  Following technical and financial viability assessment, the 

Decarbonising Cambridge Study suggested that the level should be set at 

70% on!site for all new housing development from 2014 onwards. 

Option 46  Under this option, the levels of carbon reduction for new housing would 

be linked to those contained within Building Regulations (Part L 2013 

and 2016).  In addition, up to 2016 this option would have seen a 

percentage renewable energy requirement continue to operate to 

ensure that renewable energy provision still played a role in new 

development proposals prior to the introduction of national Zero Carbon 

policy.  This approach was based on the findings of the Merton Rule 

Study. 

 

12. The figure of 70% on!site carbon reduction promoted via Option 45 is taken from 

the findings of the Decarbonising Cambridge Study (2010), which modelled the 

technical and economic feasibility of a range of on!site carbon reduction 

requirements.  It concluded that 70% on!site carbon reduction, while ambitious, 

would be both technically and economically feasible for all scales of residential 

development.  This conclusion is also set against the local economic climate of 

Cambridge, which has fared better than other parts of the UK including in terms 

of its housing market and house building.   

 

13. The Decarbonising Cambridge study noted that this level of on!site carbon 

reduction could be subject to change but by enshrining the 70% carbon 

compliance level in local planning policy this would provide the opportunity to 

maintain a high on!site carbon reduction requirement, should Zero Carbon policy 

be amended to dilute the ambition in terms of on!site reduction.  Indeed, the 

carbon compliance level has been reduced, in line with the recommendations of 

the Zero Carbon Hub’s 2011 report on Carbon Compliance to between 44% and 

60% depending on house type.  There was strong support from residents for 

Cambridge to be ambitious in setting policy requirements for carbon reduction.  

The Interim Sustainability Appraisal of the Issues and Options Report also noted 

that taking such an approach would contribute positively to radically reducing 

carbon emissions across Cambridge.  This would benefit Cambridge’s economic 

position as a competitive city, putting it at the forefront of the low carbon 

economy, helping to address concerns surrounding fuel security and national 

targets for renewable energy generation. 

 

14. Option 46 considered continuing to require percentage renewable energy 

provision on all development up to 2016, when national Zero Carbon policy 

would take effect.  This option was consulted upon in light of changes being 

made to the 2013 version of Part L of the Building Regulations, to reduce the 

level of carbon reduction being sought from new housing development from 44% 

greater than Part L 2006, to 33%.  With this approach it is likely that the 

utilisation of renewable energy would no longer form part of a development’s 

Page 92



carbon reduction strategy, which is of concern due to issues such as energy 

security and national targets for renewable energy generation.  This option was 

based upon the findings of the Cambridgeshire Merton Rule Study (2012), which 

also recommended a technology specific approach, referred to as a ‘solar first’ 

approach.  Under this option, residential developments would be required to 

utilise either photovoltaic panels or solar thermal systems, while non!residential 

development would be required to utilise photovoltaics.  If these systems were 

not viable, then other forms of renewable or low carbon energy generation 

would be considered.  A more flexible approach was recommended for large 

estates such as the University of Cambridge, where a site!wide approach to 

renewable energy generation may be more appropriate.   

 

15. Concerns were raised by developers as to the technology specific nature of this 

approach, as well as the impact on the viability of development.  The arguments 

in favour of the solar first approach include that these technologies are relatively 

simple to monitor and enforce, and that costs have reduced dramatically since 

the introduction of the Feed In Tariff.  However, in the past national planning 

policy has been opposed to technology specific policies, and indeed such an 

approach was removed from the North West Cambridge Area Action Plan at 

examination.  There is no specific wording within the National Planning Policy 

Framework that would support or object to this approach, and as such it would 

be likely to be tested at examination. 

 

16. In determining which policy approach to take forward into the draft Local Plan, a 

key factor has been the issue of conformity with the National Planning Policy 

Framework and its requirement for any local policy to be “consistent with the 

Government’s Zero Carbon policy”.  Of the three approaches consulted on at the 

Issues and Options stage, the option of requiring a 44% reduction up to 2016, 

with the implementation of national Zero Carbon policy from 2016 is considered 

most likely to pass the test of conformity with the requirements of the National 

Planning Policy Framework.  It provides developers with a step towards Zero 

Carbon development and indeed is the level of carbon reduction being delivered 

on many development sites within Cambridge at present and as such would not 

have a significant impact on the viability of new development.   

 

17. While it is noted that this approach is not fully in keeping with the 

recommendations of the Decarbonising Cambridge Report, there is a concern 

that given the wording of the National Planning Policy Framework in relation to 

‘consistency with national Zero Carbon policy’, this evidence base may not be 

sufficient to justify such a policy as it exceeds the level of carbon compliance 

which lies at the heart of the national Zero Carbon definition.  Such an approach 

would no doubt be tested at examination.  The option of setting a 44% on!site 

carbon reduction requirement did receive support at the Issues and Options 

consultation.  The Interim Sustainability Appraisal of the Issues and Options 

Report noted that this approach would ensure that development was on the 

path to meeting Zero Carbon requirements in 2016, resulting in positive effects 

on many of the sustainability topics. 

Page 93



 

18. Officers are continuing to pursue discussions with the Department of 

Communities and Local Government to clarify the status of the Decarbonising 

Cambridge Study in light of the wording of the National Planning Policy 

Framework.  These discussions could lead to a change in policy direction as the 

drafting of the Local Plan nears completion.  It should also be noted that there 

are likely to be situations where development will be able to exceed the 44% on!

site requirement, for example, where development falls within the Strategic 

District Heating Area.  In these circumstances, the policy would require 

developments to connect to existing or proposed heat networks, and these 

developments could well achieve levels of carbon reduction much closer to the 

70% figure contained within the Decarbonising Cambridge Study. 

 

19. Some representations to the Issues and Options Report, while supporting the 

aspiration for developments to connect to district heating, raised concerns 

around the impact on the viability of development.  This not only concerned the 

costs of connecting to district heating, but the legal issues surrounding 

community energy networks and whether developers would have the right to 

connect.  The proposed Strategic District Heating Area coincides with a project 

being undertaken by the City Council, in partnership with the University of 

Cambridge, to deliver a district heating network in Cambridge City Centre.  An 

objective of this project is to deliver a scalable scheme that will be able to 

expand and connect to new and existing buildings, an objective that will be 

written into the Governance structure of the project, overcoming any concerns 

about whether or not new developments will have a right to connect.  Detailed 

technical analysis of the heat loads in the City Centre has already been carried 

out to inform the development and design of the heat network, as has financial 

analysis. 

 

20. Given the constrained nature of many City Centre development sites, including 

redevelopment sites, few energy options are available to developers to meet 

their carbon reduction requirements.  District heating offers a cost effective 

solution for these sites, although viability will be an important consideration in 

any future policy requiring connection, not just economic viability but also the 

ability to connect.  This approach is consistent with the requirements of the 

National Planning Policy Framework, which at paragraph 97 states that local 

authorities should “identify opportunities where development can draw its 

energy supply from decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy supply 

systems and for co!locating potential heat customers and suppliers”.  The Interim 

Sustainability Appraisal of the Issues and Options Report noted that connection 

to district heating would provide a cost effective way for developers to meet 

their carbon reduction obligations, and could be positive in positioning 

Cambridge competitively in terms of energy security and leading in low carbon 

initiatives.  It also has the potential to help alleviate fuel poverty amongst 

Cambridge residents at a time of rising energy costs as there will be more local 

control over energy costs. 

 

Page 94



21. As such, it is felt that a policy requiring new developments to connect to district 

heat networks where these are available, subject to the consideration of viability 

issues, is appropriate.  District heating will be the subject of a Local Plan 

allocation as other renewable energy options for Cambridge are more likely to be 

small scale approaches such as solar panels, which are more likely to come 

forward on a case by case basis.  District heating represents the best opportunity 

for large scale energy generation in Cambridge, hence why a Local Plan allocation 

is considered to be important to help secure implementation of this technology 

in Cambridge.   

 

22. Policy 9 also sets standards of water efficiency that will be sought from all new 

development, based on the requirements of the Code for Sustainable Homes and 

BREEAM.  Cambridge is in an area of serious water stress as defined by the 

Environment Agency.  The National Planning Policy Framework requires local 

authorities to adopt a pro!active approach to climate change and water supply 

and demand considerations (paragraph 94). 

 

23. The Cambridge Water Company Resources Management Plan indicates that 

there is a finite supply of water in the region and, irrespective of climate change, 

action is required now to ensure the availability of water for future uses, 

including potable water supply and food production, without having a 

detrimental impact on the environment.  Guidance contained in the Good 

Practice Guidance: Sustainable Design and Construction report (2012), produced 

to support the National Planning Policy Framework supports such an approach.  

It notes that there will be situations where it could be appropriate for Local 

Planning Authorities to anticipate levels of building sustainably in advance of 

those set out nationally, citing the example of areas where high water stress 

means that development without high water efficiency standards would be 

unacceptable for its proposed location.  The main issues to consider when 

looking at water efficiency are the level of water consumption to be determined 

and the cost of any proposals.  Developers have concerns that too low a 

consumption figure would lead to higher costs and therefore could potentially 

have an impact on the viability of developments. The National Planning Policy 

Framework states that issues such as water supply should be taken account of in 

the local plan over the long term. As there is a finite supply of water, higher 

levels of water efficiency now will ensure the viability of development in the long 

term. 

   

24. Three alternative options for water efficiency in new homes and two alternative 

options for water efficiency on non!residential developments have been 

considered in reaching the final position proposed in Policy 9.   For new homes 

options ranged from limiting water consumption to 105 litres/head/day, an 

option of 80 litres/head/day or requiring water neutrality.   Water neutrality 

involves not only measures to reduce water consumption in new build, but also 

retrofitting water efficiency measures in the existing built environment.  While 

such an option offers the most innovative and progressive approach to water 

efficiency, it may prove difficult to implement and would also be the most 

Page 95



expensive option, which may impact on viability.  There would also be inherent 

difficulties in applying retrofit measures to existing properties, with associated 

ongoing maintenance costs.  As such, this option has been rejected.  It should, 

however, be noted that the draft Water Bill, which was published in July 2012, is 

giving consideration to charging mechanisms and connection charges that may 

enable water neutrality to be implemented in the future without the need for a 

specific planning policy.   

 

25. Representing an improvement on the existing situation, a second option was put 

forward for all new development to be designed to achieve a maximum water 

consumption of 80 litres per head per day, which is in line with Levels 5 and 6 of 

the Code for Sustainable Homes.  This would offer higher water efficiency than is 

being delivered elsewhere in Cambridge, apart from the North West Cambridge 

development.  In terms of the impact of setting requirements for water efficiency 

on the viability of development, this is being tested through the Council’s 

emerging viability work.   

 

26. A third option considered a policy approach whereby new development would 

need to be designed to achieve maximum water consumption of 105 

litres/head/day, which is in line with Code for Sustainable Homes level 3 and 4.  

While this policy would have presented the least expensive option, it would still 

lead to an increase in the amount of water being used in Cambridge each year.  

As a result, this option would not go far enough to address long!term water 

availability, which has the potential to impact on the long!term viability of 

development, and as such this option has also been rejected.   The need to set 

more stringent water efficiency requirements than that suggested by this option 

was supported by Cambridge Water who have made representations after the 

end of the Issues and Options consultation period.  In addition, this option would 

be reliant on the installation of water efficient fittings that could easily be 

unknowingly replaced with less water efficient fittings throughout the life of the 

development.  Given the severity of water stress in Cambridge, it is therefore 

considered appropriate to set a policy requiring higher levels of water efficiency 

than that proposed by this option, and as such a requirement of 80 

litres/head/day will be taken forward into the draft Plan. 

   

27. A high level of water efficiency in non!domestic buildings is generally less costly 

as a percentage of the overall construction cost to implement than in domestic 

buildings and therefore has a smaller impact on potential viability. There is also a 

higher potential for cost savings in water bills than in domestic properties. Two 

options were put forward in the Issues and Options Report, both linked to the 

BREEAM assessment methodology.  Option 55 required full credits to be 

achieved for BREEAM water efficiency, while Option 56, while continuing to 

utilise the BREEAM methodology would not have required the achievement of 

maximum credits for water.  While the advantages of Option 56 were that there 

would be minimal cost associated with it, water consumption reductions could 

be as low as 12.5% of current usage. As such, this option would have done little 

to respond to the severe water stress faced by Cambridge.  Cambridge Water 

Page 96



also objected to this approach on the grounds that it would not go far enough in 

dealing with issues of water shortage and its wider impacts.  As such, the option 

of maximum BREEAM credits for water is to be taken forward into the draft Plan.  

This option received strong support during the Issues and Options consultation, 

with the Interim Sustainability Appraisal noting that it resulted in the most 

significant positive effects against the sustainability topics, as it is the most 

radical in terms of addressing the severe water stress identified in Cambridge’s 

Water Resources Management Plan. From an economic perspective, it was noted 

that whilst this option is the most expensive, it would place Cambridge in a 

competitive position in terms of leading on water efficiency Initiatives.  This 

Option would also result in significant carbon emissions savings associated with 

water production, as overall increases in supply would be kept to a minimum. 

 

ISSUE:  THE ROLE OF LOCAL PLANNING AUTHORITIES IN ALLOWABLE 

SOLUTIONS 

 

Strategic Vision/Objective: 

 

Vision: 

Cambridge will be a pioneer in its approach to sustainable development and climate 

change, transitioning to a low and eventually zero carbon economy. Development 

will contribute to making Cambridge a water sensitive city, capable of adapting to 

our changing climate, making best use of energy, water and other natural resources, 

securing radical reductions in carbon emissions and minimising environmental 

impact. 

 

Objectives: 

 ! To ensure that a water sensitive urban design approach is taken in all 

development proposals so that they are appropriate in terms of flood risk 

and water body quality, see water as a valuable resource and have a positive 

impact on the River Cam and other water features; 

 ! That Cambridge contributes fully to carbon reduction targets including; by 

design the principles of sustainable design and construction are integrated 

into development proposals and through supporting community energy 

projects. 

 

POLICY: 

 

Policy 10: Allowable Solutions for Zero Carbon development 

Where compliance with national Zero Carbon policy necessitates the use of the 

Allowable Solutions Framework, developers will have the option to: 

 ! Deliver their own allowable solutions locally; 

 ! Make a contribution to the Cambridgeshire Community Energy Fund; or 

 ! Offset via third!party allowable solutions providers into a project selected from a 

local Energy Efficiency and Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Infrastructure 

Projects List. 

Page 97



 

The Cambridgeshire Community Energy Fund will be used to invest in energy 

efficiency and renewable/low carbon energy projects that have direct benefit for 

Cambridgeshire.  Projects for investment will be identified and form part of an 

Energy Efficiency and Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Infrastructure Projects List, 

which would then be used as the basis for allocating developers allowable solutions 

contributions. 

 

Supporting Text: 

 

By 2016 all new homes are expected to be Zero Carbon under national Zero Carbon 

policy.  Part of the definition of Zero Carbon development includes the concept that 

after delivering a certain level of carbon reduction on!site, known as ‘carbon 

compliance’, developers can then choose to offset remaining emissions through a 

range of measures known as ‘allowable solutions’, as illustrated in Figure 9 below.  

Allowable solutions are grouped into three categories: 

 ! On!site options (not duplicating carbon compliance measures) such as the 

installation of smart appliances, home electric vehicle charging and LED street 

lights; 

 ! Near!site options such as the export of low carbon heat from a site based district 

heating scheme or retrofitting low/zero carbon technologies to local community 

buildings; and 

 ! Off!site options such as investment in district heating pipework to connect new 

loads to existing schemes or support new schemes. 

 

One of the measures included within the Allowable Solutions Framework is the 

development of community energy funds.  Developers would be able to choose to 

pay into such a fund, to offset any residual carbon reduction that could not be 

delivered on!site.  Money from the fund would then be used to invest in energy 

efficiency and renewable and low carbon energy projects. Money will be collected 

via a bespoke Allowable Solutions collection mechanism and not linked to the 

Community Infrastructure Levy or Planning Obligations. 

 

Figure 9: The Zero Carbon Hierarchy (included in Appendix D) 

 

The Cambridgeshire Community Energy Fund project has looked at the potential to 

set up an innovative locally led fund that would channel developer investment from 

allowable solutions into local low carbon infrastructure projects.  The establishment 

of this fund will be an effective mechanism for ensuring that the benefits of 

allowable solutions remain within Cambridgeshire, having direct community benefit 

for the areas in which development is being undertaken.  

 

Projects for investment will be identified and form part of an Energy Efficiency and 

Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Infrastructure Projects List, which would then be 

used for the basis of allocating developers allowable solutions contributions.  

Arrangements for producing the local projects list will be put into place ahead of the 

policy coming into effect in 2016.  This list will be kept updated to ensure that 

Page 98



projects providing maximum benefit, both in terms of carbon savings and benefits 

for Cambridgeshire residents and the local economy are given priority.  All projects 

on the list would need to meet the test of ‘additionality’, i.e. projects that would not 

otherwise be delivered via existing support mechanisms.  This list is being developed 

as part of the Cambridgeshire wide Mobilising Local Energy Investment project. 

 

How the Policy Came About: 

 

28. The concept of developing a policy related to the development of a 

Cambridgeshire Community Energy Fund stems from the work undertaken by the 

Zero Carbon Hub in their 2011 report “Allowable Solutions for Tomorrow’s New 

Homes. Towards a Workable Framework”.  This report put forward to 

Government an Allowable Solutions Framework Model that would enable 

developers to meet their full Zero Carbon policy requirements once they had met 

their on!site carbon compliance requirements.  This Framework is illustrated in 

Figure A below, and its key elements are: 

1. A choice for Local Planning Authorities to develop a policy on Allowable 

Solutions through Local Plans (Route A); 

2. The opportunity, when working to Route A, for housing developers to seek 

out best value for Allowable Solutions via a Community Energy Fund or by 

private contract with a Third Party Provider; 

3. The option of purchasing Allowable Solutions from Private Energy Funds 

(Route B) when the local planning authority does not have an Allowable 

Solutions policy; 

4. A Verification and Certification Scheme to show that an investment will 

achieve the required carbon emission reduction.  The scheme will monitor 

Allowable Solutions delivery and release credits, certificates and funds in a 

timely way to facilitate Allowable Solutions project development and Building 

Regulations Approval; 

5. A single Allowable Solutions Fund Holding providing a secure ‘Bank’ for the 

Allowable Solutions investment flow.  

 

Page 99



Figure A: Choice of Allowable Solutions providers available to developers
1

Developer requires Allowable 

Solutions to comply with zero 

carbon policy 

Submits plans to 

local authority

LA with a prescribed set of Allowable 

Solutions
LA without a prescribed set 

of Allowable Solutions

Pay into Community 

Energy Fund

Contract a Third!

party to deliver 

Allowable Solutions

Private Energy Fund 

is contracted to 

manage delivery

Either Or

Route A Route B

In both cases, Allowable Solutions projects 

will be delivered in the local area

The Private Energy Fund can 

deliver projects anywhere in 

the country

 

29. A number of representations received at the Issues and Options stage raised 

concerns that a Carbon Offset Fund would enable developers to do things on the 

cheap and that the focus should be on on!site measures to reduce carbon 

emissions.  While the Council agrees that the ideal solution would be for 

developers to offset all of their carbon emissions on!site, this is unlikely to be 

feasible on many small and medium scales sites, as evidenced by the findings of 

the Decarbonising Cambridge Study (2010), and national work carried out by the 

Zero Carbon Hub.  As such, the concept of ‘allowable solutions’ has been 

developed.  Developers would still be required to deliver the majority of carbon 

reduction on!site but would then have range of opportunities available to them 

to ‘off!set remaining emissions, including additional on!site measures or paying 

into a county!wide community energy fund.  This approach is in keeping with the 

requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework, which requires local 

policy to be consistent with national Zero Carbon policy, in that it uses the 

nationally recognised Allowable Solutions Framework, which recognises a policy 

role for local planning authorities. 

 

30. The types of projects that could receive investment from the fund range from 

energy efficiency projects through to large scale renewable and low carbon 

energy projects.  The key element in determining appropriate projects is the idea 

of ‘additionality’, i.e. projects that would not otherwise be delivered via existing 

support mechanisms.  Example projects could include improvements to existing 

properties that would not be eligible for Green Deal funding, for example solid 

wall insulation, or the investment in energy schemes that are not currently being 

                                           
1
 Element Energy (2012). Cambridgeshire Community Energy Fund Stage 2 Final Report 

Page 100



delivered by the private sector, such as district heating.  The development of a 

Cambridgeshire fund would also present an opportunity to focus on those 

projects that would have direct benefits for communities in the county, which 

could include community energy projects.   This would be different from the 

current proposals for allowable solutions, which included reference to a national 

fund, where money generated from developments in Cambridge could be used 

to fund projects across the UK.   The advantages of local funds were considered 

in the recent Zero Carbon Hub Report on evaluating opportunities and priorities 

for Allowable Solutions (2012), which recognised that in line with the Localism 

Agenda, preference would be for Allowable Solutions to be delivered locally.  

Developers would still be able to choose their preferred allowable solutions 

route, even with a policy in place, but there is recognition that local community 

energy funds represent an effective option, in keeping with the principles of 

Localism. 

 

31. Projects for investment will be identified and form part of an Energy Efficiency 

and Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Infrastructure Projects List, which would 

then be used as the basis of allocating developers allowable solutions 

contributions.  Work to develop this projects list is currently ongoing as part of 

the Mobilising Local Energy Investment Project, which is being coordinated by 

Cambridgeshire County Council.  This work includes liaison with the Zero Carbon 

Hub and Department for Communities and Local Government, with the potential 

for the fund to be one of the Allowable Solutions Pilot Projects. 

 

32. With regard to how such a fund would be governed and administered, work 

carried out by Element Energy
2
 in 2012 considered a range of legal structures for 

the management of the fund.  The work concluded that a Company Limited by 

Guarantee would be the most suitable structure as it would be suitable for the 

community investment mandate of an energy fund.  While further work is 

required to determine the membership of the Company Limited by Guarantee, it 

would be likely that this would need to include all the district authorities who 

would be collecting monies into the fund.  The study also considered appropriate 

collection mechanisms, concluding that a new purpose designed collection 

mechanism to enable developers to make direct payments into local community 

energy funds should be established nationally as opposed to utilising existing 

mechanisms such as S106 agreements and the Community Infrastructure Levy.  

Further work will need to include ongoing discussions with national government 

with regards to the timescales and practical arrangements for the establishment 

of the Allowable Solutions Framework, including the setting of an appropriate 

level of developer contribution into such a fund, set as a cost per tonne of CO2.  

Work carried out to date has assumed a cost of £46 per tonne of CO2. 

 

33. The Element Energy study also considered the advantages of a county wide fund 

compared to a fund only covering Cambridge.  Of the £55 million that a county 

wide fund could have generated by 2026, around £23 million would be generated 

                                           
2
 Element Energy (Jan 2012).  Cambridgeshire Community Energy Fund Stage 2 Final Report 

Page 101



by developments in Cambridge.  The average amount being invested into the 

fund across the districts would be around £6 million, which is not huge in the 

context of capital costs of low carbon energy projects.  For example, the district 

heating project in Cambridge City Centre has estimated capital costs of around 

£25 million.  The relatively limited scale of the fund is considered to be a strong 

argument in favour of the Cambridgeshire authorities partnering in a joint 

community energy fund that will invest in the most beneficial projects across the 

county.  A fund at a smaller district level scale would be too limited in terms of 

the funds available to significantly influence development of large!scale strategic 

infrastructure projects.    

 

ISSUE:  RENEWABLE AND LOW CARBON ENERGY GENERATION 

 

Strategic Vision/Objective: 

 

Vision: 

Cambridge will be a pioneer in its approach to sustainable development and climate 

change, transitioning to a low and eventually zero carbon economy. Development 

will contribute to making Cambridge a water sensitive city, capable of adapting to 

our changing climate, making best use of energy, water and other natural resources, 

securing radical reductions in carbon emissions and minimising environmental 

impact. 

 

Objectives: 

 ! To ensure that a water sensitive urban design approach is taken in all 

development proposals so that they are appropriate in terms of flood risk 

and water body quality, see water as a valuable resource and have a positive 

impact on the River Cam and other water features; 

 ! That Cambridge contributes fully to carbon reduction targets including; by 

design the principles of sustainable design and construction are integrated 

into development proposals and through supporting community energy 

projects. 

 

POLICY: 

 

Policy 11: Renewable and Low Carbon Energy Generation  

 

Proposals for development involving the provision of renewable and/or low carbon 

energy generation, including community energy projects, will be supported, subject 

to the acceptability of their wider impacts.  As part of such proposals, the following 

should be demonstrated: 

a) That any adverse impacts to the environment, including local amenity and impacts 

on the historic environment, including its setting, have been minimised as far as 

possible.  These considerations will include air quality concerns, particularly where 

proposals fall within or close to the Air Quality Management Area(s) or areas where 

air pollution levels are approaching the EU Limit Values, as well as noise issues 

associated with certain renewable and low carbon technologies; 

Page 102



b) That where any localised adverse environmental effects remain, that these are 

outweighed by the wider environmental, economic or social benefits of the scheme. 

 

Supporting Text: 

 

Increasing the proportion of energy generated from renewable and low carbon 

sources will help Cambridge to meet its vision of a low carbon city.  As well as 

national targets for carbon reduction, there are also targets in relation to energy 

supplied from renewable energy sources, with a legal commitment for the UK to 

meet 15% of its energy requirements from renewable sources by 2020
3
. 

 

A number of studies have assessed Cambridge’s potential for renewable and low 

carbon energy generation.  These studies suggest that the main focus for renewable 

and low carbon energy generation will be from the potential Cambridge offers for 

the development of district heat networks and the utilisation of microgeneration 

such as solar panels.  The Council recognises that the opportunities for stand!alone 

renewable energy schemes within Cambridge are limited.  However, it is keen to 

support opportunities where they arise, in particular small!scale and community 

schemes that are most likely to be viable within Cambridge. 

 

While the Council wishes to promote renewable and low carbon energy generation, 

there is also a need to balance this desire against other objectives for Cambridge 

such as minimising pollution and protection and enhancement of the historic 

environment.  Applicants are expected to have taken appropriate steps to mitigate 

any adverse impacts through careful consideration of: 

 ! Location, scale, design and other measures, including those necessary to 

minimise any noise impacts; 

 ! Cumulative impacts; 

 ! Impacts on the landscape, the built environment, cultural heritage and 

biodiversity. 

Other policies in the Local Plan concern the safeguarding of the natural and historic 

environment and the protection of international, national or locally designated sites 

and buildings, and these should be taken into account in applications for energy 

schemes. 

 

Potential impacts may be acceptable if they are minor, or are outweighed by wider 

benefits including the need for energy from renewable and low carbon sources, 

which will contribute to reducing carbon and other emissions. 

 

How the Policy Came About: 

 

34. Paragraph 97 of the National Planning Policy Framework requires local planning 

authorities to recognise the responsibility on all local communities to contribute 

to energy generation from renewable or low carbon sources.  It requires local 

                                           
3
 As of 2011, 4.1% of the UK’s primary energy requirements came from renewable sources (data 

source: DECC National Renewable Energy Statistics 

Page 103



planning authorities to have a positive strategy to promote energy from 

renewable and low carbon sources while ensuring that any adverse impacts are 

addressed.  This policy seeks to provide this positive strategy, building upon the 

energy resource evidence provided by the Decarbonising Cambridge Study (2010) 

and the Cambridgeshire Renewables Infrastructure Framework (2012), which 

mapped the potential of a range of renewable and low carbon energy sources in 

Cambridge, including district heating, wind, solar and biomass.   

 

35. These studies have shown that the opportunities for stand!alone renewable 

energy schemes within Cambridge are limited and new projects within the city 

are likely to be relatively small!scale.  Even so, the Council wishes to support 

renewable and low carbon energy projects that will contribute to overall carbon 

reduction across Cambridge, while at the same time ensuring that there will be 

no unacceptable impact on the local environment.  These considerations will 

include air quality concerns associated with proposals utilising biomass 

combustion, particularly where these fall within or close to the Air Quality 

Management Area or areas where air pollution levels approach the EU Limit 

Values, as well as noise issues associated with certain renewable and low carbon 

technologies.  There could be links between identified projects and the proposals 

to develop a Cambridgeshire Community Energy Fund, in that some of these 

projects may be eligible for funding from the Community Energy Fund.  Possible 

projects would be identified and form part of an energy efficiency and renewable 

and low carbon energy infrastructure projects list, which would then be used for 

the basis of allocating developers allowable solutions contributions. 

 

36. The Interim Sustainability Appraisal of the Issues and Options Report concluded 

that such a policy would be likely to have a positive effect on key issues identified 

under the climate change mitigation and renewable energy themes.  This 

included ensuring the greater deployment of renewable energy technologies and 

reducing carbon emissions from new developments.  The Appraisal did note that 

there would be a need to balance energy provision against other objectives such 

as protection and enhancement of the historic environment, which is provided 

for under Policy 11. 

 

ISSUE:  ENERGY EFFICIENCY IN EXISTING DWELLINGS 

 

Strategic Vision/Objective: 

 

Vision: 

Cambridge will be a pioneer in its approach to sustainable development and climate 

change, transitioning to a low and eventually zero carbon economy. Development 

will contribute to making Cambridge a water sensitive city, capable of adapting to 

our changing climate, making best use of energy, water and other natural resources, 

securing radical reductions in carbon emissions and minimising environmental 

impact. 

 

Objectives: 

Page 104



 ! To ensure that a water sensitive urban design approach is taken in all 

development proposals so that they are appropriate in terms of flood risk 

and water body quality, see water as a valuable resource and have a positive 

impact on the River Cam and other water features; 

 ! That Cambridge contributes fully to carbon reduction targets including; by 

design the principles of sustainable design and construction are integrated 

into development proposals and through supporting community energy 

projects. 

 

POLICY: 

 

Policy 12: Energy Efficiency Improvements in Existing Dwellings 

 

In order to assist with achievement of the Plan’s vision for a low carbon city, and to 

tackle issues of rising fuel costs for residents, applications for extensions to existing 

dwellings and/or the conversion of ancillary residential floorspace to living 

accommodation, should be accompanied by cost effective improvements to the 

energy efficiency of the existing dwelling, where such measures have not already 

been implemented. 

 

Supporting Text: 

 

In order for Cambridge to play a role in meeting national targets for carbon 

reduction, there is a need to reduce emissions from existing buildings as well as new.  

Policy 12 above seeks to utilise the opportunities that arise for making cost effective 

energy efficiency improvements when works to extend existing homes are 

undertaken.  Applicants will be asked to complete a simple online home energy 

questionnaire, which will help to identify measures suitable for implementation.   

 

The aim of the policy is to help homeowners implement measures that will enhance 

the energy efficiency of their homes, therefore helping to reduce fuel costs at a time 

of rising energy prices.  In some cases this might help to reduce the risk of 

homeowners finding themselves in fuel poverty, or in cases where residents are 

already in fuel poverty, help to get them out of this situation.   

 

The focus is on cost effective measures with a simple payback of seven years or less 

and that would be relatively simple to install with limited disruption.   Many of these 

measures will be eligible for funding through the Green Deal.  Cambridge City 

Council, alongside the other Cambridgeshire local authorities and Cambridgeshire 

County Council will be taking a partnership approach to delivering the Green Deal 

across the county, in order to ensure that it is a success and that the uptake of 

energy efficiency measures in buildings is maximised.  Working with a local Green 

Deal provider the authorities will be taking an active role in promoting the Green 

Deal to local residents, which will assist with the delivery of this policy. 

 

Care will need to be taken in applying the policy to Listed Buildings and other 

heritage assets to ensure that they are not damaged by inappropriate interventions.  

Page 105



The implementation of the policy will be on a case by case basis, with officers 

recommending measures that would be suitable for that particular property, bearing 

in mind its age, type of construction and historic significance.   There may be cases 

where improvements cannot be made to an existing dwelling without causing harm 

to the significance of the heritage asset, and in such circumstances the requirements 

of this policy will not be implemented.  

 

How the Policy Came About: 

 

37. In order for Cambridge to play a role in tackling national targets for carbon 

reduction, it is important to tackle emissions from existing buildings as well as 

new.  Such an approach is supported by the National Planning Policy Framework, 

which at paragraph 95 states that local planning authorities should “actively 

support energy efficiency improvements to existing buildings”.  For non!

residential buildings there are many drivers for organisations to improve the 

efficiency of their buildings, but this is not the case for existing houses.  At 

present requirements to improve the energy efficiency of new homes, sought 

through Building Regulations, only apply to dwellings over 1,000m2, and as such 

many homes within Cambridge would not be required to comply with these 

Regulations. 

 

38. The Council’s 2009 Housing Stock Survey found that of a total stock of 41,500 

dwellings, there was scope for energy efficiency improvements in 95% of 

properties, including measures such as loft insulation, cavity wall insulation and 

cylinder insulation.  Energy efficiency improvements typically provide relatively 

cost!effective carbon reduction, but can also help reduce energy bills for 

residents, which will become increasingly important in the face of rising energy 

costs.  It is estimated that fuel poverty affects 14% of households in Cambridge, 

with this figure likely to rise as energy costs increase.  A recent report by the 

Committee on Climate Change recognises the scope for local authorities to 

require energy efficiency improvements in return for granting planning 

permission for extensions, citing Uttlesford District Council’s approach as an 

example of best practice. 

 

39. The intention is to introduce a policy, similar to that developed by Uttlesford 

District Council, which would apply to planning applications for works such as an 

extensions or loft conversions.  Works that would be covered by the General 

Permitted Development Order, would not need to meet the requirements of this 

policy.  The policy would require the implementation of cost effective measures 

to improve the energy efficiency of the entire property where such measures had 

not already been undertaken.  These measures are considered in more detail in 

table 2 below.  Concerns expressed during the Issues and Options consultation 

surrounding the expense to homeowners of such a policy are recognised, but the 

focus would be on cost effective measures, defined as measures having a simple 

pay back of seven years or less.  The type of measures that will be promoted 

include upgrading loft insulation, insulating cavity walls, improving draft 

proofing, heating controls upgrade and the installation of low energy lighting.  

Page 106



Many of these measures may also be eligible for funding through the Green Deal, 

which came into effect in January 2013.  As such, the cost to homeowners would 

be limited, but they would still benefit from reduced energy costs as a result of 

increase the energy efficiency of their home. 

 

40. Some respondents to the Issues and Options consultation raised concerns that 

such an approach would increase ‘red tape’ for those wishing to extend their 

homes.  It is not the intention of the policy to increase red tape, but to encourage 

residents to take advantage of the opportunities that carrying out works to their 

homes present: opportunities that should help to reduce energy bills and 

enhance the comfort of their homes.  There will also be further advantages in 

implementing this policy, as by making improvements to the efficiency of their 

homes, this will enable residents to access other financial incentives such as the 

Feed in Tariff, with access to the higher tariff levels influenced by the energy 

performance of homes.  There could be some risks associated with such a policy 

approach given the Government’s recent announcements on increasing the size 

of household extensions that will be considered under permitted development 

rights.  This could reduce the number of applications received for household 

extensions, thereby reducing the application of this policy, although planning 

permission would still be required within Conservation Areas. 

 

41. The focus of the policy would be on existing homes as opposed to non!residential 

properties, which are more likely to be covered by existing Building Regulations 

requirements for consequential improvements.  As such, it would not apply to 

College buildings etc, which are considered in more detail in the policy on works 

to address climate change in heritage assets.  Care will need to be taken in 

applying the proposed policy to historic buildings to ensure that they are not 

damaged by inappropriate interventions.  The implementation of the policy will 

be on a case by case basis, with officers recommending measures that would be 

suitable for that particular property, bearing in mind its age, type of construction 

and historic significance. 

 

42. It is helpful to consider the development of this policy against the Governments 

recent announcement that they will not be requiring consequential 

improvements to existing homes through the 2013 update of Building 

Regulations. One of the main arguments for not pursing this was that research 

indicated that the majority of people were not in favour of such an approach and 

that it would put them off making improvements to their homes.  The research in 

question was undertaken on behalf of the Energy Savings Trust in the Report 

“Exploratory Research into Building Regulations in relation to the Green Deal”.  

The statistic quoted by the Government was that 38% of householders and 

businesses would be put off improving their homes if they had to make 

consequential improvements at the same time.  However, as noted by the Energy 

Savings Trust
4
 in their response to the Government’s announcement to abolish 

the proposed amendments to consequential improvements, this overlooks the 

                                           
!

4
 Hhttp://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/blog/2012/12/17/consequential!improvements!behind!the

headlines/ 

Page 107



fact that 58% of respondents would still be likely to go ahead with such 

improvements.    Further findings of the study were that: 

 ! Seven out of ten homeowners asked think that energy efficiency of homes 

has a major impact of Britain’s carbon emissions; 

 ! Over three!quarters (77%) felt that “more should be done by Government to 

help people make their homes more energy efficient”; 

 ! Extending building regulations was felt to be reasonable by 63% of 

respondents, with this figure increasing to 76% when the Green Deal could be 

used to finance the additional energy efficiency improvements; 

 ! Only 6% of respondents thought that consequential improvements would be 

“wholly unreasonable”. 

 

43. There are also examples of local consequential improvements policies that have 

worked well.  Uttlesford District Council has been running a version of 

consequential improvements since 2006 to great success.  Between 2006 and 

2009 it was applied to 1,400 householder applications, with expected carbon 

savings of around 398,000 Kg CO2 per year.   Uttlesford District Council is looking 

to continue this approach with a policy in their Draft Local Plan (June 2012)
5
. 

 

44. Concerns surrounding the take up of the Green Deal and the possibility of 

residents being misled by rogue traders, highlighted in Aecom’s 2012 report on 

Consequential Improvements, should be overcome by the Council’s role as a 

Green Deal Promoter. Cambridge City Council, alongside the other 

Cambridgeshire local authorities and Cambridgeshire County Council will be 

taking a partnership approach to delivering the Green Deal across the county, in 

order to ensure that it is a success and that the uptake of energy efficiency 

measures in buildings is maximised.  Working with a local Green Deal provider, 

the authorities will be taking an active role in promoting the Green Deal to local 

residents, which will assist with the delivery of this policy.  There are a number of 

benefits for residents in the authorities taking such an approach, including: 

 ! Helping to reduce fuel poverty amongst Cambridge residents; 

 ! Ensuring good value, high quality energy efficiency installations with 

outstanding quality of work and customer care; and 

 ! Boosting the local economy through employment, skills and learning and 

expansion and development of the energy efficiency and micro!generation 

business sector. 

                                           
5
 Policy EN1 – Sustainable Energy requires proportionate improvements to the energy efficiency of 

existing dwellings when granting permission for residential extensions and/or the conversion of 

ancillary floorspace to living accommodation. 

Page 108



T
a
b
le

 2
: 
M

e
a
su

re
s 

fo
r 

im
p

le
m

e
n

ta
ti

o
n

 u
n

d
e
r 

P
o

li
cy

 1
2

 

 

M
E
A
S
U
R
E

 

(D
e
ta
ch
e
d

 

h
o
u
se

 
o
r 

b
u
n
g
a
lo
w
) 

R
E
Q
U
IR
E
D

 F
O
R

 
T
Y
P
IC
A
L 

IN
S
T
A
LL
A
T
IO
N

 
C
O
S
T

 

@
2
0
1
3

 

S
A
V
IN
G

 
(£
/Y
R
) 

A
N
D

 

P
A
Y
B
A
C
K

 (
Y
R
S
) 

A
ll

 
sa

v
in

g
s 

a
ss

u
m

e
 

g
a
s 

ce
n

tr
a
l 
h

e
a
ti

n
g

 

E
LI
G
IB
IL
IT
Y

 
F
O
R

 

F
U
N
D
IN
G

 

C
a
v
it

y
 

w
a
ll

 

in
su

la
ti

o
n

 

A
n

y
 
d

w
e
ll
in

g
 
th

a
t 

h
a
s 

e
m

p
ty

 
ca

v
it

y
 

w
a
ll
s,

 
su

b
je

ct
 

to
 

a
 

ch
e
ck

 
fo

r 

su
it

a
b

il
it

y
 

fr
o

m
 

a
n

 
a
cc

re
d

it
e
d

 

in
st

a
ll
e
r 

(a
n

d
 

a
p

p
ro

v
a
l 

b
y

 
lo

ca
l 

a
u

th
o

ri
ty

 b
u

il
d

in
g

 c
o

n
tr

o
l)

. 

£
3

0
0

 
S
a
v
in

g
 =

 £
2

1
0

 !
 £

2
5

0
 

P
a
y
b

a
ck

 
=

 
le

ss
 

th
a
n

 
2

 

y
e
a
rs

 

 

 

N
e
w

 i
n
st
a
ll
a
ti
o
n
: 

S
a
v
in

g
 =

 £
2

1
0

 !
 £

2
5

0
 

P
a
y
b

a
ck

 
=

 
Le

ss
 

th
a
n

 
1

 

y
e
a
r 

Lo
ft

 
in

su
la

ti
o

n
 

(2
5

0
m

m
) 

A
n

y
 
d

w
e
ll
in

g
 
w

it
h

 
a
n

 
a
cc

e
ss

ib
le

 
lo

ft
 

a
n

d
 

le
ss

 
th

a
n

 
1

0
0

m
m

 
d

e
p

th
 

o
f 

e
xi

st
in

g
 i
n

su
la

ti
o

n
. 

N
e
w

 
in

st
a
ll
a
ti

o
n

 
=

 

£
2

5
0

 

T
o

p
 u

p
 =

 £
2

6
0

 

T
o
p

 u
p
: 

S
a
v
in

g
 =

 £
6

0
 !

 £
7

0
 

P
a
y
b

a
ck

 =
 A

ro
u

n
d

 4
 y

e
a
rs

 

 

R
e
p

la
ce

m
e
n

t 

co
n

d
e
n

si
n

g
 

b
o

il
e
r 

(A
!r

a
te

d
) 

A
n

y
 

d
w

e
ll
in

g
 

w
it

h
 

a
 

‘w
e
t’

 
ce

n
tr

a
l 

h
e
a
ti

n
g

 
sy

st
e

m
 

w
it

h
 

a
 

n
o

n
!

co
n

d
e
n

si
n

g
 

g
a
s 

o
r 

o
il

 
b

o
il
e
r 

m
o

re
 

th
a
n

 1
5

 y
e
a
rs

 o
ld

. 

 
S
a
v
in

g
 =

 £
1

3
0

 !
 £

1
6

0
 

 

H
e
a
ti

n
g

 c
o

n
tr

o
ls

 

u
p

g
ra

d
e

 

A
n

y
 

d
w

e
ll
in

g
 

w
it

h
 

ce
n

tr
a
l 

h
e
a
ti

n
g

 

th
a
t 

la
ck

s 
a

 
p

ro
g
ra

m
m

a
b

le
 

ti
m

e
r,

 

ro
o

m
 

th
e
rm

o
st

a
t 

o
r 

th
e
rm

o
st

a
ti

c 

ra
d

ia
to

r 
v
a
lv

e
s.

 

£
2

0
0

 
S
a
v
in

g
 =

 £
7

0
 !

 £
9

0
 

P
a
y
b

a
ck

 
=

 
B

e
tw

e
e
n

 
2

 
–

 
3

 

y
e
a
rs

 

 

H
o
t 

w
a
te
r 

in
su

la
ti
o
n

 

A
n
y

 d
w
e
ll
in
g

 t
h
a
t 
h
a
s 
a
n

 u
n
in
su

la
te
d

 

h
o
t 

w
a
te
r 

ta
n
k

 
o
r 

a
 
ta
n
k

 
h
a
s 

a
n

 

 
S
a
v
in
g

 =
 a
p
p
ro

x
 £
2
0

 
 

Page 109



p
a
ck

a
g
e

 
e
xi

st
in

g
 j
a
ck

e
t 

th
a
t 

is
 i
n

 p
o

o
r 

re
p

a
ir

. 

D
ra

u
g
h

t 

p
ro

o
fi

n
g

 

A
n

y
 
d

w
e
ll
in

g
 
th

a
t 

h
a
s 

a
n

 
e
xc

e
ss

iv
e

 

a
ir

 
le

a
k
a
g
e

 
a
s 

ju
d

g
e
d

 
b

y
 
a

 
b

u
il
d

in
g

 

su
rv

e
y
o

r 
(c

o
u

ld
 

th
e

 
H

e
a
t 

S
e

e
k
e

rs
 

p
ro

je
ct

 
p

ro
v
id

e
 

u
s 

w
it

h
 

th
is

 

in
fo

rm
a
ti

o
n

?
).

 

£
7

5
 

S
a
v
in

g
 =

 A
p

p
ro

x 
£

2
0

 

P
a
y
b

a
ck

 –
 A
ro
u
n
d

 4
 y
e
a
rs

 

 

M
E
A
S
U
R
E

 

(S
e
m
i!
d
e
ta
ch
e
d

 

o
r 

e
n
d

!o
f!

te
rr
a
ce
) 

R
E
Q
U
IR
E
D

 F
O
R

 
T
Y
P
IC
A
L 

IN
S
T
A
LL
A
T
IO
N

 
C
O
S
T

 

@
2
0
1
3

 

S
A
V
IN
G

 
(£
/Y
R
) 

A
N
D

 

P
A
Y
B
A
C
K

 (
Y
R
S
) 

A
ll

 
sa
v
in
g
s 

a
ss
u
m
e

 
g
a
s 

ce
n
tr
a
l 
h
e
a
ti
n
g

 

E
LI
G
IB
IL
IT
Y

 
F
O
R

 

F
U
N
D
IN
G

 

C
a
v
it
y

 
w
a
ll

 

in
su
la
ti
o
n

 

A
n
y

 
d
w
e
ll
in
g

 
th
a
t 
h
a
s 
e
m
p
ty

 
ca
v
it
y

 

w
a
ll
s,

 
su
b
je
ct

 
to

 
a

 
ch
e
ck

 
fo
r 

su
it
a
b
il
it
y

 
fr
o
m

 
a
n

 
a
cc
re
d
it
e
d

 

in
st
a
ll
e
r 

(a
n
d

 
a
p
p
ro
v
a
l 

b
y

 
lo
ca
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty

 b
u
il
d
in
g

 c
o
n
tr
o
l)
. 

£
2
6
0

 
S
a
v
in
g

 =
 £
1
3
0

 !
 £
1
6
0

 

P
a
y
b
a
ck

 
=

 
Le
ss

 
th
a
n

 
2

 

y
e
a
rs

 

 

N
e
w

 i
n
st
a
ll
a
ti
o
n
: 

S
a
v
in
g

 =
 £
1
8
0

 !
 £
2
2
0

 

P
a
y
b
a
ck

 
=

 
Le
ss

 
th
a
n

 
2

 

y
e
a
rs

 

 

Lo
ft

 
in
su
la
ti
o
n

 

(2
5
0
m
m
) 

A
n
y

 
d
w
e
ll
in
g

 
w
it
h

 
a
n

 
a
cc
e
ss
ib
le

 
lo
ft

 

a
n
d

 
le
ss

 
th
a
n

 
1
0
0
m
m

 
d
e
p
th

 
o
f 

e
xi
st
in
g

 i
n
su
la
ti
o
n
. 

N
e
w

 
in
st
a
ll
a
ti
o
n

 
=

 

£
1
8
0

 –
 £
2
2
0

 

T
o
p

 u
p

 =
 £
5
0

 !
 £
6
0

 

T
o
p

 u
p
: 

S
a
v
in
g

 =
 £
5
0

 !
 £
6
0

 

P
a
y
b
a
ck

 =
 A
ro
u
n
d

 4
 y
e
a
rs

 

 

R
e
p
la
ce
m
e
n
t 

co
n
d
e
n
si
n
g

 

b
o
il
e
r 
(A

!r
a
te
d
) 

A
n
y

 
d
w
e
ll
in
g

 
w
it
h

 
a

 
‘w
e
t’

 
ce
n
tr
a
l 

h
e
a
ti
n
g

 
sy
st
e
m

 
w
it
h

 
a

 
n
o
n

!

co
n
d
e
n
si
n
g

 
g
a
s 
o
r 
o
il

 
b
o
il
e
r 
m
o
re

 

th
a
n

 1
5

 y
e
a
rs

 o
ld
. 

 
S
a
v
in
g

 =
 £
1
0
0

 –
 £
1
2
0

 

 

 

H
e
a
ti
n
g

 c
o
n
tr
o
ls

 
A
n
y

 
d
w
e
ll
in
g

 
w
it
h

 
ce
n
tr
a
l 
h
e
a
ti
n
g

 
£
2
0
0

 
S
a
v
in
g

 =
 £
6
0

 !
 £
7
0

 
 

Page 110



u
p

g
ra

d
e

 
th

a
t 

la
ck

s 
a

 
p

ro
g
ra

m
m

a
b

le
 

ti
m

e
r,

 

ro
o

m
 

th
e
rm

o
st

a
t 

o
r 

th
e
rm

o
st

a
ti

c 

ra
d

ia
to

r 
v
a
lv

e
s.

 

P
a
y
b

a
ck

 =
 A

ro
u

n
d

 3
 y

e
a
rs

 

H
o

t 
w

a
te

r 

in
su

la
ti

o
n

 

p
a
ck

a
g
e

 

A
n

y
 d

w
e
ll
in

g
 t

h
a
t 

h
a
s 

a
n

 u
n

in
su

la
te

d
 

h
o

t 
w

a
te

r 
ta

n
k

 
o

r 
a

 
ta

n
k

 
h

a
s 

a
n

 

e
xi

st
in

g
 j
a
ck

e
t 

th
a
t 

is
 i
n

 p
o

o
r 

re
p

a
ir

. 

 
S
a
v
in

g
 =

 A
p

p
ro

x 
£

2
0

 
 

D
ra

u
g
h

t 

p
ro

o
fi

n
g

 

A
n

y
 
d

w
e
ll
in

g
 
th

a
t 

h
a
s 

a
n

 
e
xc

e
ss

iv
e

 

a
ir

 
le

a
k
a
g
e

 
a
s 

ju
d

g
e
d

 
b

y
 
a

 
b

u
il
d

in
g

 

su
rv

e
y
o

r 
(c

o
u

ld
 

th
e

 
H

e
a
t 

S
e

e
k
e

rs
 

p
ro

je
ct

 
p

ro
v
id

e
 

u
s 

w
it

h
 

th
is

 

in
fo

rm
a
ti

o
n

?
).

 

£
7

5
 

S
a
v
in

g
 =

 A
p

p
ro

x 
£

2
0

 

P
a
y
b

a
ck

 =
 A

ro
u

n
d

 4
 y

e
a
rs

 

 

Page 111



 

ISSUE:  INTEGRATED WATER MANAGEMENT 

 

Strategic Vision/Objective: 

 

Vision: 

Cambridge will be a pioneer in its approach to sustainable development and climate 

change, transitioning to a low and eventually zero carbon economy. Development 

will contribute to making Cambridge a water sensitive city, capable of adapting to 

our changing climate, making best use of energy, water and other natural resources, 

securing radical reductions in carbon emissions and minimising environmental 

impact. 

 

Objectives: 

 ! To ensure that a water sensitive urban design approach is taken in all 

development proposals so that they are appropriate in terms of flood risk 

and water body quality, see water as a valuable resource and have a positive 

impact on the River Cam and other water features. 

 

Policy: 

 

Policy 13: Integrated water management and the water cycle 

 

Development will be permitted provided that the design: 

a) Surface water is managed close to its source and on the surface where it 

reasonably practicable to do so; 

b) Priority is given to the use of nature services
6
; 

c) Water is seen as a resource and is re!used where practicable, offsetting potable 

water demand and that a water sensitive approach is taken to the design of the 

development; 

d) The features that manage surface water are commensurate with the design of 

the development in terms of size, form and materials and make an active 

contribution to making places for people.  

e) Surface water management features are multi!functional wherever possible in 

their land use. 

f) Any flat roof, is a green or brown roof providing that it is acceptable in terms of 

its context in the historic environment of Cambridge (see Policy 49: Protection 

and Enhancement of Cambridge’s Historic Environment) and the structural 

capacity of the roof if a refurbishment.  Green or brown roofs should be widely 

utilised in large scale new communities. 

g) There is no discharge from the developed site for rainfall depths up to 5 mm;   

h) The run!off from all hard surfaces shall receive an appropriate level of treatment 

in accordance with The SuDS Manual (CIRIA C697) to minimise the risk of 

pollution; 

                                           
6

Nature services are defined by the National Planning Policy Framework as ‘The benefits people 

obtain from ecosystems such as, food, water, flood and disease control and recreation’.  These are 

also known as ecosystem services.

Page 112



i) Development adjacent to a water body actively seeks to enhance the water body 

in terms of its hydromorphology, biodiversity potential and setting; and 

j) Watercourses are not culverted and any opportunity to remove culverts is taken. 

 

Supporting Text: 

 

The Surface Water Management Plan
7
 and Strategic Flood Risk Assessment for 

Cambridge
8
 have found there is little or no capacity in our rivers and watercourses 

that eventually receive surface water runoff from Cambridge and that it needs to be 

adequately managed so that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. The appropriate 

application of sustainable drainage systems to manage surface water within a 

development is the approach recommended within the Technical Guidance to the 

National Planning Policy Framework
9
 as a way of managing this risk. 

 

Current best practice guidance such as The SuDS Manual and Planning for SuDS 

(CIRIA C697 and C687) should be followed in the design of developments of all sizes, 

with design principles that are important to Cambridge set out in this policy.   The 

use of smaller more resilient features distributed throughout a development instead 

of one large management feature should be utilised.  Figure 10 provides examples of 

how to successfully integrate SuDS into a range of developments. 

 

Figure 10: Examples of Integrating SUDs into developments (included in Appendix D) 

 

Managing water close to where it falls and on the surface is often the most cost 

effective way to manage surface water. Early consideration in the design process 

helps achieve this.  Managing water on the surface is an opportunity to celebrate 

water and create Cambridge distinctive developments. 

 

Climate change will see times of too much water and times of too little water more 

frequently than we get now. The design of new developments should reflect this 

change and value water as a resource than can be stored in times of plenty for re!use 

in times of deficit. 

 

Green/brown roofs are a key measure in terms of Cambridge’s climate change 

adaptation policy.  They offer multiple benefits for a comparatively small additional 

construction cost, including forming part of an effective sustainable drainage 

solution, reducing the amounts of storm water run!off and attenuating peak flow 

rates.  In the summer, a green roof can typically retain between 70!80% of rainfall 

run!off.  Predicted climate change means that Cambridge will experience increasing 

risks of flooding, overheating and drought, manifested through hotter drier summers 

and warmer wetter winters.  Living roofs can for reduce the negative effects of 

climate change, for example by improving a buildings energy balance and reducing 

carbon emissions.  The use of vegetation on a roof surface ameliorates the negative 

                                           
7
 https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/background!documents 

8
 https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/strategic!flood!risk!assessment 

9
 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national!planning!policy!framework!technical!

guidance

Page 113



thermal effects of conventional roof surfaces through the cooling effect of 

evapotranspiration, which can also help ameliorate the Urban Heat Island Effect.  It 

can also provide benefit in the form of insulation, helping to reduce the internal 

cooling load of buildings thereby reducing energy use and associated carbon 

emissions.  The biodiversity benefits of green roofs are manifold, supporting rare and 

interesting types of plant, which in turn can host a variety of rare and interesting 

fauna.  Accessible roof space can also provide outdoor living space, particularly in 

high density development.  As such, accessible roof space should be viewed as an 

integral element of a well!designed, high quality, high density, more efficient, 

attractive and liveable city.  

 

Green/brown roofs can be more cost effective than a traditional roof over the 

lifetime of a development. A flat roof is defined as a roof with a slope of between 0° 

and 10° in pitch. 

 

The Water Framework Directive and the associated River Basin Management Plan for 

the Anglian region requires public bodies to have a positive impact on the quality of 

lakes, rivers and groundwater collectively called water bodies.  The water bodies in 

Cambridge are currently failing to achieve the required status of ‘good’.  Quality 

refers to the quality of the water body in terms of the quality of the water itself, the 

quality of the shape and form of the water body and the quality of the biodiversity of 

the water body. 

 

This policy seeks to ensure all surface water that is discharged to ground or into 

rivers, watercourses and sewers has an appropriate level of treatment to reduce the 

risk of diffuse pollution.  

 

The policy also recognises that development adjacent to a water body provides an 

opportunity for both the development and the water body and that they should 

complement and enhance each other. 

 

How the Policy Came About: 

 

45. Water sensitive design is an approach that considers water as a valuable 

resource in terms of re!use, visual amenity, biodiversity enhancement and its 

wider benefits such as providing opportunities for recreation and its role in food 

production.  This approach manages surface water runoff in the most sustainable 

way, integrating it within the landscape, cleaning the water as it passes through 

the system and reducing the risk of flooding to the development, adjacent land 

and land downstream. Water is re!used wherever possible, reducing the burden 

on drinking water supplies. This is considered the most efficient and cost 

effective way of managing surface water as evidenced by the Water sensitive 

urban design scoping study produced by CIRIA
10

). 

 

                                           
10

http://www.ciria.org/service/knowledgebase/AM/ContentManagerNet/ContentDisplay.aspx?Sectio

n=knowledgebase&ContentID=23581 

Page 114



46. In accordance with the findings of the Green Infrastructure Study
11

 and the 

National Planning Policy Framework, surface water management should be 

integrated into our natural spaces (green infrastructure), existing water bodies 

(blue infrastructure) and our built environment (grey infrastructure). This 

increases the efficiency of water management and maximises their multiple 

benefits.  

 

47. One of the core planning principles of the National Planning Policy Framework 

(paragraph 17) is that planning should take full account of flood risk, encourage 

the use of existing resources and encourage the use of land for multiple benefits. 

The Flood and Water Management Act
12

 and National and Local Flood and 

Coastal Erosion Risk Management Strategies
13

 espouses consideration of flood 

risk being central to planning and highlights the positive benefit to existing issues 

that good design within new developments can bring. The National Planning 

Policy Framework also requires that when determining planning applications, 

local planning authorities should ensure flood risk is not increased elsewhere.  

 

48. This policy is about the promotion of the continued delivery of what is 

considered current best practice in terms of the design of sustainable drainage 

systems in Cambridge and how to realise the range of benefits they offer through 

high quality design. This draws on the recommendations of the National Planning 

Policy Framework and the principles of good design contained with the draft 

National SuDS Standards
14

 published by Defra. 

 

49. Sustainable drainage systems are often seen as additions to a development to 

deal with the problem of surface water and they do not always fully realise the 

multifunctional benefits they offer.  The key to successful management of 

surface water within a development is to have it integrated within the 

development and to think about this at the earliest possible opportunity in the 

design process. (Planning for SuDS CIRIA C687). 

 

50. This policy is a manifestation of the recommendation with the Water Cycle 

Strategy Phase 2 (July 2011) REC SWM 115: Planning policy recommendations: 

Surface water management: 

 ! Development should achieve 100% above ground surface water drainage 

except where this is not feasible due to housing densities, land take, ground 

conditions, topography, or other circumstances outlined within the 

development proposals. 

 ! Where 100% above ground drainage is not feasible due to the size of 

development (i.e. windfall and non!strategic developments) or proposed high 

densities, the development proposals should maximise opportunities to use 

                                           
11

 http://www.cambridgeshirehorizons.co.uk/our_challenge/GIS.aspx 
12

 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/contents 
13

 http://www.environment!agency.gov.uk/research/policy/130073.aspx 
14

 http://www.defra.gov.uk/consult/files/suds!consult!annexa!national!standards!111221.pdf 
15

http://www.cambridgeshirehorizons.co.uk/documents/environment/cambridge_area_wcs_phase2.

pdf 

Page 115



SUDS measures which require no additional land take, i.e. green roofs, 

permeable surfaces and water butts. 

 ! Development proposals should ensure that surface water drainage is 

integrated within the built environment. In addition, surface water drainage 

proposals should maximise opportunities to create amenity, enhance 

biodiversity, and contribute to a network of green (and blue) open space, in 

tandem with the Cambridgeshire Green Infrastructure Strategy to 2031
16

. 

 ! Surface water drainage should be considered at an early stage of the master 

planning process, to allow maximum integration of drainage and open space, 

and to minimise the additional land take required by above ground drainage. 

 

51. The Interim Sustainability Appraisal of the Issues and Options Report indicated 

that this option would be beneficial to Cambridge and the new communities 

created with integrated water management techniques.  This policy approach 

would ensure that water management proposals form an integrated element of 

the overall design of developments, which will in turn lead to water management 

solutions that offer multiple benefits beyond just reduction of flood risk, 

including the enhancement of biodiversity and mitigation of the urban heat 

island effect. 

 

52. In the consultation responses, there were concerns about having a prescriptive 

approach to assigning land use to multi!functional water management features 

and the effect on the viability of a development. This has been noted and a less 

prescriptive approach to encouraging best practice has been incorporated into 

the development of the policy as development sites within the City Centre may 

require a larger open space to built form ratio to be viable. This policy 

encourages best practice without restricting percentages of open space through 

the use of rainwater harvesting and/or green roofs. 

 

53. The policy also includes requirements related to the provision of green/brown 

roofs. All extensive green roofs provide better returns on investment than 

shingle or paving based inverted roofs. Extensive substrate base roofs that are 

hydro!seeded or bio!diverse provide better returns on investment than a basic 

bare roof.  Semi!extensive roofs also provide better returns on investment than 

inverted roofs.
17

 

 

54. Green/brown roofs offer multiple benefits in terms of surface water 

management, amenity, biodiversity, water quality improvements, carbon 

reduction, noise attenuation, and reduction of the urban heat island effect, and 

they can be more cost effective than conventional roofs, as noted in the Living 

Roofs and Wall Technical Report. 

 

55. Some respondents raised concerns about the impact of such a policy on the 

viability of development.  However, as evidenced by the Living Roofs and Walls 

                                           
16

 http://www.cambridgeshirehorizons.co.uk/our_challenge/GIS.aspx 
17

 Greater London Authority, 2008, Living Roofs and Walls Technical Report. 

www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/uploads/living!roofs.pdf

Page 116



Technical Report (2008)
12

, if the right type of green/brown roof is used in the 

right location they can be more cost effective than traditional roofs and can 

increase the time between major maintenance on flat roofs. 

 

56. In dense urban environments, green/brown roofs can often be the only effective 

measure in combating the cumulative detrimental impact of urban creep 

associated with minor developments in terms of flood risk. Because of the nature 

of the high levels of surface water flood risk in Cambridge, this policy enables 

minor development without adding to that risk. 

 

57. As the sustainability appraisal states, the use of green/brown roofs can also 

reduce the urban heat island effect and contribute to an overall climate change 

adaptation position which is required under the Planning Act and a core planning 

principle of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 

58. It is recognised that they are not appropriate in all situations and this has been 

reflected in the creation of the policy, for example in certain instances where 

they may not relate well to the historic environment. 

 

59. Current water body quality status in Cambridge is:  

 ! The Cam (upstream) – ‘poor’;  

 ! The Cam (downstream) – ‘moderate’; 

 ! Bin Brook – ‘moderate’;  

 ! Hobson’s Brook – ‘moderate’;  

 ! Cherry Hinton Brook – ‘moderate’
18
. 

   

60. The Water Framework Directive requires that all water bodies are at ‘good’ 

status by 2015. 

 

61. The Council has a duty to ensure that there is improvement to water body quality 

through its policies and actions, including planning.  When considered in the 

context of the Anglian River Basin Management Plan (2009) and the Water 

Framework Directive (2000), the status of the water body quality in Cambridge 

currently varies from ‘poor’ to ‘moderate’ across a number of water bodies and 

groundwater supplies including the Cam and Ely Ouse Chalk.  Cambridge’s water 

bodies have not achieved ‘good’ status as a result of canalisation, with a loss of 

their natural characteristics, and the flow of untreated surface water runoff into 

the watercourses and the River Cam. 

 

62. Only one option was put forward for policy development because the Council has 

a statutory duty to have regard to the Water Framework Directive and the 

associated Anglian River Basin Management Plan.  The National Planning Policy 

Framework is clear that the planning system should contribute to and enhance 

the natural and local environment, including preventing new development from 

                                           

18
 Environment Agency (2009), Anglian River Basin Management Plan  

Page 117



contributing to water pollution.  This option attracted strong support at the 

Issues and Options consultation, with the Interim Sustainability Appraisal noting 

that it would have many positive benefits across a number of sustainability 

themes. 

 

ISSUE: FLOOD RISK 

 

Strategic Vision/Objective: 

 

Vision: 

Cambridge will be a pioneer in its approach to sustainable development and climate 

change, transitioning to a low and eventually zero carbon economy. Development 

will contribute to making Cambridge a water sensitive city, capable of adapting to 

our changing climate, making best use of energy, water and other natural resources, 

securing radical reductions in carbon emissions and minimising environmental 

impact. 

 

Objectives: 

 ! To ensure that a water sensitive urban design approach is taken in all 

development proposals so that they are appropriate in terms of flood risk 

and water body quality, see water as a valuable resource and have a positive 

impact on the River Cam and other water features. 

 

 

POLICY: 

 

Policy 14:  Flood Risk 

 

Potential flood risk from the development: 

Development will be permitted providing it is demonstrated that: 

a) The peak rate of run!off over the development lifetime, allowing for climate 

change, is no greater for the developed site than it was for the undeveloped 

site;

b) The post development volume of run!off, allowing for climate change over the 

development lifetime, is no greater than it would have been for the 

undeveloped site. If this cannot be achieved then the limiting discharge is 2 

l/s/ha for all events up to the 100 year return period event
19

; 

c) The development is designed so that the flooding of property in and adjacent to 

the development would not occur for a 1 in 100 year event plus an allowance for 

climate change and in the event of local drainage system failure; 

                                           
19

 Where the pre!development peak rate of run!off for the site would result in a requirement for the 

post!development flow rate to be less than 5 l/s at a discharge point, a flow rate of up to 5 l/s may be 

used where required to reduce the risk of blockage. If discharge is to be pumped then this allowance 

does not apply; 

Page 118



d) The discharge locations have the capacity to receive all foul and surface water 

flows from the development. Including discharge by infiltration, into water 

bodies and into sewers; 

e) There is a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the 

development. which shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public 

authority or statutory undertaker and any other arrangements to secure the 

operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime; and 

f) The destination of the discharge obeys the following priority order: 

1. Firstly, to ground via infiltration 

2. Then, to a water body 

3. Then, to a surface water sewer 

Discharge to a foul water or combined sewer is unacceptable. 

 

Potential flood risk to the development: 

Development will be permitted if an assessment of the flood risk is undertaken 

following the principles of the National Planning Policy Framework and additionally: 

 

For an undeveloped site: 

a) If it is not located within flood zone 3b, unless it is a water compatible 

development and does not increase flood risk elsewhere by either displacement 

of flood water or interruption of flood flow routes and employs flood resilient 

and resistant construction including appropriate boundary treatment and has a 

safe means of evacuation.  

and 

b) If it is not located within flood zone 3a, unless it is a water compatible 

development or minor development when the principles in a) above apply. 

and 

c) If it is located within flood zone 2 or a surface water wetspot (see Figure 11 

included in Appendix D) and employs flood resilient and resistant construction as 

appropriate. 

and 

d) Floor levels are 300mm above the 1 in 100 year flood level plus an allowance for 

climate change where appropriate and/or 300mm above adjacent highway levels 

where appropriate. 

 

For a previously developed site: 

Opportunities should be taken to reduce the existing flood risk by the positioning of 

any development such that it does not increase flood risk elsewhere by either 

displacement of flood water or interruption of flood flow routes and employs flood 

resilient and resistant construction including appropriate boundary treatment and 

has a safe means of evacuation. 

 

Supporting Text: 

 

Page 119



Both the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment
20

 and Surface Water Management Plan for 

Cambridge
21

 have found that without the mitigation measures outlined in this policy, 

developments could increase flood risk elsewhere.  Flood risk assessments should 

make reference to the latest version of these studies. There is also an opportunity to 

reduce the overall flood risk in Cambridge through re!development. This policy seeks 

to address this with the same design standards applied to new developments on 

previously developed sites as undeveloped sites as this refers to the site in its natural 

state prior to any development taking place.  

 

The rivers, watercourses, sewers and ground conditions throughout Cambridge have 

varying amounts of capacity for flow from new developments and an adequate 

assessment of this capacity must be undertaken to support any development 

proposals.  This policy builds upon the standards currently being achieved in the 

major growth sites on the fringes of Cambridge. 

 

The appropriate responsible bodies including the Environment Agency, Anglian 

Water and Cambridgeshire County Council should be consulted, as appropriate, 

during the initial design process for any new development or re!development. 

 

The Great Ouse Catchment Flood Management Plan
22

 has assessed how an increase 

in the flow of water in rivers and watercourses due to climate change will affect 

Cambridge. It has concluded that flood zones will be inundated more frequently and 

for longer. This seeks to clarify what development would be acceptable in which 

flood zones.  The findings of the Surface Water Management Plan for Cambridge 

highlights the importance of a careful consideration of the levels within a 

development such that if extreme events occur or there is a maintenance issue that 

causes the drainage system to stop working, properties will not flood as a result of 

surface water flooding (pluvial). 

 

In flood zone 3, water maybe flowing in the general direction of the river and 

interruption of these flows can increase flood risk to adjacent developments.  As 

such, careful consideration must be given to the positioning of development on site 

so there is no interruption of these flows is necessary in the design of a 

development. This should also include the consideration of boundary treatments to 

enable floodwater to flow with a minimum of hindrance to the flow. 

 

Discharge of surface water to a foul or combined sewer is unacceptable. 

 

How the Policy Came About: 

 

63. Within Cambridge: 

 ! 11,061 properties are currently at risk of pluvial (surface water) flooding
23

. 

                                           
20

 https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/strategic!flood!risk!assessment 
21

 https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/background!documents 
22

 http://www.environment!agency.gov.uk/research/planning/114303.aspx
23

 Cambridge and Milton Surface Water Management Plan 2011 

Page 120



 ! Estimated economic damages associated with pluvial (surface water) flood risk 

is up to £1,866,839 (annualised average damages)
8
. 

 ! Current fluvial (river) flood risk ! 986 people would be affected by a 1 in 100 

year (1%) flood event and 1,745 people for a 1 in 1000 year (0.1%) event.
24

  

 ! Future fluvial flood risk (in 2110)  ! 1,483 people would be affected by a 1 in 100 

year event and 2,544 people for a 1 in 1000 year event
25

. 

 ! Based on these figures of potential flood risk, the current estimated economic 

damage from fluvial flood risk is £157,667 (annualised average damages), and 

in the future (2110) this would rise to £1.7 million (annualised average 

damages)
26

. 

 

64. Cambridge has issues with both surface water (pluvial) and river (fluvial) flood 

risk throughout Cambridge.  The Surface Water Management Plan for Cambridge 

(2011) shows that the majority of Cambridge is at high risk of surface water 

flooding.  Development, if not undertaken with due consideration of the risk to 

the development and the existing built environment, will further increase this 

flood risk. 

 

65. The Cambridge and South Cambridgeshire Level 1 Strategic Flood Risk 

Assessment (2010) shows that there are areas adjacent to the River Cam and 

smaller watercourses that are at varying degrees of flood risk.   As all surface 

water drains into the watercourses and the River Cam, due consideration must 

be given to the impact of any new development in Cambridge upon the 

consequential increase in flood risk downstream. 

 

66. The technical guidance that accompanies the National Planning Policy 

Framework requires local authorities to seek opportunities for an overall 

reduction in flood risk in the area and this policy is a way achieving that aim and 

the Cambridge policy of ‘do more to reduce flood risk’ from the Great Ouse 

Catchment Flood Management Plan. 

 

67. Paragraph 100 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that 

inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by 

directing development away from areas at highest risk, but where development 

is necessary, making it safe without increasing flooding elsewhere.  Local Plans 

should be supported by Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and develop policies to 

manage flood risk from all sources.  Local plans should apply a sequential, risk!

based approach to the location of development to avoid where possible flood 

risk to people and property and manage any residual risk, taking account of the 

impacts of climate change.  This approach has also been taken as part of the 

                                           
24

 There are two commonly used ways of expressing how frequently a particularly depth or intensity 

of rainfall occurs. Return period such as 1 in 100 or 1 in 1000 is the average time interval between 

rainfall events of a given size. 1% or 0.1% is the annual probability of that event happening each year. 

Numbers from Environment Agency ! Great Ouse Catchment Flood Management Plan 2010 
25

 Environment Agency (2010), Great Ouse Catchment Flood Management Plan 
26

 Annualised annual damages (AAD) is the average damage per year in monetary terms that would 

occur at each specific address point, within the modelled domain, from flooding over 100 years. 

Page 121



identification of sites for allocation in the Local Plan as part of the work on the 

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment, with the exception test applied 

where appropriate. 

 

68. Although only one option was put forward for policy development, this has been 

refined into two parts, one dealing with the potential risk posed by the 

development and how that risk can be managed in Cambridge and another 

dealing with the potential risk posed to the development by the existing fluvial 

and pluvial sources and how that can be managed. 

 

69. There was a strong level of support for this option during the Issues and Options 

consultation and it is one of the core planning principles in the National Planning 

Policy Framework (paragraph 17). Cambridge City Council, under the Flood and 

Water Management Act 2010, are a flood risk authority and must have due 

regard to flood risk management (which includes the reduction of flood risk) in 

everything we undertake as that authority, including planning. There is a National 

Flood and Coastal Erosion risk Management Strategy for England that also 

encourages local authorities to manage flood and coastal erosion risks in an 

appropriate way, taking account of the needs of communities and the 

environment. The policy contains specific local requirements based on local 

evidence from the Surface Water Management Plan for Cambridge and Milton 

(2011) and the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2010) and therefore does repeat 

national policy.  It focuses on location, resilience, resistance and appropriate 

design. 

 

70. The scale and size of developments has been considered when writing the policy 

to ensure clarity is provided on how it will be applied to extensions and 

refurbishments as measures that would be appropriate for large developments 

would not necessarily be appropriate for domestic extensions. The policy also 

seeks to clarify acceptable development in the Environment Agency’s flood zone 

3 (risk of fluvial flooding up to a 1 in 100 year event). 

 

ISSUE: CONTAMINATED LAND 

 

STRATEGIC VISION/OBJECTIVE: 

 

Vision: 

Cambridge will be a pioneer in its approach to sustainable development and climate 

change, transitioning to a low and eventually zero carbon economy. Development 

will contribute to making Cambridge a water sensitive city, capable of adapting to 

our changing climate, making best use of energy, water and other natural resources, 

securing radical reductions in carbon emissions and minimising environmental 

impact. 

 

Objective: 

 ! To ensure that development is managed to minimise its impact on the local 

environment, health and amenity in terms of all sources of pollution and 

Page 122



contamination and to ensure that it is not located close to existing pollution 

sources, unless sufficient mitigation measures are proposed as part of the 

development package. 

 

Policy: Contaminated Land 

 

Policy 15: Contaminated Land 

 

Development will be permitted where the applicant can demonstrate that: 

 

a. There will be no adverse health impacts to future occupiers from ground 

contamination resulting from exiting/previous uses of the area, and 

b. There will be no adverse impacts, from ground contamination, to the 

surrounding occupiers and environment, caused by the development.   

 

Where contamination is suspected an assessment should be undertaken which 

identifies existing/former uses in the area that could have resulted in ground 

contamination; and if necessary: 

a. Design and undertake an intrusive investigation to identify the risks of ground 

contamination, including ground gases; and if necessary 

b. Adopt and implement mitigation measures, to ensure a safe development 

and that the site is stable and suitable to the new use in accordance with the 

National Planning Policy Framework;   

c. Ensures that there are no adverse health impacts to future/surrounding 

occupiers and which minimises impact to the environment.   

 

Proposals for sensitive developments in an existing/former industrial area will be 

permitted where the uses that could result in ground contamination are identified as 

part of the development package.   

 

SUPPORTING TEXT 

 

The growth of rail infrastructure and an expanding population in the 1800s in 

Cambridge led to chalk quarrying, clay extraction, engineering and energy provision, 

through town gas production, during the industrial age.  The last century has also 

seen considerable land filling of voids left by clay and chalk marl extraction, 

electronics manufacturing and engineering.   

 

Pollution can arise from any of the activities presented above and many other 

sources.  Land and groundwater can present a potential source of pollution if they 

have been contaminated by previous land uses.   

 

Land contamination is a material consideration for the purposes of planning.  It is 

important to ensure that proposed developments are situated on land that will be 

safe and suitable for the proposed use.  There will be situations where remediation 

works will be required to make land safe prior to being developed; for example if a 

site’s previous use was a petrol station, there will be a need to ensure that no 

Page 123



residual fuel in storage tanks or in the soil itself is left on!site as it may cause a health 

hazard for future users.  In some instances, the level and type of contamination of 

land may make it unsuitable for certain types of development, for example recently 

closed landfill sites are considered to be unsuitable for residential development.   

 

On a precautionary basis, the possibility of contamination should be assumed when 

considering both development plans and individual planning applications in relation 

to all land subject to or adjacent to previous industrial use and also where uses are 

being considered that are particularly sensitive to contamination.  Conditions shall 

be applied to planning permissions to secure appropriate pollution prevention or 

mitigation measures where required.  In major developments it will also be required 

to demonstrate sustainable forms of managing contaminated land (mitigation 

measures), which reduces the need to landfill and minimises the impacts on climate 

change.   

 

In the context of this policy, examples of sensitive developments include housing, 

schools, hospitals and children’s playing areas.  The DOE Profiles, available for 

download from the Environment Agency Website, provides details on the processes 

and substances associated with common industrial uses.   

 

HOW THE POLICY CAME ABOUT: 

 

71. Policy 14 is the outcome of the consultation on two policy options that were 

presented during the Issues and Options stage:  

 ! Option 84 – development of an overarching policy, dealing will all forms of 

pollution  

 ! Option 87! development of a detailed contaminated land policy  

 

72. Land contamination is a material consideration for the purposes of planning.  It is 

important to ensure that proposed developments are situated on land that will 

be safe and suitable for the proposed use.   

 

73. As part of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended), the Part II A 

regime focuses ‘on land which has been contaminated in the past’.  The regime 

was not introduced in order to address contamination issues arising during the 

redevelopment of land.  This approach is reinforced in the Environmental 

Protection Act 1990: Part II legislation which states that ‘Part IIA is one of the 

main policy measures used to deal with the historic legacy of contaminated land’ 

and that ‘the role of the town and country planning and building control regimes 

is ensuring that land is made suitable for any new use, as planning permission is 

given for that new use.’   

 

74. The Taylor Review (2012) by Lord Taylor identified that there are ‘A number of 

policy areas, mainly from the introduction of the Localism Act and the National 

Planning Policy Framework, where there are gaps in the present guidance’ and 

concludes that ’Guidance is needed on noise, air, land, water and light pollution, 

important issues on which Government could set standards in order to ensure 

Page 124



appropriate development’.  Despite the Taylor Review clearly identifying a gap in 

the existing guidance for contaminated land, there is currently no clear 

commitment/indication for the timescale for this gap to be addressed at the 

national level.  It is therefore of great importance that this gap is addressed at a 

local level through the Local Plan.   

 

75. The adoption of a contaminated land policy at a local level is supported by 

paragraph 121 of the National Planning Policy Framework, which states that 

‘Planning policies and decisions should also ensure that:  

1) the site is suitable for its new use taking account of ground conditions and 

land instability and;  

2) after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being 

determined as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental 

Protection Act 1990’.   

 

76. This approach is also reinforced by the Environmental Protection Act 1990 which 

states that ‘Land contamination, or the possibility of it, is a material 

consideration for the purposes of town and county planning.  This means that a 

planning authority has to consider the potential impacts of contamination both 

when it is developing plans and when it is considering individual applications for 

planning permission’.   

 

77. The Interim Sustainability Appraisal has also recognised that the adoption of this 

policy can ensure that new developments are appropriate; given potential 

sensitivities to adverse effects from pollution, and also that the site is suitable for 

its new use. Strong support was also expressed in the representations for a policy 

that would ‘prevent new developments from contributing to pollution’, which is 

an integral part of the National Planning Policy Framework.   

 

78. As such one option for the new local plan would be to develop a detailed policy 

dealing with contamination, incorporating key elements of guidance previously 

contained in Planning Policy Statement 23.  The policy could be, if need be, 

supported by a Supplementary Planning Document, which could set out some of 

the finer detail to help provide certainty for developers. 

 

79. During the consultation, one respondent felt that a general policy on pollution 

matters would be sufficient with further specific guidance contained in a 

Supplementary Planning Document.  While a single policy would be a simpler 

approach, the National Planning Policy Framework is clear the Supplementary 

Planning Documents should only be used where they can help applicants make 

successful applications or aid infrastructure delivery.  They should not be used to 

add unnecessarily to the financial burdens on development, and given that 

measures to remediate and mitigate pollution matters will have a financial 

implication for developments, these matters should be dealt with through policy.   

 

80. The principles set out in the National Planning Policy Framework, paragraphs 

109!111, 120 and 121, demonstrate why contaminated land is important and 

Page 125



what criteria the new developments should meet with respect to land pollution.  

The implementation of the policy presented above will build further on the 

principles of the National Planning Policy Framework by providing guidance on 

how these principles will be met, reference to technical material and acceptable 

practises will be included.  This approach is supported by the National Planning 

Policy Framework in paragraph 8, which states that ‘the planning system should 

play an active role in guiding development to sustainable solutions’.  Ultimately, 

this policy will enable owners, land developers and any other interested parties 

to demonstrate how a development is ‘suitable for its new use’ and have 

‘minimised impact to the local environment’, which lie at the heart of the 

National Planning Policy Framework.   

  

Procedure for dealing with Contaminated Land 

 

81. The criteria for requiring a Contaminated Land Assessment are set out in the 

Developers’ Guide.  All applications should be in line with the latest nationally 

accepted guidance available at the time of application.  This and further detailed 

information is available in the Cambridge City Council Developers’ Guide to 

Contaminated Land.   

 

82. Figure B summarises the four main phases that may be necessary to ensure that 

a site is suitable for use.  Depending on the results of each phase it may not be 

necessary for all phases to be completed.

 

Page 126



Figure B: Summary of the procedure for considering land contamination 

 

1.

2. 

3. 

4. VERIFICATION OF 

REMEDIATION WORKS 

VALIDATION DATA NOT 

SUFFICIENT:  FURTHER 

INFORMATION NEEDED. 

DATA SUFFICIENT FOR 

DECISION 

SUBMIT TO LPA 

IDENTIFY WORKS 

REQUIRED TO MAKE 

LAND SUITABLE FOR 

THE PROPOSED USE 

PROPOSED SCHEME NOT 

SATISFACTORY.  

ALTERNATIVE OR FURTHER 

WORKS NEEDED.   

DATA SUFFICIENT FOR 

DECISION 

SUBMIT TO LPA

SITE    

INVESTIGATION  

INFORMATION NOT 

SUFFICIENT: CARRY OUT 

FURTHER SITE 

INVESTIGATION.   

DATA SUFFICIENT 

FOR DECISION 

SUBMIT TO LPA  

DESK STUDY SUBMIT TO LPA DATA SUFFICIENT FOR 

DECISION 

INFORMATION NOT 

SUFFICIENT:  CARRY OUT SITE 

INVESTIGATION OR FURTHER 

DESK STUDY REQUIRED. 

Page 127



 

 

ISSUE: LIGHT POLLUTION 

 

STRATEGIC VISION/OBJECTIVE: 

 

Vision: 

Cambridge will be a pioneer in its approach to sustainable development and climate 

change, transitioning to a low and eventually zero carbon economy. Development will 

contribute to making Cambridge a water sensitive city, capable of adapting to our 

changing climate, making best use of energy, water and other natural resources, 

securing radical reductions in carbon emissions and minimising environmental impact. 

 

Objective: 

To ensure that development is managed to minimise its impact on the local 

environment, health and amenity in terms of all sources of pollution and 

contamination and to ensure that it is not located close to existing pollution sources, 

unless sufficient mitigation measures are proposed as part of the development 

package. 

 

POLICY 

 

Policy 15: Light Pollution Control 

 

Development proposals which include new external lighting, or changes to existing 

external lighting, will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that:! 

a.  It is the minimum required to undertake the task, taking into account public 

safety and crime prevention; 

b.  Upwards or intrusive light spillage is minimised; 

c. It minimises impact to local residential amenity; and 

d.  It minimises impact to wildlife and the landscape character, particularly at 

sites on the edge of Cambridge. 

 

Developments of major sites will be required to submit an assessment of the impact 

on any sensitive residential premises both on and off site. 

 

 

SUPPORTING TEXT: 

 

The lighting of new developments must be carefully designed to ensure that areas 

are appropriately lit, whilst avoiding or minimising light pollution.  Excessive lighting 

reduces the visibility of the night sky, is a waste of energy and can harm residential 

amenity by disturbing people’s sleep. It can also disturb wildlife and be visually 

intrusive in the landscape. Details of the proposed lighting scheme should be in line 

with the latest nationally accepted guidance available at the time of the application 

and submitted with the planning application. Lights should be carefully selected and 

Page 128



sited for their purpose, directed only onto the area where they are needed, and 

where necessary shielded by way of appropriate landscaping. Particular care will 

need to be taken with floodlighting of sports pitches.  Where appropriate, conditions 

will be used to control lighting, including limiting the hours of illumination. 

 

The City council supports the lighting of landmark buildings and public spaces in line, 

where it is carried out in a sensitive way avoiding light spillage. 

 

HOW THE POLICY CAME ABOUT: 

 

83. Paragraph 125 of the National Planning Policy Framework specifically mentions 

that planning policies and decisions should aim to “limit the impact of light 

pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and 

nature conservation.”  Although light has now been brought into the Statutory 

Nuisance provisions of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, this does not 

protect to the same standard as detriment to the amenity and neither does it 

extend to protecting intrinsically dark areas or wildlife.  As the aim of the 

planning system is protection of the amenity, intrinsically dark area and wild life 

the nuisance powers given to Local Authorities cannot therefore be accepted as a 

suitable alternative and hence a planning policy on light is required. 

 

 

84. A needs assessment, site survey and modelled levels of light spill will be required 

for major development, development with floodlighting or in countryside/edge 

of city locations as these forms of development could contribute significantly to 

light pollution.  Ecological assessment of the development site may be needed in 

some instances, where there are species, which are particularly sensitive to light.  

For developments that include cycle routes over private land, the standard of 

lighting will be expected to be commensurate with lighting on the public 

highway, where appropriate. Lighting to cycle routes on the highway is regulated 

by the Highways Authority, Cambridgeshire County Council.  

 

85. Whilst respondents to the Issues and Options consultation suggested that a 

single general policy represented a simpler approach to dealing with all forms of 

pollution including light, it would not have sufficient detail to address the full 

range of issues pertaining to light pollution.  The use of a range of different 

policies which clearly set out the requirements expected of developers would 

allow greater certainty through the development process.  This could impact 

positively on the cost of development and the likelihood of development coming 

forward. 

 

 ISSUE: NOISE AND VIBRATION 

 

STRATEGIC VISION/OBJECTIVE: 

 

Vision: 

Page 129



Cambridge will be a pioneer in its approach to sustainable development and climate 

change, transitioning to a low and eventually zero carbon economy. Development 

will contribute to making Cambridge a water sensitive city, capable of adapting to 

our changing climate, making best use of energy, water and other natural resources, 

securing radical reductions in carbon emissions and minimising environmental 

impact. 

 

Objective: 

To ensure that development is managed to minimise its impact on the local 

environment, health and amenity in terms of all sources of pollution and 

contamination and to ensure that it is not located close to existing pollution sources, 

unless sufficient mitigation measures are proposed as part of the development 

package. 

 

POLICY 

 

Policy 17: Protection of Human Health From Noise and Vibration 

 

Development will be permitted where it is demonstrated that it will not lead to 

significant adverse effects, including cumulative effects, on health and amenity from 

noise and vibration: or that significant adverse effects can be minimised through 

appropriate reduction and/or mitigation measures (prevention through design is 

preferable to mitigation). 

 

Developers of major sites and sites which include noise sensitive development 

located close to existing noise sources shall provide a noise assessment, with the 

information presented in Table 5 below also taking into account along side the latest 

nationally and internationally accepted guidance at the time of the application.  

Proposals that are sensitive to noise and located close to existing noise sources, will 

be permitted where adequate noise mitigation measures are provided as part of the 

development package. 

 

Development of sites that include noisy activities or plant or activities that operate at 

unsocial hours shall provide a noise assessment based on current national available 

at the time of the application.  

 

SUPPORTING TEXT: 

 

Noise not only causes annoyance, but can also cause serious disturbance such as the 

loss of sleep.  Research by the World Health Organisation (WHO) has also shown 

noise to cause measurable health affects.  Some aspects of noise is covered other 

legal controls such as nuisance law.  These controls cannot meet the aim of the 

planning system, which is the protection of amenity and the test of ‘statutory 

nuisance’ sets a much higher standard than that of ‘unacceptable harm’.  Neither do 

they include the impact from transport related noise on development.  Therefore 

noise is a material planning consideration. However, it is not the role of the Local 

Plan to prevent all forms of development that may result in some measure of noise, 

Page 130



but rather to control development that may have significant adverse effects.  The 

Plan does not seek to duplicate the statutory nuisance and noise controls provided 

by other legislation. 

 

This policy relates to noise from all potential sources and protects amenity, 

particularly to noise sensitive receptors including receptors living and working in 

Cambridge.  It will also aim to protect any ‘Quiet Areas’ that may be identified in the 

future under the Environmental Noise (England) Regulations 2006.  Vibration is also 

considered under this policy. 

 

For the purposes of the above, noise includes vibration. 

 

Table 5:  Noise Exposure Categories (adapted from Planning Policy Guidance Note 

24: Planning and Noise) 

 

NOISE EXPOSURE 

CATEGORY 

DESCRIPTION 

A Noise need not be considered as a determining factor in 

granting planning permission, although the noise level at the 

high end of the category should not be regarded as a 

desirable level. 

B Noise should be taken into account when determining 

planning applications and, where appropriate, conditions 

imposed to ensure an adequate level of protection against 

noise. 

C Planning permission should not normally be granted. Where 

it is considered that permission should be given, for example 

because there are no alternative quieter sites available, 

conditions should be imposed to ensure a commensurate 

level of protection against noise. 

D Planning permission should normally be refused. 

 

A recommended range of noise levels is given below for each of the NECs for 

dwellings exposed to noise from road, rail, air, and “mixed sources”. 

 

The NEC noise levels should not be used for assessing the impact of industrial noise 

on proposed residential development because the nature of this type of noise, and 

local circumstances, may necessitate individual assessment and because there is 

insufficient information on people’s response to industrial noise to allow detailed 

guidance to be given. 

 

However, at a mixed noise site where industrial noise is present but not dominant, 

its contribution should be included in the noise level used to establish the 

appropriate NEC. 

 

Page 131



The NEC procedure is only applicable where consideration is being given to 

introducing residential development into an area with an existing noise source, 

rather than the reverse. 

 

Noise levels
0
 corresponding to the Noise Exposure Categories (NEC) for new 

dwellings LAeqT dB 

Existing Noise 

Source 

A B C D 

Road traffic 

 

07.00 – 23.00 

 

23.00 – 07.00
1
 

 

 

<55 

 

<45 

 

 

 

55 – 63 

 

45 – 57 

 

 

63 – 72 

 

57 ! 66 

 

 

>72 

 

>66 

Rail Traffic 

 

07.00 – 23.00 

 

23.00 – 07.001 

 

 

<55 

 

<45 

 

 

55 – 66 

 

45 – 59 

 

 

 

66 – 74 

 

59 ! 66 

 

 

>74 

 

>66 

Air Traffic
2
 

 

07.00 – 23.00 

 

23.00 – 07.00
1
 

 

 

<57 

 

<48 

 

 

57 – 66 

 

48 – 57 

 

 

 

66 – 72 

 

57 ! 66 

 

 

>72 

 

>66 

Mixed 

sources
3
 

 

07.00 – 23.00 

 

23.00 – 07.00
1
 

 

 

<55 

 

<45 

 

 

55 – 63 

 

45 – 57 

 

 

 

63 – 72 

 

57 ! 66 

 

 

>72 

 

>66 

 

Notes 

0 Noise levels: the noise level(s) (LAeq,T) used when deciding the NEC of a site 

should be representative of typical conditions. 

1 Night!time noise levels (23.00 ! 07.00): sites where individual noise events 

regularly exceed 82 dB LAmax (S time weighting) several times in any hour 

should be treated as being in NEC C, regardless of the LAeq,8h (except where 

the LAeq,8h already puts the site in NEC D). 

2 Aircraft noise: daytime values accord with the contour values adopted by the 

Department for Transport which relate to levels measured 1.2m above open 

ground. For the same amount of noise energy, contour values can be up to 2 

dB(A) higher than those of other sources because of ground reflection 

effects. 

3 Mixed sources: this refers to any combination of road, rail, air and industrial 

noise sources. The "mixed source" values are based on the lowest numerical 

Page 132



values of the single source limits in the table. The "mixed source" NECs 

should only be used where no individual noise source is dominant. 

 

HOW THE POLICY CAME ABOUT: 

 

86. The National Planning Policy Framework states at paragraph 6 that the purpose 

of the planning system is to “contribute to the achievement of sustainable 

development.” It goes onto describe an environmental role as one of the three 

dimensions to sustainable development and highlights that minimising pollution 

is an important part of this role.  Paragraph 17 lists the core planning principles.  

These include that planning should “always seek to secure high quality design 

and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupiers of land and 

buildings.” Thus leading to better places for people to live.  Paragraph 109, in 

relation to conserving and enhancing the natural environment, explains that the 

planning system should prevent “both new and existing development from 

contributing to, or being put at, unacceptable risk from, or being adversely 

affected by unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution.”  Paragraph 

123, then goes onto describe four main aims for planning policies concerning 

noise.  There is a strong message throughout the National Planning Policy 

Framework that noise is an important factor in the quality of life, health and 

well!being and so is a key aspect of sustainable development supporting the 

need for a planning policy. 

  

87. The Taylor Review of Government Planning Practice Guidance which was 

undertaken in 2012, following the introduction of the National Planning Policy 

Framework, recommends that new planning guidance be provided for several 

pollution topics including noise as “important issues on which Government could 

set standards in order to ensure appropriate development.” It is therefore 

important that a noise planning policy is produced to enable the planning 

authority and developers to achieve the aims of the National Planning Policy 

Framework both in the interim and when this guidance is available.   

 

88. With regard to alternative legislative controls, ‘detriment to the amenity’ is a 

much lower level of effect than that required to establish a statutory noise 

nuisance under the Environmental Protection Act 1990. As such the ‘statutory 

nuisance’ powers provide a lower level of protection.  In addition, the nuisance 

powers are limited to noise from premises and cannot therefore be used to 

protect residents from traffic or aviation noise for example.  As the aim of the 

planning system is protection of the amenity the nuisance powers given to Local 

Authorities cannot therefore be accepted as a suitable alternative and hence a 

planning policy on noise is required. 

  

89. There were several respondents to the Issues and Options Report consultation 

who were concerned over aircraft and traffic noise as well as noise from existing 

development.  The impact of aircraft and traffic noise cannot be dealt with by 

other legislative controls such as the Environmental Protection Act.  It is 

therefore necessary for future development to be controlled and protected via 

Page 133



the planning process. The planning process cannot deal with noise from existing 

developments retrospectively, this is controlled under the nuisance powers of 

the Environmental Protection Act 1990 which does not afford the same level of 

protection of amenity, thus supporting the need for a planning policy on noise to 

ensure future developments accord with the requirement of the National 

Planning Policy Framework.  Whilst specific reference can be made to aircraft 

noise in the policy on noise pollution, the policy option on Cambridge Airport ! 

Aviation Development contained within the Issues and Options Report (Option 

198) also made reference to the need to maintain the amenity of residents.   

 

90. In relation to road traffic noise, this is primarily the responsibility of the 

Highways Agency.  Although the A14 is not within the city boundary, the 

Highways Agency will consult with the Council and any increase in noise and 

proposed mitigation measures affecting residents will be taken into 

consideration during the planning process. 

 

91. The Local Plan and policies can only deal with proposed future development and 

licensing issues have to be dealt with under the relevant licensing regime.  Noise 

issues from existing sites are controlled by the statutory nuisance procedures 

under the Environmental Protection Act 1990.  The Local Plan and policies 

cannot deal with this retrospectively.  In relation to music festivals, this type of 

event is regulated via the Licensing Regime and the statutory nuisance 

provisions of the Environmental Protection Act. 

 

 ISSUE: AIR QUALITY, ODOUR AND DUST 

 

STRATEGIC VISION/OBJECTIVE: 

 

Vision: 

Cambridge will be a pioneer in its approach to sustainable development and climate 

change, transitioning to a low and eventually zero carbon economy. Development 

will contribute to making Cambridge a water sensitive city, capable of adapting to 

our changing climate, making best use of energy, water and other natural resources, 

securing radical reductions in carbon emissions and minimising environmental 

impact. 

 

Objective: 

To ensure that development is managed to minimise its impact on the local 

environment, health and amenity in terms of all sources of pollution and 

contamination and to ensure that it is not located close to existing pollution sources, 

unless sufficient mitigation measures are proposed as part of the development 

package. 

 

POLICY 

 

Policy 18:  Air Quality, Odour and Dust 

 

Page 134



a. Development will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that it does 

not lead to significant adverse effects on health, the environment or amenity 

from polluting or malodorous odour emissions, or dust or smoke emissions to 

air; or 

b. Where a development is a sensitive end use, that there will not be any 

significant adverse effects on health, the environment or amenity arising 

from existing poor air quality, sources of odour or other emissions to air. 

 

Specifically applicants, where reasonable and proportionate, according to the end 

use and nature of the area and application, must demonstrate that: 

 

1. There is no adverse affect on air quality in an Air Quality Management Area; 

2. Pollution levels within the Air Quality Management Area will not have a 

significant adverse effect on the proposed use/users; 

3. The development will not lead to the declaration of a new Air Quality 

Management Area; 

4. The development will not interfere with the implementation of the current 

Air Quality Action plan; 

5. Any sources of emissions to air, odours and dusts and smoke generated by 

the development are adequately mitigated so as not to lead to loss of 

amenity for existing and future occupants and land uses. 

6. Any impacts on the proposed use from existing poor air quality, odour and 

emissions are appropriately mitigated. 

 

SUPPORTING TEXT: 

 

Pollution to air can arise from many sources and activities including traffic and 

transport, industrial processes, commercial premises, energy generation, agriculture, 

waste storage/treatment and construction sites.  This policy relates to air pollution 

from all potential sources, in any potential form and includes dust, fumes and odour. 

 

The primary local impacts on air quality on Cambridge are from road transports and 

domestic, commercial and industrial heating sources such that an Air Quality 

Management Area was designated in the central part of Cambridge in August 2004.  

Pollution to air can also arise from industrial processes, commercial premises, energy 

generation, agriculture, waste storage/treatment and construction sites. Despite 

increasing economic activity and consequent population increases, the application of 

air quality management and transport policy has not led to an increase in air 

pollution in Cambridge.    It is important to ensure that development proposals 

continue to contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment 

throughout their lifetime. 

 

Applicants shall, where reasonable and proportionate, prepare and submit with their 

application, a relevant assessment, taking into account guidance current at the time 

of the application.  The criteria for requiring a Dust Risk Assessment/Management 

and/or an Air Quality Assessment are set out in the Air Quality in Cambridge 

Developers’ Guide.  Some applications may require appropriate pollution prevention 

Page 135



or mitigation measures to be acceptable.  Some development may also require a 

permit under the Pollution Prevention and Control Act 1999.   

 

HOW THE POLICY CAME ABOUT: 

 

92. The Local Plan will seek to ensure that Cambridge develops in the most 

sustainable way possible.  This means delivering our social and economic 

aspirations with compromising the environmental limits of Cambridge for current 

and future generations, as well as protecting the amenity for residents, workers 

and visitors in Cambridge.  It will be important to ensure that new development 

proposals do not lead to an adverse effect on human health and amenity or a 

worsening of air quality, both in the Air Quality Management Area and the city as 

a whole.  The primary local impacts on air quality in Cambridge are from road 

transport, with a contribution from domestic, commercial and industrial heating 

sources.  Given the current Air Quality Management Area and the forecast 

growth of Cambridge, the development management process – specifically using 

local planning policy – is a key tool in protecting and enhancing Air Quality. 

Indeed, it is a specified statutory process for achieving and maintaining air quality 

objectives where needed. 

 

93. Air pollution in parts of Cambridge currently breaches EU limit values for 

Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2).   The City Council has a statutory duty to reduce relevant 

pollutant levels and plan to meet the EU Limit values through the Air Quality 

Action Plan.   The Joint Air Quality Action Plan (with Huntingdonshire and South 

Cambridgeshire District Councils and Cambridgeshire County Council) in 2009 

incorporates measures for improvement of and protection from poor air quality 

using the development management system. 

 

94. There is a strong message throughout the National Planning Policy Framework 

that air quality is an important factor in the quality of life, health and well!being 

and so is a key aspect of sustainable development supporting the need for a 

planning policy. Planning Policies are specifically mentioned.  The Taylor review 

of Government Planning Practice Guidance which was undertaken in 2012, 

following the introduction of the National Planning Policy Framework, 

recommends that new planning guidance is needed for several pollution topics 

including air quality as “important issues on which Government could set 

standards in order to ensure appropriate development.”  It is therefore 

important that an air quality planning policy is produced to provide sufficient 

detail to enable the planning authority and developers to achieve the quality of 

life and protection of human health aims enshrined in the National Planning 

Policy Framework both in the interim and when this guidance is available.  It is 

clear from the responses that air quality issues are of concern; specific issues 

raised will be made more explicit in the forthcoming Submission Draft Local Plan.   

 

95. Policy 18 (Air Quality, Odour and Dust) will require that the health and amenity 

impacts of new developments on current and future residents can be addressed.   

A detailed and specific Air Quality Policy will explicitly provide future protection 

Page 136



from poor air quality.  This approach is strongly supported by the consultation 

responses.  The policy will provide the key local approaches to reduce ambient 

levels of atmospheric pollutants, to minimise long!term health risk to new and 

existing residents from poor air quality, to minimise adverse effects of transport, 

domestic and industrial emissions on people and the environment and to 

promote a safe and healthy environment, minimising the impacts of 

development upon the environment.  Without local policy, there will be no clear 

direction for developers, leading to uncertainty and inconsistency in the 

development management process and an increase in planning appeals.  It will 

be difficult to carry on with the measures in the Air Quality Action Plan.  With a 

local policy, there will be continuity of air quality regulation and ongoing 

compliance with the measures in the statutory Air Quality Action Plan (local 

authorities are required to demonstrate that they are working towards 

improvements in air quality to avoid the threat of judicial review; further, there 

will be local legitimacy and certainty within the local policy and most 

importantly, there will be no deterioration in air quality and an improvement in 

air quality in the long term.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 137



 

Delivery And Monitoring For Responding To Climate Change And Managing 

Resources 

 

Policy 8: Carbon Reduction, Community Energy Networks, Sustainable Design and 

Construction and Water Use: 

 

 ! Submission of a Sustainability Statement as part of the Design and Access 

Statement; 

 ! Submission of Code for Sustainable Homes and BREEAM Pre!Assessments; 

 ! Interim and Final Code for Sustainable Homes and BREEAM certification to be 

submitted to the local planning authority in order to discharge conditions; 

 ! Submission of an energy strategy demonstrating energy and carbon savings and 

how these have been achieved using the hierarchical approach. 

 

Possible Monitoring: 

 ! Number of housing completions delivered at Code Level 4 (or higher); 

 ! Number of non!residential completions delivered at BREEAM ‘very 

good’/’excellent’; 

 

The following information would need to be submitted alongside any applications 

that fall within the Strategic District Heating Area: 

 ! Plans showing the pipe route and connection point to the wider network; 

 ! High level technical specification to enable compatibility to be checked; 

 ! Date of implementation and connection; 

 ! Details of financial contribution; 

 ! Feasibility and viability assessments; and 

 ! Energy Statement demonstrating carbon and energy savings. 

 

Policy 9: Allowable Solutions for Zero Carbon development 

 

Links to the Verification and Certification Scheme proposed under the Zero Carbon 

Hubs work. 

 

Policy 10: Renewable and low carbon energy generation 

 

The following information would need to be submitted for any planning applications 

involving renewable or low carbon energy generation: 

 ! Information within the Design and Access Statement as to how the proposal 

responds to local context, including impacts on the historic environment; 

 ! Drawings showing the location of energy generation equipment, including height 

of flues where required; 

 ! Noise impact assessments where required; 

 ! Air Quality Impact Assessment for any development that has the potential to 

make air quality worse, by nature of its size, type or location. 

 

Page 138



Possible monitoring: 

 ! Number of low carbon and renewable energy installations by type; 

 ! Total installed capacity of low carbon and renewable energy technologies by 

type. 

 

Policy 11: Energy efficiency improvements in existing dwellings 

 

The figure below outlines the process by which this policy will be implemented.   

 

Figure C: Process for implementing Policy 4 

 

 
STEP 1 

  
APPLICANT SUBMITS A COMPLETED HOME ENERGY QUESTIONNAIRE WITH 

THEIR PLANNING APPLICATION  

STEP 2 

OFFICERS ASSESS THE QUESTIONNAIRE AND COMPILE A HOME ENERGY 

REPORT WITH RECOMMENDATIONS AS TO APPROPRIATE MEASURES TO BE 

IMPLEMENTED AND ADVICE IN RELATION TO HOW TO ACCESS FUNDING FOR 

THE WORKS FROM THE GREEN DEAL AND/OR ENERGY COMPANY OBLIGATION. 

STEP 3 

HOME ENERGY REPORT SENT TO APPLICANT AND CONDITION ATTACHED TO 

PLANNING PERMISSION REQUIRING IMPLEMENTATION OF MEASURE(S). 

STEP 4 

APPLICANT SUBMITS INVOICE(S) FOR THE WORKS IN ORDER TO DISCHARGE THE 

CONDITION. 

This process could change, for example if the Council were to purchase software that 

allows residents to generate their own energy report – they would then submit this 

energy report with their application and the Council would place a condition the 

improvements.  Software is currently being investigated by officers and could be 

linked to our role in the Green Deal. 

 

Policy 12: Integrated water management and the water cycle 

 

Page 139



Applicants will be required to submit a drainage strategy as part of their planning 

application, outlining their approach. 

 

Policy 13: Flood Risk 

 

Applicants will be required to submit an appropriate flood risk assessment as part of 

their planning application, outlining their approach. 

 

Policy 14: Contaminated Land 

 

The process for implementing the contaminated land policy would be as follows: 

STEP 1 

APPLICANT PRESENTS THE CURRENT AND PAST USES OF THE SITE AND 

POSSIBILITY OF LAND POLLUTION AT PRE!APPLICATION AND THE PLANNING 

APPLICATION STAGES. 

STEP 2 

OFFICERS ASSESS THE INFORMATION AND REVIEW HISTORIC RECORDS HELD 

BY THE COUNCIL. 

STEP 3i 

POSSIBILITY OF LAND 

CONTAMINATION IDENTIFIED 

THROUGH THE REVIEW.  THE 

CONTAMINATED LAND CONDITION IS 

ATTACHED TO PLANNING 

PERMISSION. 

STEP 4 

NO POSSIBILITY OF LAND 

CONTAMINATION IDENTIFIED 

THROUGH THE REVIEW.  NO 

FURTHER INFORMATION IS 

REQUESTED.

STEP 3ii 

APPLICANT SUBMITS APPROPRIATE 

INFORMATION PRIOR TO 

DEVELOPMENT AND VALIDATION 

INFORMATION PRIOR TO 

OCCUPATION IN ORDER TO 

DISCHARGE THE CONDITION. 

 

Page 140



Policy 16: Light Pollution Control 

 

Applicants will be required to submit the following information as part of their 

planning application: 

 

 ! An assessment of the need for lighting – A statement setting out why a lighting 

scheme is required, the proposed users and the frequency and length of use in 

terms of hours of illumination; 

 ! A site survey – this should show the area to be lit relative to the surrounding 

area, the existing landscape features together with proposed landscape features 

to mitigate the impacts of the proposed lighting.  This should be designed in 

accordance with the Institution of Lighting Engineers’ (ILE) guidance on 

environmental zones, depending on which one(s) are relevant; and the ILE 

Guidance notes for the reduction of obtrusive light; and 

 ! The design of the lighting proposed – A technical report prepared by a qualified 

Lighting Engineer or lighting company setting out the type of lights, performance, 

height and spacing of lighting columns is required.  The light levels to be achieved 

over the intended area, at the site boundaries and, for large schemes, 50m 

outside of the boundary of the site should be superimposed on the plan. 

 

Policy 17: Protection of Human Health from Noise and Vibration 

 

Noise assessments will need to be submitted for the following types of application: 

 ! Major developments; 

 ! Sites which include noise sensitive development located close to existing noise 

sources; and 

 ! Sites that include noisy activities or plant or activities that operate at unsocial 

hours 

 

Policy 18: Air Quality, Odour and Dust 

 

Developers of sites that are sensitive to pollution, and located close to existing air 

polluting or fume/odour generating sources will be required to submit a relevant 

assessment which shows the impact upon their development 

  

Developers of sites that include sources of air pollution, including dust, fume and 

odour will be required to submit a relevant assessment which shows the impact of 

their development 

 

Developers of major sites, or sites within or adjacent to an Air Quality Management 

Area would be required to submit a Dust Risk Assessment/Management and/or an 

Air Quality Assessment. 

 

The process for determining the significance of air quality is outlined in Figure D 

below. 

 

 

Page 141



 

Figure D: Process for determining significance of air quality, based on NSCA guidance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 142


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 19/02/2013 Development Plan Scrutiny Sub-Committee

	5 Cambridge Local Plan -Towards 2031 - Draft Policies and Chapters
	Appendix A - Representations regarding the Vision I&O
	Appendix B - Section One - About Cambridge
	Appendix C - Section Two - The Spatial Strategy
	Appendix D Section - Responding to Climate Change and Managing Resources
	Appendix E - Section Three - Policy Justification


